

THESIS 2 200

This is to certify that the

dissertation entitled

An Ecosystem Approach to Assessing the Effects of Forest Heterogeneity and Disturbance on Birds of the Northern Hardwood Forest in Michigan's Upper Peninsula.

presented by

Maya A. Hamady

has been accepted towards fulfillment of the requirements for

_____degree in ______Wildlife Biology Ph.D

Scort & WwJ Major professor Interstein

Date

MSU is an Affirmative Action/Equal Opportunity Institution

0-12771

LIBRARY Michigan State University

PLACE IN RETURN BOX to remove this checkout from your record. TO AVOID FINES return on or before date due. MAY BE RECALLED with earlier due date if requested.

DATE DUE	DATE DUE	DATE DUE
JUN 1 8, 2002		
4		

11/00 c/CIRC/DateDue.p65-p.14

.

.

AN ECOSYS HETEROGE HARI

AN ECOSYSTEM APPROACH TO ASSESSING THE EFFECTS OF FOREST HETEROGENEITY AND DISTURBANCE ON BIRDS OF THE NORTHERN HARDWOOD FOREST IN MICHIGAN'S UPPER PENINSULA

By

Maya A. Hamady

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Department of Fisheries and Wildlife

2000

ABSTRACT

AN ECOSYSTEM APPROACH TO ASSESSING THE EFFECTS OF FOREST HETEROGENEITY AND DISTURBANCE ON BIRDS OF THE NORTHERN HARDWOOD FOREST IN MICHIGAN'S UPPER PENINSULA

By

Maya A. Hamady

Forested regions such as the Upper Peninsula of Michigan, are considered population sources for area sensitive forest birds which have disappeared from many human-dominated landscapes because of forest loss and fragmentation. Northern hardwood forest landscapes in the Upper Peninsula have been affected by past human activities and continue to be periodically logged. The possibility that anthropogenic activities would over time favor bird species that are tolerant of some levels of forest fragmentation, at the expense of area sensitive species, needs to be evaluated. I developed an ecosystem model for northern hardwood forest landscapes and explored relationships among bird species, and among bird densities, microhabitat variables and landscape level variables to identify criteria necessary to make such an evaluation.

I modeled heterogeneity of the northern hardwood forest at the landscape level in terms of historical change in land use and land type association. I considered period elapsed after last logging to affect vegetation structure at the locality of the bird census station. Habitat relationships among 10 bird species were derived from individual bird species associations with microhabitat variables. A forest fragmentation dimension was evident in habitat relationships among 3 shrub nesting bird species, black-throated blue warbler (*Dendroica cerulescens*), American redstart (*Setophaga ruticilla*) and chestnut-

sidec warbler (Densir eçilain density dispar weither (Dendronce F. Historical change in la riandscape ieveis Lo that were local and hig brds that nest in the st associated in some lan Restratification of sam length of forest edge v development and canc m the northern hardw conditions that were a The northern hardwow and dynamic at differe human activities on b; nsiem Simple asses inadequate for evaluation ^{NSCEM}. The inadequa ^{şsem} at equilibrium. ^{10 their differential ser} activity effects are dis

sided warbler (Dendroica pensylvanica). Forest fragmentation aspects however could not explain density disparities between the 2 conifer associated bird species, blackburnian warbler (Dendroica fusca) and black-throated green warbler (Dendroica virens). Historical change in land use affected the density of late maturity conifers and forest loss at landscape levels. Logging affected canopy cover and shrub layer development, effects that were local and highly dynamic. Logging was responsible for increased densities of all birds that nest in the shrub-sapling layer in managed forest landscapes but was also associated in some landscapes with a relative greater increase of edge tolerant bird species. Restratification of sampling units based on levels of forest cover within a radius of 1.6 km, length of forest edge within a radius of 500m from bird census station, shrub layer development and canopy opening elucidated what constitutes forest fragmentation effects in the northern hardwood ecosystem. This restratification permitted the quantification of conditions that were differently favorable to 2 edge species and one area sensitive species. The northern hardwood forest is a complex system that is both spatially heterogeneous and dynamic at different scales. Multiple factors modify or aggravate the effects of human activities on bird species that in turn respond differently to different dynamics in the system. Simple assessments of the effects of anthropogenic activities on bird species are inadequate for evaluating the long term maintenance of area sensitive species in the system. The inadequacies of treating the northern hardwood forest as a homogeneous system at equilibrium, and of disregarding differences among forest bird species, relative to their differential sensitivity to forest fragmentation, in current assessments of human activity effects are discussed.

Copyright by Maya Ameen Harriac 2000 Copyright by Maya Ameen Hamady 2000

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

From its inception this research was bent on a tortuous path. I am indebted to my advisor Dr. Scott Winterstein for his efforts in resolving many crises along the way. Special thanks go to all my other graduate committee members, Drs. Henry Campa Stephen Stephenson, John Hart and Jonathan Haufler for their individual contributions to this research effort. I was inspired to present this work within an ecosystem context by my earlier exposure to landscape ecology perspectives that were being progressively promoted on the Hiawatha National Forest, and by opportunities to learn about the latest modeling and ecosystem theories presented in course work and by guest lecturers in Dr. Jianguo Liu's class 'Computer Simulation and Modeling'. This study was greatly facilitated by ecological classifications of land units undertaken by Dr. E. Padley on the West Unit of the Hiawatha and by J. Jordan on the Ottawa National Forest.

Funding and logistic support was provided by the Hiawatha National Forest through the Neotropical Migrant Bird funding initiative. Funding was also received from North Central Forest Experiment Station. In kind matching grants were received from Michigan State University. A College of Natural Resources grant of 5,000 \$ was used to defray some additional costs. Logistic support and information were provided by many individuals on the Hiawatha National Forest, Ottawa Forest and Huron Mountain Club.

It was possible to collect extensive field data that were necessary for this research because of the dedication and enthusiasm of many field assistants: Mike Berg, Amy

V

Prochi, Paul Thor Tony Duffiny, Ma Tm Nutie, Brad I מוויפבאג אשג פריי Thompson, Mike I and for training an Many indiv National Forest pr GIS coverage cou project I am grat for undertaking th tedious tasks of it proved critical to t This study a critical initial Forest Stan's Visi better understand:r intiation The sup Steve Sjogren and ^{school} after being e trusted friend like 7 administration of the Wildlife eased my t Proehl, Paul Thompson, Mark Parkinson, Jason Hoeksema, Mike Livingston, Kim Smith, Tony Duffiny, Mark Ledhebur, Christine Hill, Sue Tangora, Laurie Necaise, Julie Car, Tim Nuttle, Brad Kassuba and Robyn Oliver. Field work alongside this crew of young biologists was enjoyable and motivating. I am especially indebted to Amy Proehl, Paul Thompson, Mike Berg and Mike Livingston for preparatory work prior to field excursions and for training and supervision of field crews.

Many individuals on the Hiawatha National Forest and individuals on the Ottawa National Forest provided the necessary digital data, maps and aerial photos from which GIS coverage could be derived. Rich Minnis prepared some GIS coverage for this project. I am grateful to Andrea Schmidt, Abdoul Hayee, Jim Schopper and Beth Ursel for undertaking the tedious task of reviewing and correcting GIS maps. Lauri Keen's tedious tasks of initial manuscripting of aerial photos and later of cleaning GIS maps proved critical to the completion of this project.

This study would not have been undertaken if it wasn't for the support I received at a critical initial stage from Stan Benes my then supervisor on the Hiawatha National Forest. Stan's vision and maverick attitude towards embarking on difficult tasks to foster better understanding of the effects of forest management were crucial to study support and initiation. The support I received from colleagues on the biology staff, Kevin Doran, Steve Sjogren and Lawson Gerdes was uplifting and encouraging. Returning to graduate school after being employed for over a decade was excruciating. It was good to have a trusted friend like Tim Van Deelen whose own familiarity and experience with the administration of the Hiawatha National Forest and the Department of Fisheries and Wildlife eased my transition from work to graduate school.

vi

Far from work and university, family and friends cushioned the many ups and downs I encountered in carrying out this study. My mother Celia Hamady was unfaltering in her advice to remain tough and face all what I had to encounter until the end. I greatly appreciate the understanding and support I received from my brothers Omar and Nabeel and my sisters- in- law Suzanne and Rolla. My long time friends Christopher Hull, Nancy Armitage, Linda Semenko, Mary Hamilton and Terry Farrell lent a listening ear during times when the going got rough. This research is dedicated to the memory of my 3 aunts who passed away during the course of this study. I remember my aunt Helen Musfy for her kindness and understanding, my aunt Jennie Frizelle-Hamady for sharing with me her love of nature and the outdoors and my aunt Dr. Ruth Brinker-Hamady for encouragement and interest in my career.

LIST OF TABLE	
LIST OF FIGURE	
CHAPTER I. INT	
ISSUES IN THE CON	
1 A Need	
2 Neotror	
3 An Ecos Heteroge	
OEFCINES	
STEDY AREA	
1 General L	
² Descripti.	
CHAPTER 2. MET	
BUIDING AN ECOS	
1. Spatial Sc. on Songbi	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	xiii
LIST OF FIGURES	xxi
CHAPTER I; INTRODUCTION	1
ISSUES IN THE CONSERVATION OF FOREST BIRD SPECIES	1
1. A Need for a Holistic Approach	1
2. Neotropical Birds in the Northern Hardwood Forest	3
3. An Ecosystem Approach to Relate Bird Species Densities to Forest Heterogeneity	8
OBJECTIVES	10
STUDY AREA	12
1. General Description of the Upper Peninsula	12
2. Description of the 10 Study Areas	16
CHAPTER 2; METHODOLOGY	22
BUILDING AN ECOSTYSTEM MODEL	22
1. Spatial Scales Pertinent to Assessing the Effects of Forest Heterogeneity on Songbird Species	22

2 Source their Ir N Ë h H. 'n. In. m 3 Selection of them 4 Samplin 5 Linking Process 6 Incorpo 7 Integrat FELD METHODS 1 Selectic Se Ia L fo 2 Locatin 3 Bird Ce 4 Samplir ⁵ Develor Areas

2. Sources of Forest Heterogeneity in the Northern Hardwood Forest and	
their Impacts at Scales Relevant to Forest Bird Species	29
Structure of forest heterogeneity	29
Historical events that added a human induced factor to forest	
heterogeneity	32
Hierarchy of physical and climatic factors affecting heterogeneity	38
Incorporating human-induced and environmental heterogeneities into model	39
3. Selection of Bird Species to Include in the Model and Representation of their Habitat	42
4. Sampling Units and their Groupings	44
5. Linking Habitat Selection at the Microhabitat Level to Ecosystem Processes	46
6. Incorporating Landscape Scale Effects on Bird Species	47
7. Integrating Microhabitat and Landscape Level Effects	48
FIELD METHODS	53
1. Selection of Study Units	53
Selection of primary forest, managed forest and settled forest landscapes	53
Locating northern hardwood forest sites in primary	5.4
joresi, managea joresi ana settiea joresi tanascapes	54
2. Locating Bird Census Stations	59
3. Bird Census Methods	61
4. Sampling of Microhabitat Variables	64
5. Developing Geographical Information System (GIS) Coverage for Study	65
·	0

STATISTICAL TEO

1 Estima

- 2 Assess Loggin Densiti
- 3 Habitat
- 4 Effects Forest

CHAPTER 3 RES

- 1 Densitie Hardwo
- 2 Associat Characte
- 3 Vegetation at Different
 - Lan
 - Sm. Nor:

 - Can
 - Shru
 - $\frac{D_{1n}}{15}$
 - npe.
- ⁴ Density P Strata
 - Den.
 - Dens

STATISTICAL TECHNIQUES69
1. Estimation of Bird Densities69
 Assessing the Effects of Historical Divergence in Land use, Recent Logging Disturbance and Land Type Association on Bird Species 69 Densities70
3. Habitat Relationships Among Bird Species72
4. Effects of Interactions of Habitat Fragmentation Related Aspects of Forest with Habitat Availability on Bird Species74
CHAPTER 3: RESULTS77
1. Densities and Encounter Rates of Bird Species Across the Northern Hardwood Forest77
2. Association of Bird Species with Small Scale Vegetation Characteristics77
3. Vegetation Differences Among Northen Hardwood Forest Landscapes at Differernt Spatial Scales81
Landscape level differences81
Small scale differences in the conifer tree component among northern hardwood forest strata81
Canopy characteristics among strata of northern hardwood forest82
Shrub layer differences among northern hardwood forest strata86
Dynamics of canopy opening and shrub layer development within 15 years following logging across different managed forest land type associations88
4. Density Patterns of 10 Bird Species Across Northern Hardwood Forest Strata88
Density patterns across land use categories88
Density patterns of conifer associated bird species 100

5 Effect.	
Vanah Vanah	
E.	
F_{\pm}	
CHAPTER 4 D!	
F /	
ECONYC	
ANDUCTN	
r.)K(?(1-	
BRDCIN	
l Functio Ecosis	
2 Functio	
3 Viewin	
System	
4 Aspect	
COVCLI VI	
FOOT/OTES	
Footnote	
Footnot	
-016c	

Density patterns of bird species affected by a shrub-layer	105
Habitat relationships among the black-throated blue warbler, American redstart and chestnut-sided warbler	107
 Effects of Landscape Level and Microhabitat Variables on Density of the Black-Throated Blue Warbler, American Redstart and the Derived Variable BTARCS. 	115
Effects of forest edge, forest cover and shrub layer development—	115
Effects of extensiveness of the northern hardwood forest, canopy opening, shrub layer development, and forest edge	124
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	132
ECOSYSTEM LEVEL RELATIONSHIPS	132
ASPECTS OF FOREST FRAGMENTATION IN THE NORTHERN HARDWOOD FOREST	137
BIRD CONSERVATION AND MANAGEMENT CONSIDERATIONS	148
1. Function of Primary Forest in Present Northern Hardwood Forest Ecosystems	148
2. Function of the Managed Forest	- 153
 Viewing the Northern Hardwood Forest as an Open System vs a Closed System, at Equilibrium or Undergoing Directional Change 	155
4. Aspects to Consider in the Development of Bird Conservation Strategies-	158
CONCLUSIONS	160
FOOTNOTES	163
Footnotes for Chapter 1; Introduction	
Footnotes for Chapter 2; Methodology	163

Footnotes for Chapter 3; Results170
Footnotes for Chapter 4; Discussion and Conclusions172
APPENDICES175
APPENDIX A176
APPENDIX B180
APPENDIX C186
APPENDIX D197
LITERATURE CITED244

Takin I
14018
Table 2
Tatie 3
Tabie 4
Tak', e
ie s
Table 6
Table 7
Table 8

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.	Percent composition of land cover types in 10 study areas in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan 1992-199417
Table 2.	How sources of variability in the northern hardwood forest were incorporated into the study design 35
Table 3.	Distribution of sampling points (bird census stations) in strata of northern hardwood forest based on historical divergence in land use, forest disturbance period and land type associations 45
Table 4.	Probability values of regressions of densities of bird species on vegetation variables. Vegetation was sampled within 1200 m ² at 321 bird census stations in northern hardwood forest. Data were collected in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan 1992-199478
Table 5.	P values of 2- way Anovas undertaken to compare the effects of land type association, period elapsed after logging and interaction between land type association and period elapsed after logging on CANOPEN, WSDC<0.5, GAP>100. Vegetation variables were sampled 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan92
Table 6.	Bonferroni adjusted P values of post test pairwise comparisons of CANOPEN, WSDC<0.5, and GAP>100 (during the 15 years following logging) among 3 land type associations. Vegetation variables were sampled in 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan93
Table 7.	P values of 2 way Anovas undertaken to compare the effects of land type association, period elapsed after logging, and interaction between land type association and period elapsed after logging on the black-throated blue warbler BTBW, American redstart AMRE, chestnut- sided warbler CSWA and the derived variable BTARCS sampled 1992-1995 in the Upper Peninsula of Micigan113
Table 8.	P values in Anovas undertaken to test the effects of EDGE and WSDC<0.5 on BTBW, AMRE and BTARCS within 3 levels of FC1MIL. Bird density and vegetation variables were sampled 1992-1995 in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan119

Ta	ble Al
Ta	bie A2
Ta	ble B1
Ta	bie B2
Ta	bie B3
Ta	bie C1
Ja	ble C2
Tai	bie C3
Tai	tie D1
T _{at}	He D2
Tab	ie D3

Table A1	Relationship of the land type association to ecological units above and below its level in the national hierarchy of land units as given in Ecomap, USDA Forest Service, Washington D.C. (1993), and to subdivisions identified in the regionalization of Michigan landscapes. (Albert et al. 1986)177
Table A2	Descriptions of the land type associations on the West Unit of the Hiawatha National Forest as they had been delineated (1992) in a draft ecological classification of the forest178
Table B1	Scientific names of plant and animal species mentioned in text181
Table B2	Availability of stands in different strata of forest disturbance period within managed forest and number of stands selected for locating bird census stations182
Table B3	Microhabitat variables measured in vegetation plots located at the bird census stations183
Table C1.	Initial classification of cover types in the integration of land cover types from different land classification systems187
Table C2	Sources of geographical data covering study areas192
Table C3.	Types of features in addition to primary and secondary roads, railroad tracks, power lines and gas lines, included in the calculation of forest edge within 500m circle areas around bird census stations194
Table D1.	Model selected in the program Distance Sampling (Lake et al. 1994) and other specifications, in the estimation of a detection function for each of 10 bird species. Distance data were obtained from bird censuses conducted 1992-1994 in northern hardwood forest in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan198
Table D2	Mean density/km ² and encounter rate of 10 songbird species censused at 321 bird census stations in northern hardwood forest. Northern hardwood forest was stratified into 7 strata. A roughly equal number of bird census stations were located in 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan
Table D3.	P values of apriori contrasts in ANOVAs undertaken to test the statistical significance of differences in means of TOTCON and LMCON among land use and forest disturbance period strata. These contrasts are for a hypothetical northern hardwood forest in which the strata of primary forest, settled forest and 5 forest

Tatle I		
Table I		
Table 1		
_		
Table I		
Table		
Table 1		
Tahla I		
T _{ahin} .		

	disturbance periods in managed forest were equally represented. Vegetation was sampled in 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan200
Table D4.	Mean of total number of conifer trees TOTCON, and total number of late maturity conifer trees LMCON, in different strata of forest disturbance period and land use. Vegetation was sampled in 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan201
Table D5	Overall P values of Anovas undertaken to compare TOTCON and LMCON among different land type associations replicating forest disturbance period and historical divergence in land use. Vegetation was sampled in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan 1992-1994202
T able D 6.	Means of TOTCON and LMCON in different land type associations replicating forest disturbance periods and historical divergence in land use strata. Vegetation was sampled in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan 1991-1994203
Table D7.	Overall P values of Anovas undertaken to compare CANOPEN, GAP100, GAP>100 and WSDC<0.5 among different land type associations replicating forest disturbance period and historical divergence in land use strata of northern hardwood forest. Vegetation was sampled in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan 1991-1994204
Table D8	Means of CANOPEN, GAP>100 and WSDC<0.5 in different land type associations replicating forest disturbance periods and land use strata. Vegetation was sampled in theUpper Peninsula of Michigan 1992-1994205
Table D9	Mean of canopy opening CANOPEN, number of canopy gaps of different size classes GAP50, GAP100 and GAP>100, and number of woody stems <0.5" (1.26cm) WSDC<0.5 in different strata of forest disturbance period and land use. Vegetation was sampled in 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan206
Table D10	P values of apriori contrasts in Anovas undertaken to test the statistical significance of differences in means of CANOPEN, GAP100, GAP>100 and WSDC<0.5 among strata of northern hardwood forest in a hypothetical northern hardwood forest in which the land use strata of primary forest and settled forest, and the 5 strata of forest disturbance period in managed forest are equally represented207
Table D11	Mean density of 10 bird species, and mean value of the derived variable BTARCS in different northern hardwood forest strata

Table D12 Table D13 ł f e P Table D14 Ρ t la s: Pe a: 0: Table D15 B the Pa are M: Table D16 Me rep 19 Table D17 Mea that 1993 Table D18 Mea that hard Uppe

	representing different forest disturbance period and land use. Bird censuses were undertaken in 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan208
Table D12	F and P values in Anovas undertaken to test the statistical significance of differences in means of bird density (Table D11) among 7 strata of northern hardwood forest representing land use and forest disturbance period. Bird censuses were undertaken in 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan210
Table D13	Mean densities of 10 bird species and mean values of Anovas of differences in bird density means among land use strata in a hypothetical northern hardwood forest in which strata of primary forest, settled forest and 5 strata of forest disturbance period are equally represented. Birds were censused in 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan211
Table D14	P values of Anovas for planned apriori contrasts undertaken to test the statistical significance of differences in bird density means among land use strata of a hypothetical northern hardwood forest in which strata of primary forest, settled forest and 5 strata of forest disturbance period within managed forest are equally represented. Bird density data are from bird censuses undertaken in 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan212
Table D15.	Bonferroni adjusted p values of Anova post tests undertaken to test the statistical significance of bird density and (BTARCS) differences in pairwise comparisons of northern hardwood forest strata. Bird data are from bird censuses undertaken 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan214
Table D16	Mean density of 10 bird species in 3 landscapes (land type associations) replicating primary forest landscapes. Birds were censused in 1993-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan219
Table D17.	Mean density (birds / km ²) of 10 bird species in 3 land type associations that are replicates of settled forest landscapes. Birds were censused in 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsulaof Michigan220
Table D18.	Mean density (birds /km ²) of 10 bird species in 3 land type associations that are replicates of forest disturbance period strata in managed northern hardwood forest landscapes. Birds were censused in 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan221

.

Table D19	
Table D20	N S. W E P
Table D21	P t V
Table D22	
Table D23	
^{Table} D24	

Table D19.	P values of Anovas undertaken for comparing bird densities among land type associations replicating forest disturbance periods within managed forest landscapes and historical divergence in land use226
Table D20.	Mean LMCON, TOTCON, CANOPEN, and GAP>100 of microhabitat sites selected by the blackburnian warbler and the black-throated green warbler and of each of 7 strata of northern hardwood forest. Data are from vegetation sampling and bird censusing 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan227
Table D21.	P values in Anovas representing the statistical significance of differences in LMCON, TOTCON, CANOPEN and GAP>100 between each of the blackburnian warbler and the black-throated green warbler and individual strata of northern hardwood forest. Data are from vegetation sampling and bird censusing at 321 bird census stations undertaken in 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan228
Table D22.	Mean TOTCON and LMCON of microhabitats selected by the blackburnian warbler and the black-throated green warbler in different forest disturbance period and land use strata of northern hardwood forest and; p values of Anovas indicating the statistical significance of differences in TOTCON and LMCON between the 2 bird species in the different northern hardwood forest strata. Data are from vegetation and bird censusing undertaken in 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan229
Table D23.	P values of regression coefficients in separate regressions of black -throated blue warbler (BTBW), American redstart (AMRE) and chestnut-sided warbler (CSWA) on woody stems<0.5" (1.26 cm) for the 7 forest disturbance period and land use strata. Bird densities and vegetation data were from bird censusing and vegetation sampling undertaken in 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan230
Table D24.	Means of canopy and shrub layer variables in habitat selected by the black-throated blue warbler, American redstart and chestnut-sided warbler. Characteristics of habitat selected by a species were identified by the characteristics of habitat around bird census stations at which the density of the respective species was >80 birds / km ² . Data were obtained from bird censuses and vegetation sampling undertaken in 321 bird census stations during 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan231
Table D25.	P values of Anovas of planned apriori tests undertaken to compare canopy opening, shrub layer development and canopy gaps among northern hardwood forest habitats selected by the black-throated blue warbler BTBW, American redstart AMRE and chestnut-sided

Table D26	
Table D27	
Table Dig	
Table D20	
-7	
Table Dag	
- 030	
Jable Do	
n31	

	warbler CSWA. Data were obtained from bird censuses and vegetation sampling carried out in 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan232
Table D26.	P values of Anovas undertaken to compare canopy opening and canopy gaps among the black-throated blue warbler, American redstart, and chestnut-sided warbler in 3 forest disturbance strata representing current logging disturbance. Data were obtained from bird censuses and vegetation sampling undertaken in 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan233
Table D27.	Means of CANOPEN, GAP100, GAP>100, and WSDC<0.5 in habitats selected by the black-throated blue warbler BTBW, American redstart AMRE and chestnut-sided warbler CSWA in northern hardwood forest strata representing 3 forest disturbance periods after recent logging. Data were obtained from bird censuses and vegetation sampling undertaken in 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan234
Table D28.	Contribution of different land type associations and forest disturbance periods to different groups of bird census stations aggregated based on forest cover within 1 mile FC1MIL, length of forest edge EDGE, and shrub layer development, WSDC<0.5. Data were derived from vegetation sampling in 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan and GIS coverage of study areas current for 1992235
Table D29.	P values in a 3-way Anova, indicating the statistical significance of effects of FC1MIL, EDGE, and WSDC<0.5 on density of black-throated blue warbler BTBW, American redstart AMRE and the variable BTARCS. Bird densities and vegetation were sampled in 1 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan237
Table D30.	Mean densities of black-throated blue warbler BTBW, and American redstart AMRE, and mean values of BTARCS of different groups of bird census stations formed by a stratification based on 3 levels of FC1MIL, 2 levels of EDGE, and 2 levels of WSDC<0.5. Bird densities and vegetation were sampled in 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan238
Table D31.	P values in 4 way Anovas in which the densities of the black-throated blue warbler BTBW and American redstart AMRE and the Variable BTARCS were compared among groups based on % of northern hardwood forest within 1 mile radius NHWD1MIL, forest edge EDGE, % canopy opening CANOPEN, and number of woody stems

Table D32
WSDC<0.5. Data were obtained from bird censusing and vegetation sampling undertaken in 1992-1994 and from GIS of study areas in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan current for 1992. ------240

Table D32Least squares means of black-throated blue warbler BTBW and
American redstart AMRE densities, and of BTARCS in 4 way Anovas
used to test the effects of NHWD1MIL, EDGE, CANOPEN, and
WSDC<0.5, least squares means of all groups of bird census stations
that represent main effects of factors are presented but only means of
groups that represent interactions among factors that were significant
at the 0.1 level of significance and that comprised more than 10 bird
census stations. Data presented are from bird censusing and vegetation
sampling1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan.------241

Figure 1
Figure 2
Figure 3
Figure 4
Figure s

Figure 6

1

Figure 7

Figure 8

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.	Location of study sites in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan in which bird censusing and vegetation sampling were conducted13
Figure 2.	Main features of conceptual model and study design showing stratifications based on historical divergence in land use, land type associations and time elapsed after logging; and comparisons of bird densities and vegetation variables among strata33
Figure 3.	Spatial scales considered in measuring environmental variables around bird census stations 49
Figure 4.	Schematic representation of poststratification of sampling units from a stratification based on land use, land type association, and forest disturbance period to a classification based on levels of % forest cover at the landscape scale, amount of edge within 500 m radius and number of deciduous woody stems in the vicinity of the bird census station. This postratification was used on vegetation data and forest cover data collected in 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan50
Figure 5.	Means of total number of conifer trees TOTCON and of late maturity conifers LMCON counted in 1200m ² vegetation plots at bird census stations in northern hardwood forest strata of forest disturbance period and land use83
Figure 6.	Means % canopy opening measured within 1200 m ² vegetation plots in different northern hardwood forest strata representing forest disturbance period and land use84
Figure 7.	Mean number of forest canopy gaps of different sizes sampled within 1200 m ² vegetation plots in different northern hardwood forest strata representing forest disturbance period and land use 85
Figure 8.	Means of woody stems <0.5" (1.26 cm) WSDC<0.5 and woody stems >0.5" WSDC>0.5 sampled within 12 2x5m vegetation plots located at bird census stations of different northern hardwood forest strata of forest disturbance period and land use87

			Figure 9
			t Figure 10
			cl Figure 11 - N
			3 h Figure 12
			Figure 13
			Figure 14
			Figure 15
			Figure 16

Figure 17

Figure 9.	Mean % canopy opening sampled within 1200 m ² vegetation plots in strata of northern hardwood forest representing 3 forest disturbance periods 1-5 years after logging, 6-12 years after logging and >12-15 years after logging, in 3 land type associations replicating the land use strata of managed forest89
Figure 10.	Mean number of woody stems <0.5"(1.26 cm) sampled within 1200 m ² vegetation plots in strata of northern hardwood forest representing 3 forest disturbance periods 1-5 years after logging, 6-12 years after logging and >12-15 years after logging, in 3 land type associations replicating the land use strata of managed forest90
Figure 11.	Mean number of canopy gaps >100 m2 sampled within 1200 m2 vegetation plots in strata of northern hardwood forest representing 3 forest disturbance periods 1-5 years after logging, 6-12 years after logging and >12-15 years after logging, in 3 land type associations replicating the land use strata of managed forest91
Figure 12.	Mean densities of ovenbird, least flycatcher and red-eyed vireo in northern hardwood forest strata of forest disturbance period and land use95
Figure 13.	Mean densities of the black-throated blue warbler BTBW, American redstart AMRE and chestnut-sided warbler CSWA in northern hardwood forest strata of forest disturbance period and land use96
Figure 14.	Mean densities of veery VEER and scarlet tanager SCTA in northern hardwood forest strata of forest disturbance period and land use97
Figure 15.	Mean densities if blackburnian warbler BBWA and black-throated green warbler in northern hardwood forest strata of forest disturbance period and land use98
Figure 16.	Mean densities of the black-throated blue warbler in strata of northern hardwood forest representing forest disturbance periods 1-5 years, 6-12 years and >12-15 years after logging in different land type associations replicating managed forest109
Figure 17.	Mean densities of the chestnut-sided warbler in strata of northern hardwood forest representing forest disturbance periods 1-5 years, 6-12 years and >12-15 years after logging in different land type associations replicating managed forest 110

Figure 18 Figure 19 Figure 20 F 4 ċ Figure 21 E W b. ar ve M Figure B1 V m Figure **B**2 М Figure C1 S, re ha in Figure C2 R (1 ar

Figure 18.	Mean densities of the American redstart in strata of northern hardwood forest representing forest disturbance periods 1-5 years, 6-12 years and >12-15 years after logging in different land type associations replicating managed forest	111
Figure 19.	Mean densities of BTARCS (Density difference of the black-throated blue - the combined densities of the American redstart and the chestnut-sided warbler) in strata of northern hardwood forest representing forest disturbance periods 1-5 years, 6-12 years and >12-15 years after logging in different land type associations replicating managed forest	114
Figure 20.	Effects of forest edge, and shrub layer development and their interactions on densities of the black-throated blue warbler and American redstart and on BTARCS in different conditions of forest cover within 1 mile 1	120
Figure 21.	Effects of interactions among NHWD1MIL, CANOPEN, and WSDC<0.5, and among NHWD1ML, CANOPEN and EDGE on black-throated blue warbler and American redstart densities and on BTARCS. Data were obtained from bird censusing and vegetation sampling in 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan	125
Figure B1.	Vegetation plots centered at bird census stations in which microhabitat variables were measured	184
Figure B2.	Measurement of % canopy opening and canopy gaps	185
Figure C1.	Schematic representation of the contrast in the successional relationship between sugar maple, hardwood dominated northern hardwoods, hemlock dominated northern hardwoods and hemlock in secondary and primary northern hardwood forest 1	.95
Figure C2.	Relationship between vegetation cover and base features (road, water courses), 1.6 km circle clips and 500 m clips around bird census stations 1	196

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

ISSUES IN THE CONSERVATION OF FOREST BIRD SPECIES

1. A Need for a Holistic Approach.

As the number of imperiled species continues to spiral upward (LoveJoy 1979; Wilson 1988, 1992; Collar and Andrew 1988 cited in Marcot and Murphy 1996, Ehrlich and Erlich 1981, Ehrlich and Wilson 1991, Soulé 1991, Gentry 1996), skepticism is growing about the effectiveness of managing biological diversity on a species by species basis (Hutto et al. 1987, Franklin 1993, Laroe 1993). The futility of saving species after the processes that sustain them have disintegrated also points to the need for more efficient conservation strategies. New efforts in species conservation consider structures, processes and functions existing in the natural world to be fundamental to the persistence of species diversity and to its evolution (Allen and Starr 1982; Mooney and Godron 1983; Delcourt et al. 1983; Wiens et al. 1986a, 1986b; Grumbine 1990, 1994; Wilson 1992; Scott et al. 1993; Franklin 1993). In the holistic and ecosystem approaches that are being proposed (Risser 1985, Agee and Johnson 1988, Grumbine 1990, Pickett et al. 1992, Franklin 1993, Laroe 1993, Crow et al. 1994), there is strong recognition that individual species cannot be separated from their system, because complex relationships link species together and because species respond to the dynamics of the systems that encompass them. In a holistic approach, the appropriate questions

that need to be of species are to and Lieberman The con and the whole p (1935) Tansley ecosystems embe holistic approact unis Interactir. recognizable at 1 lower units The cor because recent a relationships bet environmental c emerged from 2 study of land he Weinstein and the physical fact Vegetation Patte of these hierarch basis for ecolog classification str that need to be asked and the phenomena that need to be explained for the conservation of species are relative to the behavior of the whole system (Allen and Star 1982, Naveh and Lieberman 1994).

The concept of an ecosystem as a combination of the whole organism-complex and the whole physical-complex forming the environment was first described by Tansley (1935). Tansley considered natural systems to be organized in a hierarchy; smaller ecosystems embedded in larger ones, overlapping and interacting with one another. A holistic approach likewise views the ecosystem as progressively subdividable into smaller units. Interacting units at fine temporal and spatial scales produce patterns that are recognizable at higher levels. Patterns and processes at higher levels in turn affect all lower units.

The conservation of species through ecosystem approaches is becoming feasible because recent advances in landscape ecology have provided a basis for establishing relationships between the ecology of organisms and patterns of patchiness in environmental conditions (Freemark et al. 1992). Landscape ecology as a discipline has emerged from 2 different perspectives. One aspect of the discipline has focused on the study of land heterogeneity and the underlying structures and dynamics that cause it (Weinstein and Shugart 1983, Milne 1991). This facet of landscape ecology is based on the physical factors (e.g.climate, geomorphology) that operate at different scales.

Vegetation patterns that develop under natural disturbance processes reflect the patterns of these hierarchical physical factors. This aspect of landscape ecology has provided the basis for ecological land classification schemes (Barnes et al. 1982). An ecological land classification stratifies a geographical area into a hierarchy of land units that comprises

the spatial scale patchiness in ve 1982) Another to relate populat heterogeneity (F ecological relation have an evolutio characteristics o to disperse are ; time and space likely to reflect spatial patterns 1992. Harper J 2 Neotropical Multi-Lakes Region forest biome t with high bird northern hard Iner scale of beter ogeneou the spatial scales at which major environmental physical factors affect patterns of patchiness in vegetation (Bailey et al. 1978, Bailey 1985, Pregitzer 1981, Barnes et al. 1982).

Another more recent aspect of landscape ecology, which is still emerging, seeks to relate population dynamics (e.g. productivity and dispersal) to spatial patterns of land heterogeneity (Forman and Godron 1986, Dunning et al. 1992). The theoretical basis for ecological relationships between the biology of organisms and landscape patterns can have an evolutionary aspect (Wiens 1976, Riddle and Jones 1996). Life history characteristics of species such as habitat selection, generation time, life span and ability to disperse are adaptations to predictable disturbance events that generate patchiness in time and space (Wiens 1976, Hansen and Urban 1992, Samson 1992). Because they are likely to reflect evolutionary adaptations, relationships between population processes and spatial patterns of patchiness are a potential basis for species conservation (Pickett et al. 1992, Harper 1992).

2. Neotropical Birds in the Northern Hardwood Forest.

Multi-scale patchiness of the vegetation is highly evident in the Upper Great Lakes Region. The transition between the boreal forest to the north and the deciduous forest biome to the south creates a pattern of large scale patchiness that is associated with high bird species richness (Temple et al. 1979, Pastor and Brochart 1990). The northern hardwood forest is a major component of the vegetation cover. Within it, a finer scale of patchiness is evident as a mosaic of many different tree species and heterogeneous vegetation structure. This in turn is associated with 'a within forest type'

high diversity in bird species (Noon et al. 1979). The large scale patchiness is a longlasting effect of landforms left behind from retreating glacials some 10,000 years ago. The fine scale patches within the long lived northern hardwood forest, in contrast are due to small scale forest disturbances such as blow downs from severe storms (Frelich and Lorimer 1991). Small scale patches also result from small scale variations is soils, local topography and aspect that provide a diversity of local microsites for different plant species to grow. Because processes of forest maturation and of frequent small scale disturbance are continuous, the state of forest maturity in small scale patches is continually shifting. Bird species must also continually track microhabitats created by these small scale disturbances.

A large portion of the Great Lakes forest is second growth forest that was heavily cut at the end of the 19th and early 20th centuries (Cunningham and White 1941, Ahlgren and Ahlgren 1983). This second growth forest is largely managed for multiple use and is subjected to logging. The Upper Great Lakes forest however still comprises in several locations primary forest that is continuous over several square kilometers. Such a forest provides the opportunity to assess how multi-scaled forest patchiness resulting from differences in environmental conditions and from forest management induced disturbances affect the relative densities of bird species within the northern hardwood forest ecosystem.

The majority, over 75% of songbird species at the latitude of the Great Lakes region are neotropical migrant birds (Degraaf et al. 1992). Neotropical migrant bird species winter in the tropics and subtropics but migrate to breed in North America (Koford et al. 1994). They make up a large proportion of the vertebrate biodiversity in many North

American ecosystems (Finch 1991; Freemark et al. 1992, 1995; Block et al. 1995). A concern for these species in recent years stemmed from reports of declining populations and species loss evident in some human dominated landscapes (Robbins et al. 1989a; Askins et al. 1990). For many bird species, trends of declines and increases are not consistent but vary by geographical region and by time period (Peterjohn et al. 1995). Because of this variability, trends from specific localities cannot be extrapolated to the general (James and McCulloch 1995). Reports of declines of some bird species (Holmes and Sherry 1985, Robbins et al. 1989a, Askins et al. 1990, Hill and Hagen 1991, Terborgh 1989, 1992) have nevertheless triggered a great concern for their welfare. There is a general consensus that management of these species would be extremely complex and the ecological consequences severe, if these observed declines were long term and occurred over broad areas of species distributions' (Senner 1988, Finch 1991, National Fish and Wildlife Foundation 1994).

Limiting factors that have been outlined for neotropical migrant birds include tropical deforestation, deterioration of habitat along migratory routes due to rapid urban encroachment along coastlines, and habitat fragmentation. For the eastern deciduous forest biome, declines in some bird species were blamed on forest fragmentation. Forest fragmentation was represented by a pattern of forest patches imbedded in a nonforest matrix in early studies that have identified it to have a detrimental effect on forest interior bird species (Whitcomb B.F. et al. 1977, Whitcomb R.F. et al. 1981, Wilcove and Whitcomb 1983). Forest interior birds nest in the interior of forest in contrast to those that nest along an edge between openland and forest (Koford et al. 1994). Several independent arguments have been presented to support forest fragmentation as a limiting

factor on the breeding grounds (Wilcove 1987,1988; Finch 1991). Among these are the high predation rates reported along forest edges (Gates and Gysel 1978; Wilcove 1985, 1987; Small and Hunter 1988; Yahner and Scott 1988) and high cowbird parasitism rates in agricultural landscapes (Ambuel and Temple 1982, 1983; Brittingham and Temple 1983). Forest interior bird species have disappeared from parks and forest reserves in many human-dominated landscapes (Lynch and Whitcomb 1978; Robbins 1979, 1989a; Wilcove and Whitcomb 1983; Ambuel and Temple 1983; Blake and Karr 1984; Askins et al. 1987; Terborgh 1989, 1992; Hill and Hagan 1991). Some forest interior bird species that require large forest areas are considered area-sensitive species (Koford et al. 1994). Area-sensitive species such as the black-throated blue warbler and Canada warbler (all scientific names are given in Table B1) have become restricted to large forest tracts in largely forested regions (Robbins et al. 1989b, Binford 1991).

The immensity of the task of conserving the diversity of neotropical migrant birds, and the huge administrative obstacles that would likely be faced, once these species started facing perils, provided the impetus for the formation of Partners in Flight (National Fish and Wildlife Foundation 1994, Martin and Finch 1995). Formed in 1990 to address the conservation needs of neotropical migrants, to educate and to coordinate conservation and research efforts, the organization has grown to include many government agencies and private organizations from the United States, Canada, Mexico and several countries in Central America. As a result of the Partners in Flight initiative, support for it from the U.S. Congress and public response to it, the conservation of these species is beginning to dominate many aspects of land management on public lands,

including national parks, state parks, and federal and state forests (National Fish and Wildlife Foundation 1993).

A hierarchical organization for addressing species conservation needs has been proposed and followed by Partners in Flight. In this strategy, conservation issues and the species that need prioritization are identified at the highest geographical levels, such as at continental and national levels (Noss 1983, 1987, 1992; Probst and Crow 1991). Because forest fragmentation has been identified as an important issue in species conservation and has increased with increasing human domination of landscapes (Whitney and Somerlot 1985; Wilcove 1987, 1988; Wilcox and Murphy 1985; Faaborg et al. 1995), many conservation strategies have focused on forest interior bird species that are area-sensitive (National Fish and Wildlife Foundation 1993).

The percent of forest cover in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan and in general in the Upper Great Lakes today is not very different than it was prior to settlement by nonnative Americans (McCann 1991). This is in contrast to the Lower Great Lakes area where agriculture and urbanization have resulted in forest loss and fragmentation. The highly forested northern Great Lakes region, stands out from a regional perspective to be most promising for the conservation of forest interior and area-sensitive bird species. The conservation of these species has also received public attention (Probst and Crow 1991, Crow et al. 1994) in forest management of this region (Northern Wisconsin and the Upper Peninsula of Michigan).

Because of the expansive area it occupies, the northern hardwood forest is an ecologically important forest type in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan. It is an extension of the eastern deciduous forest (Braun 1950, Pastor and Mladenoff 1992). The northern

hzrówodd fore	
astern decidu	
species such as f	
Robbins et al	
J An Ecosyster	
The re	
Hawatha Natio	
(1992) to adva	
on the norther	
bud species (
Vireo) that ha	
al 19896)	
forest interic	
forest bird s	
gradient in t	
specialists c	
fragmentati	
most area-	
what factor	
such as car	
^{could} be re	
highly area	



hardwood forest bird communities comprise many of the same species found in the eastern deciduous forest, including many that have been identified as area-sensitive species such as the black-throated blue warbler, Canada warbler, and northern parula (Robbins et al. 1989b).

3. An Ecosystem Approach to Relate Bird Species Densities to Forest Heterogeneity.

The research reported herein, was motivated by the participation of the Hiawatha National Forest in the 'Neotropical Migrant Bird Initiative' set by Congress (1992) to advance 'neotropical migrant bird' conservation in national forests. I focused on the northern hardwood forest ecosystem as this is the forest type that harbors many bird species (e.g. ovenbird, black-throated blue warbler, northern parula and red-eved vireo) that have been identified as forest interior and area-sensitive species (Robbins et al. 1989b). In a region that is still largely forested, the assembly of bird species that are forest interior and area-sensitive would be more complete. In such a system the different forest bird species are likely to greatly overlap in their habitat selection. If there is a gradient in the aspect of forest fragmentation, bird species that are most forest interior specialists could become affected by competitors that are less sensitive to habitat fragmentation at some point along that gradient. To prioritize the conservation of the most area-sensitive bird species at the level of a national forest, it is important to identify what factors contribute to fragmentation effects. It is important to test whether variables such as canopy opening, amount of forest edge and forest cover (i.e., variables that could be related to a forest fragmentation dimension) affect density differences between highly area-sensitive and the less area-sensitive bird species. The heterogeneity of the

northern hard factors that crit made the deriv edge bird spec national forest A conce the total hetero also serves to fr species in testa: justification to : bird species are porthern hardw hy many factors paradigm in ecc force in natural physical feature and disturbance vegetation struc are considered t ^{conceptual} mod that heterogenet the pertinen ^{tool that would p} northern hardwood forest would need to be assessed relative to these environmental factors that create these differences. In this undertaking two related hypotheses were made: the densities of forest bird species, and the relationship among forest interior and edge bird species differed along the range of heterogeneity encountered at the scale of a national forest.

A conceptual model was necessary to represent the hierarchy of strata into which the total heterogeneity of the northern hardwood forest would be divided. The model also serves to frame hypotheses about the importance of different factors on forest bird species in testable formats. A theoretical basis however was needed to give biological justification to the structure of the conceptual model. The ecologies of forest interior bird species are related to processes of small scale disturbance and succession in the northern hardwood forest. The pattern of small scale forest processes could be affected by many factors including geographical location and forest management. An emerging paradigm in ecology (Pickett et al. 1992) that considers disturbance to be an organizing force in natural communities was considered. This paradigm justified considering physical features of local geographic areas, past disturbance history, current land use, and disturbance caused by current management as main factors affecting variability in vegetation structure and composition and consequential bird responses. Bird densities are considered to reflect bird population responses to that heterogeneity. The conceptual model of the northern hardwood forest would serve to give a structure to that heterogeneity and to provide a vehicle to reduce that heterogeneity to spatial scales that are pertinent to the life histories of forest bird species. The model is an exploratory tool that would provide new perspectives for looking at relationships between habitat

charateristics : Newly uncover northern hard. effectively pred forest on forest temporal scales hardwood fores **OETCTIVES** An over forest varied sur fragmentation d affect the relativ forest fragment l) Develop a co northern hardw ourrent anthrop 2) Describe how ^{the northern} har charateristics and bird species densities and at habitat relationships among species. Newly uncovered relationships would in turn be used to refine a future model of the northern hardwood forest ecosystem. Such a refined model could be used to more effectively predict the effect of different management strategies in the northern hardwood forest on forest interior bird species. Justifications for variables, factors and spatial and temporal scales of sampling units incorporated in this initial model of the northern hardwood forest are discussed in the Methodology Section.

OBJECTIVES

An overall objective of this study was to test whether the northern hardwood forest varied sufficiently, along habitat variables which are related to a forest fragmentation dimension, to affect the densities of forest bird species in general, and to affect the relative densities of bird species that are known to be differently sensitive to forest fragmentation. Specific objectives of this study were to:

1) Develop a conceptual model to represent and stratify the heterogeneity of the northern hardwood forest at different spatial and temporal scales, based on past and current anthropogenic forest disturbance, and local geographical area.

2) Describe how factors incorporated in the model affect densities of 10 bird species in the northern hardwood forest. More specifically:

i) 1 les spec i) k <u>ш</u>) (seng fore time iv) C lands 4 for v) Te inters Ameri but dif 3) Explain hov described in ar forest interior 1 4) Evaluate the agniculture and i) Test the effects of historical divergence in land use, time elapsed after logging disturbance, and local geographical area on densities of 10 songbird species.

ii) Identify microhabitat elements affecting densities of 10 songbird species.

iii) Compare the availability of major microhabitat elements for each of 10 songbird species across different land use trajectories of the northern hardwood forest consisting of : primary forest, managed forest and settled forest and across time periods elapsed after logging.

iv) Compare the effects of landscape level factors (availability of habitat at the landscape level and amount of edge) to the effects of microhabitat availability on 4 forest bird species densities.

 v) Test how interactions among landscape and microhabitat factors affect interspecific relationships of 3 bird species (black-throated blue warbler, American redstart, and chestnut-sided warbler) that each nest in the sapling layer but differ in their requirements of forest interior habitat.

3) Explain how forest disturbance processes, and land characteristics as might be described in an ecological land classification, can be used to integrate the conservation of forest interior bird species into forest management.

4) Evaluate the function of managed national forest relative to forest interspersed with agriculture and forest reserve areas with respect to providing habitat for a diversity of

songhird		
associated		
5) Evalua		
iemporal ;		
anthropoy		
6-5		
61 Francia		
processes		
(T		
SIEDY AR		
' General		
Ter		
^(Figure 1) .		
5° and 1890		
dominated		
Lake Super		
Peninsula is		
most severe		
tropical air		
lemperan		
-7.5°C		
C 10 -]		

songbird species in general, and forest interior bird species in specific. Discuss aspects associated with forest fragmentation in the context of a largely forested region.

5) Evaluate the use of a holistic approach (e.g. multi species, hierarchy of different temporal and spatial scales, species interrelationships) to assess the effects of anthropogenic impacts on bird species.

6) Examine how a holistic approach to assessing human interference with forest processes differs from comparing bird densities before and after a specific disturbance.

STUDY AREA

1. General Description of the Upper Peninsula

Ten study sites, located in the central and western Upper Peninsula of Michigan (Figure 1), spanned an area between 42° 50' and 46°52' N latitudes and between 86° 5' and 89° 50' W longitudes. The climate in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan is dominated by the northern location of the Upper Peninsula and by the proximity to Lake Superior and Lake Michigan. It is characterized as continental humid. The Upper Peninsula is located in an active weather zone (Frelich and Lorimer 1991). Some of the most severe thunderstorms occur in the summer when polar air masses collide with sub tropical air masses. Summers are cool and short and winters are cold with average July temperatures varying from 19° C to 19.8° C and average January temperatures of -7.5°C to -10.9° C (Frelich and Lorimer 1991, Albert et al. 1986). Annual precipitation



Figure 1. Location of 10 landscapes in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan in which bird censusing and vegetation sampling were conducted 1992-1994.

averages \$2-Peninsula wa Perinsula did Phys moraines, ou were formed dimate is de vegetation o hardwoods r ransition be biome more black spruce poplar, whit maple, beec white pine a retreat of g! species in th about 6,000 Nor bedrock to ^{detail} the va

· Footnote

averages 80-90 cm and is evenly distributed throughout the year. The entire Upper Peninsula was glaciated. Glaciers began retreating some 16,000 years ago but the Upper Peninsula did not become ice free until 10,000 years ago.

Physiography is largely determined by features left by the retreating glacials: end moraines, outwash plains, till plains, lake plains, kettle lakes, kames and eskers. Soils were formed by erosion and weathering processes acting on glacial materials. Local climate is determined by proximity to either Lake Superior or to Lake Michigan. The vegetation of the Upper Peninsula falls under the hemlock-white pine -northern hardwoods region described by Braun (1950). The Upper Peninsula occurs in a zone of transition between the boreal forest occurring to the north and the deciduous forest biome more to the south (Braun 1950, Pastor and Brochart 1990). Boreal tree species, black spruce, white spruce, balsam fir, large-toothed aspen, trembling aspen, balsam poplar, white birch and jack pine mix with eastern deciduous forest species sugar maple, beech, basswood, yellow birch, red maple, American elm, white ash, hemlock, white pine and yellow birch. The sequence of tree species establishment following the retreat of glacial ice has been described by Davis et al. (1995). Sugar maple, a dominant species in the present day ecosystem did not get established in the Upper Peninsula until about 6,000 years ago; black spruce established some 10,000 years ago.

Northern hardwood forest¹ (¹) occurs over a large range from shallow soils over bedrock to poorly drained soils. Graham (1941) and Braun (1950) have described in detail the variability of the northern hardwood forest in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan.

¹-Footnotes are given by chapter beginning on page 163.

Most typical (Tubbs 1977 requirements texture and c 1975, Tubbs it all variatio of tree specie characteristic (Tempie et a Ala national fore dispersed sm pasture and J present day i ago (McCan entensivenes importance of the intersper ^{depend} on ti disturbance the intersper regionalizati different sec Most typically this forest developed on fine-grained loamy soils that are well drained (Tubbs 1977). The component species differ in shade tolerance and moisture requirements and establishment ecology. Tree species composition varies based on soil texture and content of organic material, topography, and disturbance history (Brubaker 1975, Tubbs 1977). Secondary northern hardwood forest is predominantly sugar maple in all variations of the type (Tubbs 1977, Tubbs and Goodman 1983). The high diversity of tree species and the ecotone of boreal and deciduous forest result in a characteristically high bird species diversity; among the highest in North America (Temple et al. 1979).

A large portion of the Upper Peninsula is in public ownership, mostly state and national forest. Large tracts are also commercial forest. Human settlements occur in dispersed small towns and clustered agrarian communities. Agriculture consists mostly of pasture and hay production. Although the Upper Peninsula remains largely forested, the present day forest is very different from the original forest that existed some 100 years ago (McCann 1991). Much of the present forest is second growth and differs in the extensiveness of forest types and in the relative tree species composition. The relative importance of tree species within forest types has changed. The vegetation patchiness, the interspersion of different forest types and the extensiveness of a particular forest type depend on the constituent land forms, topography and soils, local climate and historic disturbance. In some areas a particular forest type would stretch for kilometers, in others the interspersion would occur at intricately small area scales (Braun 1950). The regionalization of landscapes of the Upper Peninsula (Albert et al. 1986) have delineated different sections and subsections of the Upper Peninsula that differ ecologically because

0 वीर्तीहर हत	
smaller un	
physical fa	
delineated	
2 Descrip	
Te	
diverged !	
to a differ	
ppes for	
Widernes	
associatio	
Widerner	
northern	
Hghland	
Mountain	
 T (0991	
Count	
located a	
area area area area area area area area	
This a	
Area	
معر عا ⁰¹	
·····ipitou	

of differences in local climate and physiography. Land type associations (LTAs)², smaller units in a hierarchy of spatial scales organizing ecological heterogeneity based on physical factors and potential vegetation (Appendix A; Table A1), have also been delineated on national forest lands (Appendix A; Table A2).

2. Description of the 10 Study Areas

Ten study areas were selected to replicate 3 different land use categories that had diverged historically since the turn of the century. In general, a study area corresponded to a different land type association (LTA). Percent composition of different land cover types for each of the 10 areas is given in Table 1. The Huron Mountains, McCormick Wilderness Area and Sylvania Recreational Area, represented 3 different land type associations replicating primary forest. Both the Huron Mountains and the McCormick Wilderness Area fall in the Superior Upland Subsection of the white pine -hemlocknorthern hardwoods region described by Braun (1950) and in the Michigamme Highlands in the regionalization of Michigan landscapes (Albert et al. 1986). The Huron Mountains study area was located within a 7,285 ha forest preserve area (Simpson et al. 1990). The Huron Mountains border the south shore of Lake Superior in Marguette County. The McCormick Wilderness Area is part of the Ottawa National Forest and is located south of the Huron Mountains in Marquette and Baraga Counties. The study area was located within a designated natural area in the McCormick Wilderness Area. This area is approximately 1550 ha within a 7000 ha tract (Pregitzer and Barnes 1984). Areas along Lake Superior are under heavy lake effect but this effect declines precipitously inland. The annual extreme minimum varies from -23° C along the lake to

	N HOLOL
	"NO DW 1101
	NODIOL
study areas.	MINOMILL
and cover types in 10	O. DHO-LLOL
Percent composition of I	
Table 1	Huron Mr.

Table 1. Percent composition of land cover types in 10 study areas.

		TOTFORCO ⁵	1HWDNHW	TOTCON ⁷	TOTLMCON	TOTOPEN
Huron Mts	x ³	92	24.35	63.71	54.63	7.97
n¹=3	Se⁴	0.3	2.3	0.69	4.19	0.27
McCormick Wilderness Area	x	95.81	85.51	10.31	6.11	4.18
n=2	Se	1.44	13.24	1.13	1.95	1.43
Sylvania Recreational Area	x	88.91	22.33	64.39	54.99	11.09
n=2	Se	4.07	0.47	4.81	7.63	4.07
Dukes Experimental Forest	x	90.99	55.25	35.73	3.45	9.01
n=2	Se	0.87	2.008	0.9	0.4	0.87
Munising Moraine LTA ² -1	se x	93.22	78.96	13.35	4.43	7.069
n=7		1.88	3.1	2.38	2.21	1.41
Manistique LTA=4	sc x	80.01	49.69	20.61	3.61	19.77
n=8		1.41	5.35	3.29	0.78	1.61
Rapid River LTA=7A	x	80.18	42.88	29.47	2.38	17.23
n=6	Se	3.08	4.84	2.54	0.689	1.97
Chattam	x	48.49	23.08	24.73	0	51.5
n=2	Sc	4.29	6.75	3.36		5.25

, Z 10 10 10
NO. WILLOI
200101
MINUMILL
(continued)
Table 1.
Table 1. (continued)
--
Trenary n=4
Stonington n=3
¹ n = number of 1 mile of non ² LTA = land type association. ³ x = mean. ⁴ se = standard error of the means

```
<sup>o</sup>TOTFORCO = total forest cover within 1 mile.
<sup>o</sup>THWDNHW = total hardwood dominated northern hardwoods.
<sup>n</sup>TOTCON = total conifer contains all conifer forest types.
<sup>a</sup>TOTLMCON = late maturity conifers hemlock and hemlock-white pine.
<sup>b</sup>TOTOPEN = total openland within 1 mile.
```

-35° C inland

_

Upper Penins

are shallow to

hardwood do

and red pine,

red maple, bi

delineated fo

of geomorp!

climate (Sim

recognize th

subsection (

Forest, MI,

A 3

National Fo

by a swale ;

terminal mo

ice contact

Huron Moi

land type as

National Fo

-35° C inland (Albert et al. 1986). The higher elevations relative to other regions of the Upper Peninsula, are due to the underlying preCambrian bedrock. Much of these areas are shallow to bedrock and bedrock is exposed in locations. Deeper mineral soils support hardwood dominated northern hardwoods while shallow soils on ridges support white and red pine, red oak and aspen. Swampy depressions support conifer forest, hemlock, red maple, balsam fir and black ash. Although land type associations had not been delineated for the Huron Mountains and the McCormick Wilderness Area, delineations of geomorphological features (Farrand and Bell 1982) and detailed descriptions of local climate (Simpson et al. 1990, Pregitzer and Barnes 1984) were sufficient to at least recognize that these 2 areas would be in different land type associations within the same subsection (E. Padley, U.S. Forest Service, Milwaukee, Wis; J. Jordan, Ottawa National Forest, MI; pers. comm).

A 3rd primary forest area, Sylvania Recreation Area is part of the Ottawa National Forest and is located in Gogebic County (Figure 1). The area is characterized by a swale and ridge topography. The dominant landform is a rolling, sandy and loamy terminal moraine. Depressions are occupied by lakes and bogs. The low relief, pitted ice contact topography and heavy drift cover are in contrast to both the McCormick and Huron Mountains. Sylvania Recreation Area has been classified under LTA-2 in the land type association delineations of the Ottawa National Forest (J. Jordan, Ottawa National Forest, MI; pers. comm).

Three land Forest in which the selected to replacate Ai), andge-swale pried northern ha to represent areas The Munising M Alger County (T the regionalizati by Lake Superdeveloped upia consists of rela Steuben Segm northern hard of LTA-7A f northern har greater part o managed for Area Alger Count (Table A2) ^{climate} on th thunderstom.

Three land type associations within the West Unit of the Hiawatha National Forest in which the northern hardwood forest comprises a major forest type were selected to replicate managed forest. The Munising moraines (LTA-1 in Appendix Table A1), a ridge-swale complex on the Rapid River Ranger District (LTA-7A) and a lakepitted northern hardwood area on the Manistique Ranger District (LTA-4) were included to represent areas of northern hardwood forest within the core of the national forest. The Munising Moraine (LTA-1) is located along the southern shore of Lake Superior in Alger County (Table A1). It falls under the Luce District-Grand Marais subdistrict in the regionalization of Michigan (Albert et al. 1986). The local climate is heavily affected by Lake Superior with heavy snowfall in the winter. Soils consist mostly of well developed upland sands and loamy sands of morainal origin. The natural vegetation consists of relatively continuous northern hardwood forest. The Manistique LTA-4 is the Steuben Segment of the Newberry Moraine. Loamy sands of morainal origin support northern hardwood forest. Depressions are occupied by lakes. The ridge-swale complex of LTA -7A formed by the retreating glacial Lake Algonquin. The upland areas supports northern hardwood forest and the lowlands support a mixture of lowland conifers. The greater part of the northern hardwood forest in all 3 land type associations is intensively managed for timber.

Areas that comprised several square miles around the settlements of Chattham in Alger County, Trenary in Alger and Delta counties and on the Stonington Peninsula (Table A2) in Delta County were included to represent settled forest landscapes. The climate on the Stonington Peninsula is dominated by lacustrine influence. Severe thunderstoms are not as frequent nor as intense because temperatures are moderated by

lake effects. Thin soils that originally supported northern hardwood forest are at present mostly in pasture. Poorly drained soils support lowland conifers. Both the Chattam and the Trenary study areas occur in the Dickinson district in the regionalization of Michigan landscapes (Albert et al, 1986). The landscape comprises poorly drained sandy outwash. Land use includes agriculture, mostly pasture. Both areas occur in the interior of the Upper Peninsula. Air mass instability storms are more common here in the absence of the moderating effects of lakes. Average annual minimum temperature is -29° C (Albert et al. 1986).

The 10th study area consisted of a large unlogged (old growth) northern hardwood area and adjacent logged areas within Dukes Experimental Forest. This study area lies in the Hermansville subdistrict in the Dickinson District (Albert et al. 1986) described above.

BUTLDING

l Spatia

Species

W

temporal s

1981, Wie

1989. Alie

1981) and

avironme

at multi sci

suggest that

predicted v

are pertines

Der

^{to forest} fra

habitat selen

indications f

^{habitat} at di

CHAPTER 2

METHODOLOGY

BUILDING AN ECOSYSTEM MODEL

 Spatial Scales Pertinent to Assessing the Effects of Forest Heterogeneity on Songbird Species.

With advances in landscape ecology, the importance of using relevant spatial and temporal scales to describe ecological processes is increasingly receiving attention (Wiens 1981, Wiens et al. 1986a, Meentemeyer and Box 1987, Wiens 1989, Golley 1989, Turner 1989, Allen and Hoekstra 1990, Dunning et al. 1992, Ruggiero et al. 1994). Wiens (1976, 1981) and Kotliar and Wiens (1990) discussed how different organisms perceive the environment at different spatial resolutions, and how different ecological processes occur at multi scales that differ from anthropocentric scales. Ongoing discussions about scale suggest that the effects of environmental variables on forest bird species could be predicted with more precision in the future, if these effects are studied at spatial scales that are pertinent to the ecologies of forest birds.

Density relationships among forest bird species that might differ in their sensitivity to forest fragmentation, would be best revealed at spatial and temporal scales at which habitat selection and competitive interactions among bird species occur¹. There are indications from bird census comparisons and from field studies that bird species select habitat at different spatial scales (Wiens and Rotenberry 1981, Anderson 1981, Gutzwiller

and Anderso edge, pattern structure and 1981) Mic are best corr (Holmes and between occ relection ar Mos fraction of a established at fine spati ¹⁹⁸⁰)³. Ha structure an 1971. Ande relationship environmen Rotenberry The community Asians et al ^{concept} to r is embeddec and Anderson 1987). Macrohabitat variables such as size of habitat and distance from edge, patterns of horizontal and vertical heterogeneity are correlated with bird community structure and geographical distribution of species (Wiens and Rotenberry 1981, Anderson 1981). Microhabitat variables that quantify vegetation structure and species composition, are best correlated with habitat selection by individual species within a habitat type (Holmes and Robinson 1981). Habitat variables measured in small areas reveal differences between occupied sites vs unoccupied sites for individual species, as well as habitat selection among different species within a habitat (Anderson and Shugart 1974).

Most forest songbird species have small nesting territories in the range of a fraction of a hectare² (many Parulidae species) to a few hectares. It is now well established that bird species perceive patchiness of vegetation structure and composition at fine spatial scales (James 1971, Anderson and Shugart 1974, Rotenberry and Wiens 1980)³. Habitat selection of songbird species has been measured by sampling vegetation structure and composition in small plots (0.04-0.08 ha) within nesting territories⁴ (James 1971, Anderson and Shugart 1977, Noon et al. 1980). Habitat relationships among bird species have also been established from such fine scale environmental measurements (James 1971, Anderson and Shugart 1974, Whitmore 1977, Rotenberry and Wiens 1980)⁵.

The recognition that environmental factors at several spatial scales affect bird community structure and composition (Wiens and Rotenberry 1981, Anderson 1981, Askins et al. 1987, Robbins et al. 1989b) has led to the consideration of a landscape concept to refer to a mosaic of habitat patches in which a particular type of a habitat patch is embedded (Dunning et al. 1992, Freemark et al. 1995). The landscape ⁶ concept has

been used as a characteristic because the s considered a a species hor population so occupy suitab immigration a dispersing ind al 1995) links metapopulatio interchange in locations thus interchange of productivity . Dunning et al For the temporal scale and environme capability of th fluctuations and ^{dispersal} and po and spatial conf been used as a theoretical basis for linking population processes of bird species to land characteristics. From an organism perspective, no absolute size is given to a landscape because the size of a habitat patch is specific to the organism. Dunning et al. (1992) considered a landscape to occupy a spatial scale that is intermediate between the scale of a species' home range and that of its regional distribution. Landscapes differ as population sources of a species and thus in their ability to supply individuals that would occupy suitable habitat sites when these become vacant. Landscape characteristics affect immigration and dispersal rates by the degree of environmental resistance they present to dispersing individuals. Population source or sink theory (Pulliam 1988, Donovan et al 1995) links landscape characteristics to population productivity. The concept of metapopulation theory considers a population to be composed of subpopulations that interchange individuals (Opdam 1991). The abundance of a bird species measured at point locations thus can be affected by landscape characteristics that control the rate of interchange of individuals among subpopulations (immigration into area) and species productivity ⁷ in a larger area surrounding the census point (Askins and Filbrick 1987, Dunning et al. 1992, Freemark et al. 1992, 1995).

For the majority of songbird species however, little is known about the spatial and temporal scales at which populations exchange individuals because of the many population and environmental variables involved. Organism related variables can include the inherent capability of the species to disperse, and numerous population processes that affect yearly fluctuations and population saturation. Land characteristics that could affect resistance to dispersal and population productivity could include structural characteristics, availability, and spatial configuration of patches at the smallest scale that bird species respond to

(patch that would illicit a response by the bird species to settle into a territory); the spatial configuration of small scale patchiness at larger spatial scales (the relationship of small scale patchiness with higher level patchiness); characteristics of the physical structure (landform complexes, soil complexes) at different spatial scales that affect patchiness, and spatial and temporal scales of disturbance processes (natural or human-induced) that affect patchiness at different spatial scales (Kotliar and Wiens 1990).

There are increasing attempts and calls in bird ecology to relate bird population characteristics and processes to landscape characteristics in spite of the complex ways in which population and land characteristics could interact (Freemark et al. 1995, Petit et al. 1995, Donovan et al. 1995). The effects of landscape characteristics on songbird species have mostly been revealed from empirical studies undertaken in landscapes in which loss of forest cover was extensive (Ambuel and Temple 1983, Askins et al. 1987, Freemark and Merriam 1986). This aspect is largely due to the recentness of the landscape concept, and the increasing concern with habitat fragmentation as a threat to species persistence (Wilcox and Murphy 1985). Several studies however have included a wide range of regional forest cover that extends into landscapes in which forest loss has been extreme (Lynch and Whigham 1984, Robbins et al. 1989b). Landscape level effects were often represented by forest cover measured within a range of 1-3 km from the point at which, or from the habitat patch in which, bird abundance was estimated (Lynch and Whigham 1984, Askins et al. 1987, Robbins et al. 1989b). Relationships of bird species abundances to landscape characteristics, and to territory level characteristics (vegetation structure) were considered linear and additive; represented by stepwise multiple regression and multiple correlation models.

Varia: bud species ac-Several studies composition ar. resource overla; Vanability in pa response to (ar. landscapes A heterogeneity c characteristics landscape chai at different sp species and la Upper Penins a postulate ir That fragmentatic documented Whitcomb 1 ¹⁹⁸³, Askir cover in w bird species apparent ar

Variation in landscape level characteristics however could result in variability in bird species composition and in the relative abundance of species in different landscapes. Several studies have shown that a difference in the assemblage of bird species (species composition and the relative abundance of species) affect the habitat utilization and resource overlap among bird species (MacArthur 1958; Cody 1974, 1978, 1981). Variability in patchiness at the landscape level could cause variability in the species response to (and therefore the species abundance in) similar small scale habitat in different landscapes. A more general model of the effects of northern hardwood forest heterogeneity on forest bird species, would be one that considers interactive effects of characteristics of small scale habitat (spatial scale representing the territory level) and landscape characteristics. Such a model would explicitly recognize that variability exists at different spatial scales. Relationships between the relative abundance of forest bird species and landscape characteristics for northern hardwood forest landscapes in the Upper Peninsula are however not known. The interactive model is therefore presented as a postulate in need of testing.

That forest fragmentation (many human- induced changes have forest fragmentation aspects) has affected forest bird species abundance has been well documented in landscapes in which loss of forest cover has been extreme (Lynch and Whitcomb 1978, Whitcomb et al. 1981, Freemark and Merriam 1986, Ambuel and Temple 1983, Askins et al. 1987). Comparative studies that considered a range of regional forest cover⁸ in which forest fragmentation is at advanced stages have shown that area sensitive bird species are replaced by habitat generalist birds in fragmented landscapes. The apparent area sensitivity of some forest bird species (those species only found in extensive

forest) is like to forest frag literature tha numerous sp species is a s 1981) The presence of a a segregatio recently the heterogenei: songbird spe wathlers of 1 attributed to ^{is in} turn rei; scale disturb different nic) hardwood fo range of a fra ^{individ}ual spi components ۰. In rea ^{scales} could r forest) is likely to be the result of competitive exclusion from species that are less sensitive to forest fragmentation and to forest loss. This postulate is based on a large body of literature that has described habitat occupancy by a species to be a process mediated by numerous species interactions in contrast to the premise that habitat occupancy by a species is a simple response to habitat conditions (Cody 1974, Morse 1976, Cody 1978, 1981).

The ability of ecologically similar bird species to coexist has been attributed to the presence of coexistence mechanisms. Cody (1974) recognized some of these mechanisms as segregation by geographical area, by altitude, between habitat and within habitat. Until recently the limited spatial extent of single studies precluded the need to describe heterogeneity in a hierarchy of spatial scales. The ability of many ecologically similar songbird species to coexist within the northern hardwood forest (e.g. many species of warblers of the family Parulidae; many even within the same genus Dendroica) has been attributed to a high vertical and horizontal heterogeneity in the forest. This heterogeneity is in turn related to small scale variations in topography, aspect, soils and frequent small scale disturbances that continually reset forest maturation processes and provide many different niches to different bird species. In this single scale perspective⁹, the northern hardwood forest would be viewed as made up of units the size of bird territories (in the range of a fraction of a hectare to several hectares) and occupancy of these units by individual species to be solely determined by availability of the necessary vegetation components.

In reality however the effects of northern hardwood forest heterogeneity at higher scales could modify bird species response to small scale heterogeneity. In managed forest

where the if area sen: the variabi abundance microhabi: species wo assessed w potentially conditions another 1 co disturbance species con appropriat interaction Ba processes lacking [compositic spatial scal Variables o which corr be statistica Askins et al where the range of variability in forest cover among landscapes is narrow, it is not known if area sensitive forest bird species are differently affected in different landscapes. Should the variability of landscape characteristics be large enough to impact the relative abundance of bird species in the larger landscape, then habitat occupancy of the microhabitat sites could be affected. A spatial scale at the level of the patches that a species would establish a territory in is the spatial scale at which habitat occupancy can be assessed with the least amount of noise. Habitat overlap between 2 species (that are potentially competitors) also needs to be measured at this level (under constant landscape conditions) because this is the spatial scale at which the effects of one species replacing another (competitive exclusion) can be observed¹⁰. Based on the frequency of small scale disturbances in the northern hardwood forest and the small territory size of the bird species considered, spatial scales in the range of 0.5 to several hectares would be most appropriate to investigate the effects of vegetation structure on habitat occupancy and on interactions among bird species (Wiens 1989).

Basic biological information concerning spatial scales at which population processes of individual species occur (e.g. immigration into area, species productivity) are lacking. Details about differences in the structure of bird communities (bird species composition and their relative dominance) in different landscapes are also lacking. A spatial scale of (1.6 km) was herein used to examine the effects of landscape scale variables on bird densities based on the fact that it is within a range of spatial scales for which correlations between bird abundance and landscape level variables were found to be statistically significant for a majority of forest bird species (Lynch and Whigham 1984, Askins et al. 1987, Robbins et al. 1989b)¹¹. The relationship between bird species

abu
der
pat
abu
spe
eas
Pro
2 9
a: S
Str
Phy
CO1
Phy
afi
for
U ^{O!}
for
lan
fire
the
197

abundance and landscape level characteristics at these scales have only been emperically derived, and have not been determined from actual examinations of species dispersal patterns and productivities. The statistical significance of relationships between bird abundance and landscape level variables at these spatial scales, for a majority of forest bird species (Robbins et al. 1989b), suggests however that these scales must be relevant to at least some aspects of forest bird species ecologies, their life histories and population processes.

2. Sources of Forest Heterogeneity in the Northern Hardwood Forest and Their Impacts at Scales Relevant to Forest Bird Species.

Structure of forest heterogeneity.

Landforms left behind from retreating glacials in the quaternary provided the physical setting in which local ecosystems developed. Landforms differ in their soil composition, slope, aspect and position in the landscape. Because they vary in their physical structure and topography, and to some extent influence local climate, landforms affect the development of vegetative communities and the rate at which succession and forest disturbance occur (Swanson et al. 1988). The patterns of distribution of the northern hardwood forest and its association with other forest types in the presettlement forest of the Upper Peninsula is predominantly influenced by the pattern of glacial landforms (Brubaker 1975, White and Mladenoff 1994). Large scale disturbance such as fire and hurricanes have been hypothesized to be disturbance factors in pine forest and in the more western extension of the northern hardwood forest (Graham 1941, Heinselman 1973, Canham and Loucks 1984). For the northern hardwood forest in the Upper

Pen
mes
;c -
hard
1202
iznd
s 11
the
belt
CNI
La
0 \e
her.
hard
ind;
ध्र व
cou
Pre
<i>يز ك</i> ة
con
har
WOI

Peninsula and more easterly, small scale disturbance in the form of tree blow down is the most common form of disturbance (Nichols 1935; Lorimer 1977; Borman and Likens 1979a, 1979b; Runkle 1982; Frelich and Lorimer 1991). The variability of the northern hardwood forest in structure and tree species composition across its broad geographic range as well as within the Upper Peninsula has been described by Braun (1950). The landform is also likely to affect the structure and species composition of the vegetation at a more local extent. The current state of the northern hardwood forest however is also the result of human influences that have altered it from its mostly primaeval condition before clearcutting began in the late 1800's. Under current forest management (under all ownerships) a greater portion of the northern hardwood forest is periodically logged. Large scale heterogeneity within the present northern hardwood forest is the result of the overlaying of largely human-induced and recent multiple land disturbance events on heterogeneity that had been laid down by very large scale geological events.

It is not possible to assess directly the amount of variability that the northern hardwood forest of the Upper Peninsula presents in terms of available habitat for individual bird species at the microhabitat level, or in terms of forest fragmentation aspects at a landscape level. This information however is required to test if forest bird species could be impacted by forest fragmentation related variables¹² within the range of variability presented in the northern hardwood forest of the Upper Peninsula. An alternative to direct assessment of songbird based variables and spatial scales, is an indirect methodology that considers a hierarchical structure in the partitioning of the heterogeneity of the northern hardwood forest. A first step in this methodology is to develop a conceptual model that would break down the total variability of the northern hardwood at the spatial extent of

the this 255. eer. terr 525 12 Sta Waj the nee and lies pro hai dıv hie kŋ(pra San ler

the Upper Peninsula, into the hierarchy of spatial and temporal scales that are related to major environmental and human induced factors that have created this heterogeneity. In this hierarchy, dominant environmental or human induced factors of higher levels would be assumed to affect units at lower levels imbricated within them. A second step is to consider the scale at which habitat occupancy of the bird species can be examined (at the territory level) at the appropriate level in the hierarchy. This would be justified if there is a basis for expecting factors of heterogeneity (at higher levels in the hierarchy) to affect habitat structure at the territory level, and to modify characteristics at the 1.6 km radius scale. Although the model would be based on known factors of heterogeneity, there is no way of knowing apriori how higher levels of heterogeneity affect individual bird species, their habitats at a territory level, and within a 1.6 km radius landscape level. Its utility needs to be evaluated with respect to how well it explains heterogeneity in bird abundance and in habitat structures they require at the appropriate scales. The test of the model also lies in how well it uncovers relationships between human induced disturbance, ecosystem processes and bird species ecologies.

A hierarchical ecosystem concept was taken by considering the northern hardwood forest (within the range of the Upper Peninsula) as one large ecosystem that is divisible into smaller interacting ecosystems. The structure of the model was based on a hierarchy of spatial and temporal scales that correspond to climatic and geological factors, known anthropogenic disturbance factors, current land use and forest management practices. The structure of the model provided the higher stratification design for sampling bird densities and habitat at the territory level and at the 1.6 km radius landscape level. The structural components of the model and the among strata comparisons that this structure makes possible are presented in Figure 2. Table 2 lists the major factors causing variability among units at each level.

Historical events that added a human induced factor to forest heterogeneity

Large scale clearcutting that occurred over much of the Upper Great Lakes region in the interval between the 1880's until the 1930's marked a historical change in the course in which the existing forest was unfolding. The disturbance level that was created by this event was unprecedented since the Upper Great forest began establishing 10,000 years before, after the retreat of glacial ice (Ahlgren and Ahlgren 1983, Frelich and Lorimer 1991). Land use changes that followed clearcutting brought anthropocentric control over much of this region's forest (Ahlgren and Ahlgren 1983, Simpson et al. 1990, Mladenoff et al. 1993, White and Mladenoff 1994). In the aftermath of clearcutting, extensive areas (and consolidated areas) on which a secondary forest was developing were incorporated into national forests (Hiawatha National Forest and Ottawa National Forest in the Upper Peninsula). On lands where topography and soils permitted agriculture, early homesteads and farms replaced the original forest. Large areas (several square kilometers) that had escaped clearcutting are today protected from logging in natural areas and forest preserves.

Forest clearcutting, because of its catastrophic scale, altered many ecological processes of different spatial and temporal scales that were ongoing in the preexisting forest. The structure of the secondary forest was changed from that in the primary forest. In the secondary forest that developed following clearcutting, slow growing, and long-lived tree species, white cedar, white pine, and hemlock were reduced from their former



Figure 2. Main features of conceptual model and study design showing stratifications based on historical divergence, land use, land type associations, and time elapsed after logging; and comparisons of bird densities and vegetation variables among strata.

Figure 1 Legend <u>Bitt St</u> AMRE BLWA BTBW BIGW LEFL L OVEN (REVI R SCTA S VEER Time eig P: Logg P: Lo Araivica 1. Bird di and log 2. Bird di by reg 3 Vegetat are com and log 4 Within and sig a 2-way across → refers Figure 2. (Continued)

Legend

Bird Species AMRE American redstart BLWA Blackburnian warbler BTBW Black-throated blue warbler BTGW Black-throated green warbler LEFL Least flycatcher OVEN Ovenbird REVI Red-eyed vireo SCTA Scarlet tanager VEER Veery

Time elapsed after Logging disturbance strata P1 Logged 1-5 years ago P2 Logged 6-12 years ago P3 Logged >12 years ago P4 Second growth forest not yet entered into recent Logging cycle

P5 Older-growth forest

Analytical Steps

- 1. Bird density is compared among landscapes and logging periods in managed forest
- 2. Bird density is related to vegetation variables by regression analysis
- 3. Vegetation variables that are statistically significant in 2 are compared among land use (primary forest, settled forest) and logging periods in managed forest
- Within managed forest, bird density and significant vegetation variables are compared in a 2-way comparison across time elapsed after logging and across landuse strata
- → refers to strata comparisons in a specific analysis

Level of Comparison

Tuble 2

-

How Trented in Study Main Source of Variability

How different sources of variability in the northern hardwood forest were incorporated into the study design

Table 2. How different sources of v	ariability in the northern hardwood forest were in	ncorporated into the study design.
Level of Comparison	Main Source of Variability	How Treated in Study
1- Between different forest trajectories primary forest, managed forest and settled forest.	 Past catastrophic disturbance + land use and management since last disturbance. 	A stratification based on forest trajectory was designed into study.
 Among landscapes (land type associations) within a forest trajectory. 		
A - Among landscapes within primary forest trajectories: Huron Mountains, McCormick and Sylvania.	1) Differences in ecological factors operating at the landscape level.	A stratification by landscape was incorporated into study design.
B - Between landscapes within managed forest: Munising moraines (LTA1),	1) Differences in ecological conditions between landtype associations.	A stratification by landscape was incorporated into study design.
Manistique moraines (LIA4) and Kapid River beach ridges and dunes (LTA7).	2) A possible effect is that different timber managers write different silvicultural prescriptions.	Sources of variability 1 and 2 cannot be separated for logged forest.
	3) Differences in interactions between ecological conditions at the landtype association and silviculture prescriptions.	
C - Between landscapes within settled forest.	1) Differences in ecological conditions at the landtype association level.	A stratification by landscape was incorporated into study design.

Main Source of Variability -----

(continued) Level of Comparison Table 2

Table 2. (continued)		
Level of Comparison	Main Source of Variability	How Treated in Study
C- Between landscapes within settled forest.	2) Cumulative effects of differences in land management at scales below the landtype association.	This effect is to some degree randomized by consideration of many sites within a landtype association.
3- Among different northern hardwood forest sites within one landscape.		
A - Between sites within a primary forest landscape.	1) Stochastic disturbance events at different scales that create patchiness (in primary forest the time elapsed since last disturbance is not known).	Comparisons at this level were not considered. The effects were randomized for a higher level comparison.
	 Site differences (topography, soil drainage). 	This small scale variation is randomized by randomly placed bird census stations.
B-Between sites within one managed forest landscape.	1) Time elapsed since last logged.	A stratification for time elapsed since disturbance by logging was designed into study.
	2) Differences in initial state of site.	Second growth forest and older-growth forest were separated by a stratification.
	3) Random variability	Most of what is managed forest today had been clearcut within a short span of

1 1 . . .

Main Source of Variability

Table 2 (continued) Level of Comparison

Table 2.	(continued)		
Level c	of Comparison	Main Source of Variability	How Treated in Study
C -Between si landscape.	ites within 1 settled forest	1) Patchiness within a site and among sites could be affected by land ownership patterns.	Comparisons at this level were not considered. The effects of sources 1 and 2 were randomized by including many sites to replicate conditions for a higher
		2) Initial state of site at unite of incorporation into national forest or becoming private land.	ICACI COILIPALISOIL.
4 - Among prov	kimate bird census stations	1) Local variation in topography, drainage and soils and small scale	This represents variation in vegetation structure (measured at the bird census
		disturbance (natural and human induced) affecting local variation in presence and size of canopy gaps, and variation in tree species.	station) which affects microhabitat selection of bird species.
ert.ett.' White Mad 3/5 be <u>[]]2</u> 27. dev in: ta co... larg H, for Sta 0<u>f</u> a lanc land heterc extent both as forest types or as components within forest types (Mladenoff et al. 1993, White and Mladenoff 1994, Mladenoff and Stearns 1993, Crow 1995, Davis et al. 1995, Mladenoff 1995). Thus for bird species associated with a conifer component, habitat availability at the territory level, and habitat continuity at landscape levels, would have been impacted by such changes in tree species composition.

With the interspersion of human settlements and agricultural areas, and management of early successional forest, forest cover was also reduced in some landscapes. In addition human related activities introduced edge into areas that were devoid of it, in the form of induced interspersion of forest openings, early successional timber types that are periodically clearcut, pine plantations, roads and logging trails (Krummel et al. 1987, Robinson 1988). Because land use has had a dominant influence on the spatial configuration of forest cover at landscape scales and on forest composition and structure at finer scales, land use would be expected to account for a large amount of forest heterogeneity¹³.

Hierarchy of physical and climatic factors affecting heterogeneity.

Regardless of anthropogenic influence, an underlying heterogeneity exists in the forest that can be attributed to multiple scales of physical and climatic factors (Allen and Star 1982, Turner 1987, Milne 1991). This multiple scaled heterogeneity forms the basis of an ecological classification system that has been adopted by the U.S. Forest Service (and recently by many other land management agencies) to classify land into a hierarchy of land units. Ecological classification systems are based on relationships between heterogeneity at large scales (regional climate) and heterogeneity at progressively smaller szies Ecol å:n: the 22 3 hu la-D: <u>m:</u>, **D**0 255 25 كة d C e a In scales (landform, local climate; forest types) that are imbricated within larger units. Ecological classification systems reflect natural hierarchies of temporal and spatial dimensions of ecosystem processes unique to specified geographical locations. As such they can only deal with potential vegetation cover and do not incorporate well the patchiness imposed by human induced disturbance.

At the level of the national forest, the largest unit in the hierarchy of units is the land type association. The spatial extent of a land type association is in the range of hundreds to thousands of hectares (Table A1). The delineation of land units at the level of land type association emphasizes the effects of local climate and geomorphology. Different forest types are comprised within a land type association. Different microhabitats in turn are incorporated within each forest type. The configuration of the northern hardwood forest with respect to other forest types differs in different land type associations. Processes of forest maturation and disturbance, their intensity, frequency and the patchiness they produce are likely to also differ in the different land type associations since these are determined by higher level environmental factors. The difference in the configuration of the northern hardwood forest, in microhabitat conditions, and in modifications imposed by human induced disturbance that songbirds encounter in the different land type associations could be of a magnitude large enough to affect individual species densities, productivity, and the relative abundance of bird species.

Incorporating human-induced and environmental heterogeneity into model

In the Upper Peninsula, land use categories of primary forest, managed forest and settled forest can be delineated by large patches that cover several square kilometers. This

וד פונשי
deciduo
Rationa
XT. et
prodi
fores
Tab
tard
ೇರ್
ſĦĿŗ
Tese
Suci
sca'
arı.
of
31
L.
ť
S
С,
C
ho

results from the perhaps relatively unique situation¹⁴ (compared to a majority of eastern deciduous forest regions), in which large contiguous areas had been incorporated under national forest management, large tracts of remnant primary forest exist, and human settlements and agriculture are mostly concentrated where topography and soil productivity can support agriculture. Land use categories of primary forest, managed forest and settled forest were incorporated into the northern hardwood ecosystem model (Table 2, Figure 2) at the highest level in the hierarchy of factors affecting northern hardwood forest heterogeneity in the Upper Peninsula¹⁵. Each land use category was replicated by 3 different land type associations¹⁶ (Fig. 2).

All 3 land type associations replicating the land use category of primary forest (Huron Mountains, Sylvania Recreation Area and McCormick Wilderness Area) are forest reserves. In primary forest not subjected to logging, most small scale forest disturbances such as tree fall result from natural processes¹⁷. The frequency and spatial extent of small scale disturbance are likely to be influenced by local topography, soil and climate but the actual events within a specified area and time period are stochastic. The emerging pattern of these small scale disturbances are likely to be reflected in differences in vegetation structure measured at small scales among the 3 primary forest areas. The objective of including different land type associations was to capture a broader range of the variability existing in the northern hardwood forest. The model was not designed to elaborate on the specifics of the different areas. Such an objective is better relegated to an ecological land classification or to the development of specific management objectives for these areas. Comparisons of bird densities and of microhabitats among the 3 land type associations in

<u>8</u>5 W br M 201 2Ť fen N2:; hati Reg 12-3 stru time cutt proc their Anoi mana when of the (Cunnin ourrently. general on bird species densities and their habitats. These comparisons would address whether the land type association level should be considered as a level of stratification for bird conservation or for further bird research (Table 2).

Managed forest was also replicated by 3 different land type associations (Munising Moraine, Manistique section of the Newberry Moraine, and an interior sand ridge -swale complex in the Rapid River District). Although the spatial configuration of forest types is affected by topography, slope, aspect and soils, in managed forest it is also modified by forest practices such as management for early successional forest and pine plantations. In national forest, logging is a predominant forest disturbance factor for much of the northern hardwood areas. Management guidelines for northern hardwood forest in the Great Lakes Region specify a selective cut every 8-10 years (Ohmann 1979, Tubbs 1977), a cycle of 12-15 years is given in the Hiawatha National Forest Management Plan (1986). The structure of a northern hardwood forest after logging is related to a large extent on the time elapsed since that disturbance, and on ecological conditions. Periodic selective cutting in northern hardwood forest interferes with forest maturation and disturbance processes. Stochastic events such as severe storms and tornadoes would still occur but their effects could be confounded, influenced or overshadowed by logging disturbance. Another source of variability within the northern hardwood forest under national forest management can be attributed to the initial patchiness of the northern hardwood forest when it was entered under national forest management. Although the majority of the area of the northern hardwood forest had been clearcut around the turn of this century (Cunningham and White 1941), some areas were not completely logged and these areas currently represent older growth within the national forest. Other areas that had been

С Ň Ľ ie S. іл: iog hu 27. Situ thes 3 5 differ contra simult but diff black-ti

clearcut had not yet been entered into the logging cycle. The pattern of small scale patchiness is likely to differ based on the time elapsed after logging¹⁸. To account for this variability, the northern hardwood forest within managed forest was stratified into 5 classes representing forest that was logged 1-5, 6-12, and >12 years ago, second growth forest not logged since the initial cut at the turn of the century, and older-growth forest¹⁹ in areas which had not been completely clearcut and therefore contain at least some features of the original forest (e.g. lack of white pine or hemlock stumps, presence of large sugar maple and hemlock trees).

The landscapes on the fringes of the National Forest where human settlement intersperse forest lands are subjected to both natural and anthropogenic disturbance (e.g. logging, road building). Because of the multitude of ownerships, no systematic form of human-related disturbance can be identified at the landscape scale. Within these landscapes the northern hardwood forest was not stratified any further. Similar to the situation in the primary forest category, replication would recognize differences between these areas on the basis of local environmental conditions and randomize their effects.

3. Selection of Bird Species to Include in the Model and Representation of their Habitat

The forest bird community is multidimensional in that it is composed of many different species that would respond differently to changes in the forest. To examine a contrast in bird species response to different ecosystem processes, it was necessary to simultaneously consider a number of bird species that share the northern hardwood forest, but differ in their individual ecologies. Ten bird species were selected for study: ovenbird, black-throated blue warbler, American redstart, chestnut-sided warbler, blackburnian

warble lanage associ regur nest in Veervi canopy conifer and to t deciduo 1957, A sensitive level eff. edge T not beer Freemar beyond study are of a spec important ^{response} c distribution

warbler, black-throated green warbler, least flycatcher, red-eyed vireo, veery and scarlet tanager (scientific names are given in Table B1). These bird species are generally associated with the northern hardwood forest (Brewer et al. 1991). As a group they require different vegetational components: the black-throated blue and American redstart nest in the shrub layer, the scarlet tanager nests at mid-canopy level, the ovenbird and veery on the ground, and the red-eved vireo at various heights in the subcanopy and canopy. The blackburnian and black-throated green warblers are associated with a coniferous forest component. These species differ with respect to their area sensitivity and to the degree to which they are habitat specialists associated with deciduous and deciduous-coniferous interface. Many have been linked to large tracts of forest (Bond 1957, Ambuel and Temple 1983, Lvnch and Whigham 1984, Robbins et al. 1989b). Area sensitive species were purposely included to allow examination of some forest landscape level effects such as the reduction of forest cover, and the increased amount of forest edge. These aspects have been associated in general with forest fragmentation but have not been addressed within largely forested regions (Ambuel and Temple 1982, 1983; Freemark and Merriam 1986).

It was also desirable to have species with geographical ranges that extend well beyond the geographical area spanned by the study sites. A difference in the locations of study areas with respect to the geographical distribution of a species would affect densities of a species among different study units. Consideration of geographical distribution was important to remove a possible confounding effect of geographical distribution with the response of the species to habitat conditions caused by forest disturbance. Current distributions of a number of these species, the blackburnian, black-throated green and the

black-thr		
hardwoo		
ecologie		
throated		
contrast		
Warbier		
eviensiv		
Michiga		
redstart		
the low		
stimulat		
relative		
reveal }		
4 Sam		
and ve		
 321 po		
ou - Consid		
יסופיי- נחזר אנו נחזר אנו		
of 2		
- ، عدال الد ما		

black-throated blue warbler, correspond to the geographical range of the northern hardwood-hemlock forest. This correspondence could indicate a closer link between the ecologies of these species and the northern hardwood forest ecosystem. The blackthroated blue warbler and the American redstart were included because of similarities and contrasts of their individual ecologies. The distributional range of the black-throated blue warbler has shrunk in southern Michigan, a change that has been attributed to loss of extensive forest (Binford 1991). The American redstart however is well distributed across Michigan and eastern North America (Peterson 1980, Reinoehl 1991). The American redstart is more tolerant of forest edges and might benefit from them. Both species nest in the lower understory vegetation and likely respond positively to disturbance that stimulates dense undergrowth. They were included because of the possibility that their relative distribution within the range of variability of the northern hardwood forest might reveal how forest changes might differently affect ecologically overlapping species.

4. Sampling Units and their Groupings

The basic sampling units considered were point locations at which bird censusing and vegetation sampling were undertaken. Variables representing characteristics of the landscape within a 1.6 km were also determined for these point sampling units. A total of 321 points were located in the northern hardwood forest following the stratification considered in the ecosystem model (Figure 2, Table 2). The distribution of sampling units into the various strata considered in the model is given in Table 3. An initial stratification of 321 sampling units into model strata permitted comparisons among categories of land use, land type association, and the various states of the northern hardwood forest after

Distribution of sampling points (bird census stations) in strata based on historial divergence in lanc period and land type associations

Table J.

Logged 1-5 yrs ago Logged 6-12 yrs ago Logged >12 yrs ago Unlogged 2nd growth Older growth	Munising n ¹ =67 12 12 13 14 14 Huron Mountains 14 Sett	aged Forest Lands Manistique 16 14 24 4 11 11 11 11 McCormick 15 15 15 15 15	Capes n=78 n=78 14 14 22 21 22 21 20 20 0 17 17 apes 17	Dukes Experimental Forest n=17 2 2 6 6
	Chattam	Trenary	Stonington	
	•			
	10	16	16	

Distribution of sampling points (bird census stations) in strata based on historial divergence in land use forest disturbance Table 3.

 1 n = number of sampling units (bird census stations).

disturban
bird dens
specific r
canopy (
lie °c fi
compan
America
spatial s
5 Link
man\ in
well est
1971
disturb.
feature
Vegeta
these f
ecosis.
canopy
Bird de
show's

disturbance by logging, with respect to vegetation characteristics of small area patches and bird densities. Sampling units were also poststratified into new groups that were based on specific ranges of values for vegetation characteristics (i.e. density of woody stems and canopy opening) measured at the bird census stations and landscape level characteristics (i.e. % forest cover, length of forest edge). Such poststratification permitted the comparison of differences in the density patterns among the black-throated blue warbler, American redstart and chestnut-sided warbler along a forest fragmentation dimension at spatial scales that are relevant to their interactions.

5. Linking Habitat Selection at the Microhabitat Level to Ecosystem Processes

Vegetation structure and composition are both multidimensional, composed of many interrelated components. The importance of vegetation structure to birds has been well established in the current ornithological and wildlife management literature (James 1971, Noon et al. 1979, Robbins et al. 1989b). Ecosystem processes and human related disturbance can be linked to bird species ecologies by assessing how they affect habitat features at the spatial scales bird species respond to. It was important to identify vegetation features that each bird species would most likely respond to and to test how these features differed among the different levels of stratification incorporated in the ecosystem model (Figure 2). Vegetation variables were selected to describe forest canopy, tree species composition and structure, shrub layer and ground layer structures²⁰. Bird densities were related to vegetation variables through regression analysis. Figure 2 shows how the density of each individual bird species, and each vegetation variable

impo
the r
6 Ir
habi
199
con:
125
and
Free
Ŭrb;
et a
pred
gene
at it
(B _n
1988
Rapi
som
spec
toler
Speci

important to that bird species would be compared across the different strata of variation in the northern hardwood forest.

6. Incorporating Landscape Scale Effects on Bird Species

There is increasing theoretical basis linking population dynamics of bird species to habitat continuity at the landscape level (Pulliam 1988, Kotliar and Wiens 1990, Opdam 1991, Freemark et al. 1992, 1995). Many human related activities reduce habitat continuity, a process that has been referred to as habitat fragmentation. At this time vagueness still surrounds concepts of what constitutes fragmentation, its quantification, and its progressive nature as a process (see Godron and Forman 1983, Haila 1986, Freemark and Merriam 1986, Krummel et al. 1987, Kotliar and Wiens 1990, Hansen and Urban 1992, Harris and Silva-Lopez 1992, Franklin 1993, Freemark et al. 1995, Faaborg et al. 1995). Edge has been associated with many biotic processes such as increased predation, brood parasitism by the brown-headed cowbird and interactions with habitat generalist species. Perhaps it is because most studies have addressed forest fragmentation at its end stages, that predation and brood parasitism have received more attention (Brittingham and Temple 1983, Wilcove 1985, Yahner and Scott 1988, Small and Hunter 1988, Donovan et al. 1995, Pearson et al. 1996). One study however, Rosenburg and Raphael (1986) found that in the recently disturbed primary forest of Northern California, some bird species completely avoided edges while others utilized them. This indicates that species of a bird community previously undisturbed by human interference have different tolerance to edge. At advanced stages of forest fragmentation, the most area sensitive species would be expected to have completely dropped out. It is in largely forested

:e <u>z</u> o:
255855
The p
forest
وسطين الم
ಲೇನ
habita
lands
proce
Silon
radiu
⁰⁰¹⁷ e
depic
quan
7. In
16 k
bird (
strate
'aria;
land i

regions, where the assembly of area-sensitive forest birds is more complete, that a true assessment of the relative sensitivity of different forest bird species to edge can be made. The possibility that the introduction of edge by human activities into largely contiguous forest areas would provide suitable habitat for edge-interior bird species at the expense of highly specialized, area- sensitive forest bird species, was the justification for exploring the effects of increased edge in the northern hardwood forest. The theoretical indication that habitat continuity and edge affect bird species warranted exploring the nature of these landscape level effects. This exploration might lead to a better conceptualization of the process of habitat fragmentation in a highly forested region.

Landscape level effects were incorporated by considering forest edge²¹ within 500m-radius areas, and total canopy cover and northern hardwood forest within a 1.6 km radius circular areas centered at bird census stations. Thus to each bird census station corresponded variables that quantified the environment at different scales. Figure 3 depicts the spatial relationship between the area scale at which vegetation structure was quantified and area scales at which landscape level aspects were quantified.

7. Integrating Microhabitat and Landscape Level Effects

Bird species could respond to landscape level conditions (areas within 500m and 1.6 km radius), and to microhabitat conditions which were measured at the locality of the bird census station. Sampling units (bird census stations) were poststratified into new strata defined by ranges of values for the selected microhabitat and landscape level variables. Figure 4 represents the poststratification of sampling units initially grouped by land use category, forest landscape and period elapsed since logging, into strata .



Figure 3. Spatial scales considered in measuring environmental variables associated with a bird census station.

Figure 4. Schematic representation of poststratification of sampling units from a classification based on land use, land type association, and forest disturbance period to a classification based on levels of % forest cover at the landscape scale, amount of edge within 500m radius and number of deciduous woody stems in the vicinity of the bird census station. This poststratification was used on vegetation data and forest cover data collected in 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan.



r	representi
	The posts
	scales (n
	cover an
	census si
	and in te
	of the sa
	the 2 sp
	the hete
	be relat
	measuri
	conifer
	effects
	landscr
	bird de
	howev
	explor
	effer
	diffee
	424.
	24(10)
	ennuq ennuq
	oreed
	values

representing a range of microhabitat conditions and a range of landscape level variables. The poststratification of sampling units based on their characteristics of vegetation at small scales (measured around the bird census station) and on their characteristics of forest cover and amount of forest edge (measured at 1.6 km radius and 500m radius from bird census stations) is equivalent to reducing the heterogeneity of the forest to spatial scales and in terms of variables that are relevant to bird population processes. Poststratification of the sampling units based on a number of variables that relate to fragmentation effects at the 2 spatial scales (vicinity of territory and within 1.6 km radius) permit the viewing of the heterogeneity of the forest along a forest fragmentation dimension. Variables that can be related to fragmentation include number of large canopy gaps and % canopy opening measured around the bird census station²², and length of forest edge, % forest cover, %coniferous forest, % deciduous forest measured at 1.6 km radius landscape level. If the effects of forest fragmentation at the vicinity of the territory and those in a broader landscape were linear and additive then multiple regression could be used to show how bird density is affected by fragmentation aspects at the 2 scales. Bird ecology studies however of competitive interactions and coexistence mechanisms point to the need to explore the interactions among variables measured at the 2 scales since it is likely that the effect of fragmentation at the larger scale would affect community structure. If there is a difference in the relative abundance of bird species in different landscapes, bird census stations from different landscapes would be exposed to different bird species population abundance from the broader landscape even if they had similar characteristics at the breeding territory level. Thus the sampling units would need to be grouped based on values of fragmentation related variables at the 2 scales. Both the range of values of the

frag
of a
Ī₩
fraș
In e
121
mo
Be
por
255
FI
1-9
Se
19
19
SC;
ŋo
Cn
-u In
44 To:
۰۳(د
ψĘ.

fragmentation variables and the total number of sampling units placed a limit on how fine of a gradation to consider for each variable and therefore on the number of new strata. Two- way analysis of variance was used to elucidate the interactions between fragmentation related variables in the vicinity of the territory and those in the larger area. In effect, with the 3- way and 4- way analyses of variance that were performed using variables from the 2 scales²³, the total range of variability of the forest captured in the model was reassessed in terms of fragmentation related variables at new spatial scales. Because the whole range of northern hardwood forest was considered in these poststratifications, the original association of sampling units with land use and landtype association was lost²⁴.

FIELD METHODS

1-Selection of Study Units

Selection of Primary Forest, Managed Forest and Settled Forest Landscapes.

The gathering of field data was undertaken from May-August in each of 1992, 1993 and 1994. An endeavor to locate all possibly suitable study sites was attempted in 1992. The land type association was the largest land unit, within the hierarchy of spatial scales considered in the model that needed to be selected. The focus of the study on northern hardwood forest ecosystems required that this forest type be a dominant forest cover type within the selected land type associations representing a category of land use. In the settled forest category, where some forest cover was lost to agricultural use, it was required that the northern hardwood forest would have historically been a dominant cover type. This requirement was easily met because of the preponderance of northern h P

d

hardwood forest. The selection of land type associations in the land use category of primary forest was dictated by the availability of large tracts of primary forest that comprised northern hardwood forest. The Huron Mountains, McCormick Wilderness Area and Sylvania were selected since these were among the few remaining primary forest landscapes in the Upper Great Lakes region. Delineations and descriptions of land type associations on the West Unit of the Hiawatha were used to select land type associations comprising northern hardwood forest in managed forest and in settled forest (Table A1). The suitability of hardwood forest soils for agriculture accounted for the patchiness of the northern hardwood forest in settled forest landscapes.

Locating northern nardwood forest sites in primary forest, managed forest and settled forest landscapes.

Locations of northern hardwood forest within a land type association were identified from U.S. Forest Service data bases (CDS), from aerial photos and from land cover maps resulting from an ecological classification of the land base. Forest cover typing in managed forest was available from compartment maps, and from a pilot GIS project for parts of the Hiawatha National Forest. Forest cover maps for the Huron Mountains and for the McCormick Wilderness Area were produced during past studies in those 2 areas that involved an ecological land classification (Pregitzer and Barnes 1984; Simpson et al. 1989). These vegetation cover maps were available from the Ottawa National Forest and from the Huron Mountain Club respectively.

The forest types and their delineations in managed forest are the result of many decades of silvicultural exams that had emphasized assessments of forest resources. There

are diff.
resulti:
exami
in the
emph.
differ
1600g
ecolo
tree s
Differ
and th
(comp
betwe
of bot
northe
northe
maple
into fir
naturaj
cover t
main for
settled fo

are differences in the forest typing produced by silvicultural examinations and that resulting from ecological studies. The recognized forest types resulting from silvicultural examinations emphasize finer differences in commercial tree species to reflect a difference in the suitability of different areas for timber management. An ecological study in contrast emphasizes subtle differences in tree species composition when these reflect ecological differences such as those due to soil variations, slope and aspect; variations that often are recognized by ground flora (Pregitzer and Barnes 1982, 1984). Forest typing in ecological studies included finer divisions of nonforest cover types and noncommercial tree species associations, than those recognized by U.S. Forest Service forest types. Differences between forest cover types recognized in forest cover maps of the McCormick and the Huron Mountains, and those recognized in forest cover maps of managed forest (compartment maps), also reflect differences in the patchiness of hemlock and white pine between primary forest and secondary growth forest. Table C1 matches the forest types of both systems.

In primary forest landscapes, forest cover types along a gradient of hemlock northern hardwoods include the cover types of hemlock, hemlock dominated hemlocknorthern hardwoods, hardwood dominated hemlock-northern hardwoods and sugar maple-hardwoods. For the McCormick Wilderness Area, that range was further divided into finer differences based on ground vegetation. Although in the presettlement forest, natural forest succession of northern hardwoods was to hemlock, I did not include forest cover typed as "hemlock" in my sampling. Because of time and budget limitations, the main focus was on the managed northern hardwood forest. Primary forest landscapes and settled forest landscapes were included only to put the managed forest in the perspective

of less and
areas that a
primary for
disturbed f
hardwood
cover mag
and Barne
sites No
(1992 lea
northern
eastern }
equivale
and 05)
conside
could f
include
hardwo
broken
units ca
Well def
Which +1
- 4

of less and more disturbed forest. For this purpose, considering northern hardwood forest areas that are hardwood dominated hemlock-northern hardwood, a type prevalent in primary forest landscapes would suffice to extend the managed forest towards the less disturbed forest end. All types that could be included in the broader categories of hardwood dominated hemlock-northern hardwoods, and sugar maple-hardwoods, in the cover maps compiled by Simpson et al. (1989) for the Huron Mountains, and by Pregitzer and Barnes (1984) for the McCormick Wilderness Area, defined the availability of suitable sites. No cover type map was available for Sylvania at the time of the study. Aerial photos (1992 leafoff, infrared scale 1: 15,840) were used to delineate areas that were hemlocknorthern hardwood forest dominated by hardwoods. Areas of heavy eastern hemlock or eastern hemlock-white pine cover were avoided since these were considered to be the equivalent of hemlock or hemlock-white pine forest types (U.S. Forest Service types 04 and 05).

In all primary forest landscapes, accessibility due to lack of roads had to be considered in the selection of suitable sites. Only those northern hardwood areas that could be accessed within 1 hour of travel whether on foot or by motor vehicle were included. In the Huron Mountains few areas of hardwood dominated, hemlock-northern hardwood forest could be reached within an hour's travel.

All lands on national forest lands that exclude wilderness and recreation areas are broken down into management units called stands which are comprised within larger land units called compartments. As a management unit, a stand is not exactly congruent to any well defined ecological factor²⁵. This is in contrast to ecological classification systems in which the ecological factors that differentiate between land units at a particular level are

th

C

a

Π
defined (USDA Forest Service-National Hierarchical Framework of Ecological Units)²⁶. An ecological classification of land units presents a consistent basis of ecological heterogeneity, and the pattern of lower units occurrence is repeatable within a higher unit²⁷.

The U.S. Forest Service data base "CDS" was used to locate northern hardwood forest in the 5 categories of time elapsed after disturbance within the 3 different land type associations in managed forest. In the data base, management units are identified by compartment and stand number. Descriptive information on a stand in general consists of forest type, age-class, silvicultural treatment, year of silvicultural treatment, basal area, average diameter of trees, survey year, and for some stands the year of origin²⁸. Northern hardwood forest types are included in the range of U.S. Forest Service forest types 81-89 (all forest cover types used on the Hiawatha National Forest are given in Table C1). Within each of the selected managed forest landscapes, a first cut for suitable locations was all the forest types in the range 81- 89 in U.S. Forest Service classification.

In managed forest, the northern hardwood forest was further stratified based on when it had been last disturbed by logging. More complete information in the recent computerized database (CDS) was available for forest management activities undertaken within the previous 15 years (from the beginning of field sampling in 1992). For the 3 categories of forest logged 1-5 years ago, logged 6-12 years ago and logged >12-15 years ago, the number of locations in each of the 3 land type associations used to replicate managed forest was well defined²⁹.

In the data base there was a category of northern hardwood forest areas for which there was no record of logging. This category actually represented different conditions:

areas that were logged prior to 15 years ago (from the beginning of field sampling in 1992), unlogged second growth, and older growth areas³⁰. Mean average diameter at breast height (DBH) and stand origin (when it was available) were used as a guide to locate second growth northern hardwood forest, and older growth forest. Information from old compartment folders was used to further identify areas that were logged prior to 1979, and eliminate these from unlogged second growth, and potentially older growth forest. Because of the rarity of old-growth forest outside of research natural areas and wilderness areas, the knowledge of U.S. Forest Service personnel was also relied upon to suggest forest areas showing old-growth characteristics. Size of trees, an uneven canopy, and canopy gaps, lack of tree stumps, and tree species composition³¹, as revealed by field checks further refined the separation of older growth from second growth forest.

Because the placement of timber sales across the forest is not random, the location of northern hardwood forest patches in the different classes of time elapsed since logging 1-5, 6-12 and >12-15 years would not be random. In many instances logging also did not involve the whole stand unit. Patches that were logged were identified from timber sale contractor files and from field checks. A large enough area is required to be representative of forest interior conditions and of conditions of northern hardwood forest in the different stages of time elapsed after disturbance. Recommendations by Morrison et al. (1981) that a 20 ha area is the smallest area that could be considered continuous habitat were followed in the selection of suitable northern hardwood forest locations

In settled forest landscapes the northern hardwood forest had become patchy and distinct from the surrounding matrix. Potential suitable patches of 20 ha or larger were rare but easily located from aerial photos. After giving consideration to the shape of the

patch and getting permission from private land owners few patches were available. In some land type associations (Stonington), all available patches were used for the placement of points in settled forest landscapes.

2- Locating Bird Census Stations

The model structure specified 21 strata of northern hardwood forest needed to be sampled which included 3 land type associations in each of primary forest and settled forest, and 5 strata of forest disturbance in each of 3 land type associations within managed forest (Figure 2)³². A larger number of sampling units would be required to test for differences in bird densities and vegetation variables among strata of the northern hardwood forest than among strata representing different forest types ³³. In a previous bird study, a number of sampling units in the range of 10-15 was sufficient to show differences between habitat occupied by each of 10 bird species and random points in the northern hardwood forest (Hamady 1983). In the absence of specific apriori data, this latter study was used as a rough approximation of the number of bird census stations that would be required to test for differences in bird species mean densities and vegetation variable means among northern hardwood forest strata (among land type associations and forest disturbance periods). Because bird density and vegetation variables were sampled at a spatial scale close to the territory level, each bird census station was an independent sampling unit and not a replicate of bird density or vegetation conditions of a larger area. It was important not to sample the same individual birds from 2 adjacent bird census stations. Because the bird census methodology used (Distance Sampling) estimated the number of birds from their singing and calling, a minimum distance of 150m was

required be
ones Thus
that can be
possible w
available
constrain
of a 100
the minin
reduced
-
norther
stratum
bird ce
hardwi
randor
numbe
(Table
being
Within
Orde-
ODO-
Con Pa
^{vunsi} de
usi of a

required between bird census stations so that birds could not be heard from 2 adjacent ones. Thus although theoretically the sampling space would be the number of territories that can be fitted within the space available, technically the maximum number of samples possible would be the number of 150m radius areas than can be fitted into the space available. In order to evaluate habitat conditions in the interior of the forest another constraint on the placement of bird census stations was that they be placed at a minimum of a 100 m from any forest edge. The distance between adjacent stations greatly exceeded the minimum of 150m because of irregular shape and avoidance of edge, which further reduced the number of possible samples.

The number of bird census stations that can possibly be fitted within a strata of northern hardwood forest was determined to a large extent by the total area in that stratum that was 100m away from a forest edge. A completely random design for placing bird census stations would subdivide the area available in each category of northern hardwood forest into units that had a 150m radius and then would select 15 points at random. For most strata of time elapsed after logging within a land type association, the number of locations available were less than the number of bird census stations required (Table B3). Thus a random selection of points would result in several bird census stations being placed in one location of a category of forest. The methodology of locating points within the strata of northern hardwood was modified from a completely random design in order to accommodate logistic constraints. Several bird census stations were located in one patch depending on the size of the patch. The successive order of locations to be considered for placement of bird census stations was determined from a randomly ordered list of available locations prepared for each class of time elapsed after logging. For

3. sp

northern hardwood forest logged <15 years ago, this list was well defined. New locations were not considered if the required number of bird census stations had already been assigned. For other less well defined classes (unlogged second-growth forest and older growth), new entries were placed on the list if the locations already on it were not found, following a field check, to be representative of the class of forest disturbance period. The actual number of bird census stations placed in a location depended on the size of the patch and the length and spatial distribution of forest edges that needed to be avoided. A total of 321 bird census stations were placed in a total of 78 patches.³⁴

Layouts of bird census stations were drawn on U.S. Forest Service compartment maps when available, or on aerial photos prior to field location. Fifteen different individuals were involved in locating bird census stations on the ground. This reduced the potential for bias in the placement of bird census stations. Edges avoided were those created by roads that are maintained as system roads (Table C2), by management created openings, clearcut stands where the forest canopy had not recovered, stands with canopy openings >50%, streams, and lakes. Edges around canopy gaps that were the result of tree blow down, or logging were not considered. Logging skid trails and 2-track roads within the stand that are not maintained after a logging operation were not considered in the quantification of edges. Their effects on canopy opening was evaluated in the quantification of canopy gaps.

3- Bird Census Methods

Distance sampling (Buckland et al. 1993) was used to estimate densities of bird species. In distance sampling, distances are measured from randomly placed points to

opie	
den	
sam	
wer	
thes	
21.0	
Tunc	
геди	
Thes	
detec	
micro	
affect	
was c	
due to	
recom	
efferre	
(Proc. s	
"ete ce	
^{co} nditio	
^J une Ce	
Saving Ti	
season No	

objects. Distance sampling uses these measured distances to make unbiased estimates of density, given that certain assumptions are met. Underlying the theory of distance sampling is a detection function $g(y) = \text{prob} \{ \text{detection} | \text{distance } y \}$. Bird census points were considered the point transects in distance sampling. Distances were estimated from these randomly placed points to singing or calling birds. Detectability of birds decreases as a function of distance from the census point. Distance sampling fits curves of known functions to the distances. The theory allows for the estimation of bird densities without requiring that all individuals be detected or that the size of the sample area be defined. These 2 aspects of distance sampling are advantageous in multispecies studies when detectability differs among species.

The objective of estimating bird densities was to assess how birds respond to microhabitat and landscape differences in different forest trajectories. Many factors can affect bird species censusing and introduce noise into the data (Ralph and Scott 1981). It was crucial therefore to reduce the amount of variability in bird density estimates that is due to other sources than the intended comparisons. The methodology followed was that recommended for point sampling. A number of measures were taken to reduce undesired effects that include observer bias, weather, sampling bias and time of day. Each bird census station was censused 4 times during a field season. A few bird census stations were censused only 3 times because of a combination of logistic problems and bad census conditions. Censuses were scheduled at intervals of 10 days beginning the first week in June. Censuses began at 630 AM Daylight Saving Time and ended by 10 AM Daylight Saving Time. Different observers censused the same plot during the course of the field season. No censuses were taken on windy and rainy mornings. Censusing was terminated

if the wi
vanabie
as criti
and to
accom
identif
seasor
indepe
comp
during
sever;
censu
censu
speci
on of
obser
Speci
assum
that bi
should
obser

if the wind velocity became greater than 10 mph.

The field methodology for point transects in distance sampling is equivalent to the variable circular plot method (Revnolds et al. 1980). Training of observers was identified as critical to the proper use of the variable circular-plot method (Kepler and Scott 1981) and to reduce among observer differences. Training of observers was a major task in accomplishing the field work. All personnel involved in censusing began learning the identification of bird songs and calls beginning several months prior to the respective field season. Unexperienced censusers were trained for a period of a month prior to censusing independently. Observers were trained in a group situation where the opportunity to compare field data was possible. Six field personnel were involved in censusing birds during the 1992 field season. Of those 6, 3 individuals were experienced birders with several years of bird censusing experience. Nine and 8 individuals were involved in the census in 1993 and 1994 respectively. More than half of the individuals involved in censusing were experienced censusers. Training centered on proper identification of bird species songs and calls and on estimating the distances to birds heard or observed. Checks on observer skills were maintained throughout the census season by having 2 or 3 observers periodically census the same points together³⁵. More effort was spent on species that were harder to locate aurally and on the species prioritized in this study.

Statistical inference in distance sampling is based on the validity of certain assumptions that impose requirements on field methodology. An important requirement is that birds at or very near the census point be detected with a probability of 1. Birds should also be detected at their initial location, prior to any movement in response to the observer. A third requirement is that distances from the census point to the bird should be

measur	
require	
bird ce	
mover	
know	
4- Sa	
meas	
Cardi	
bread	
plots	
reco	
<0 5	
with	
COVe	
Canc	
Canc	
Vepe	
Close	
When	
The	
не е Ба	
¹⁰ rest	

measured accurately. Personnel training discussed above was crucial to meet these requirements. In addition censusers were required to wait 2 minutes after arrival at the bird census station to allow birds to settle back and stop responding to the observer's movements. To aid in the estimation of distances to detected birds, flags were tied at known distances from the bird census station.

4- Sampling of Microhabitat Variables

Variables describing microhabitat structure and composition (Table B3) were measured at the bird census station. Four 10 x 30 m plots were setup, aligned along the 4 cardinal directions from the bird census station (Figure B1). Tree species, diameter at breast height and height were recorded for all trees within the North and South 10 x 30 m plots. Several tree heights were measured using a clinometer and visual estimates were recorded for the rest of the trees in the vegetation plots. The number of woody stems <0.5" (1cm) and >0.5-2" (>1cm-3cm) was counted at breast height in 12.5 x 2 m plots within the 4 10 x 30 m plots. Canopy cover was recorded by 2 measures, percent canopy cover and number of canopy gaps in 4 canopy gap size classes. The quantification of canopy cover followed a modification of the Canfield method (Canfield 1941). Percent canopy cover was obtained by stretching a measuring tape along the 30 m length of the vegetation plot, and recording the stretches of tape above which the canopy was open or closed. This involved visually projecting points in the canopy onto the tape at the position where the canopy changed from open to closed and from closed to open (Figure B2A). The edges of each canopy gap within the vegetation plots were visually projected onto the forest floor. The area of a canopy gap was estimated based on its width and length

Figur
>]()()
was re
class (
5- De
1995.
area (
secon
betwe
Withir
COlirs
Acce
Natio
Manu
Table
Jand .
C DITT-
line a
was bas
^{Aerial} p
manuscri

(Figure B2). Four classes were considered: >10-25m2, >25-50m2, >50-100m2, and >100-<150m2. When the canopy was so open that gaps could not be defined the canopy was recorded to be >50% open. Training of personnel involved the estimation of the size class of canopy openings.

5- Developing Geographical Information System (GIS) Coverage for Study Areas

Geographical information system (GIS) coverage was constructed during the years 1995-1998 for each study area. The first objective of a GIS coverage was to quantify the area of the different cover types within a 1.6 km radius of a bird census station. The second objective was to quantify the length of edge between specified cover types, and between cover types and roads, in areas within 500 m from bird census stations.

Digital coverage for forest cover types, was available for part of the public land within the boundaries of the Hiawatha National forest. The roads, water bodies and water courses layers were available for most USGS quadrangles covering the study areas. Access to these data was available through the US Forest Service (Hiawatha and Ottawa National forests). Geographical digital data were created from the initial stage of manuscription of cover types for lands that did not have an already available coverage. Table C3 lists all the 7.5 minute quadrangles which covered study sites, and the sources of land cover types of the corresponding spatial data.

Map manuscripting of forest cover available from the Hiawatha National Forest was based on infrared, ortho-photos for 7.5 minute USGS quadrangles (scale 1:24000). Aerial photography covering the Upper Peninsula was taken in 1992 during leaf-off. The manuscripting of land cover on public lands began in 1992. Much of the manuscripting

was c
venfi
(199)
base
only
mar
land
ŬS
pho
Nat
moi
Мо
inc
des
Th
nh-
n hilo
n]]
give.
Serv;
Mour
"hardu

was contracted out by the Hiawatha National Forest. Manuscripts of cover types were verified on site by U.S. Forest Service personnel using the same photos, infra red photos (1992 infrared, leaf-off, scale 1:15,840), compartment maps, field checks and other data bases.

During the period between 1992 to 1996, digital coverage became available for only a portion of the public land. Spatial data had to be created starting from the manuscripting stage, for all public lands that had not yet been covered and for all private lands. The same procedure was followed to create these coverages as was used by the U.S. Forest Service, when ortho photos of USGS quadrangles were available. Ortho photos were available for lands within and adjacent to the boundaries of the Hiawatha National Forest and for Sylvania Recreation Area but were lacking for the Huron mountains and for the McCormick area.

Coverages were created for the McCormick Wilderness Area and the Huron Mountains from available forest cover maps. New cover maps were created that also included land lying just outside the boundaries of these areas, and to retype cover designations in a way that it could more easily be tied back to U.S. Forest Service typing. The new cover manuscripts were based on the original cover maps and on black and white photos obtained from the Michigan DNR (1986; scale: 1/15,840). For the McCormick Wilderness Area, the relative dominance of tree species in the different local ecosystems, given in Pregitzer and Barnes (1984) were used, to match cover types with U.S. Forest Service types. The cover type map compiled by Simpson et al. (1989) for the Huron Mountain Club recognized types along the successional gradient of northern hardwoods as 'hardwoods', 'hardwood dominated hemlock-northern hardwoods', 'hemlock dominated

hemloc
recogni
prepare
using
off) th
hemio
positi
gradie
comp
centu
discu
of he
com
impo
fore
typu
hem
show
hem
upon
achie
hemlc

hemlock-northern hardwoods' and 2 types of hemlock. Table C1 lists all cover types recognized in the classification of different study areas and the corresponding classification prepared for landscape-level comparisons.

For the Sylvania Recreation Area, delineation of cover types was accomplished by using 1992 ortho photos of 7.5 minute USGS quadrangles (scale: 1/24000; infrared leaf off) that covered the area. A distinction was made between hardwood areas, hardwoodhemlock and pure hemlock areas. Figure C1 is a schematic representation of the relative position of forest types, in managed and primary northern hardwood forest, along the gradient of forest succession from hardwood to hemlock. Much of the hemlock component in the original forest was lost when the forest was clearcut at the turn of the century. The U.S. Forest Service typing of northern hardwood forest, as was previously discussed, does not separate the second growth forest that has retained some component of hemlock from that which has completely lost it. The presence of a coniferous component however as likely to be important for some bird species. It was therefore important to separate northern hardwood forest that had a coniferous component from forest that did not. An additional type 819-hemlock was added to U.S. Forest Service typing of forest cover to achieve this separation. In U.S. Forest Service typing, patches of hemlock are often recognized as separate cover types within the matrix. The data base shows patches as small as 1 ha, as separate hemlock stands. Because the delineation of hemlock patches was not consistent, the existing cover typing could not alone be relied upon to insure that the presence of hemlock was delineated. This separation could only be achieved on a qualitative basis. In the USFS stand data base (CDS) the presence of hemlock is only noted qualitatively. Quantification of the actual amount of hemlock could

theoretically be obtained from silvicultural examinations but these data are not computerized. A coniferous component could also be recognized from aerial photos taken with leaf-off; this separation was possible for private lands not covered in the USFS database. Digitizing of maps of areas not covered by an already available GIS was accomplished by various individuals using the program Arc/Info. Public and private land coverages and adjacent coverages were 'edge-joined' if the study area overlapped 2 different coverages.

Attribute data were entered that identified each polygon in the coverage. For private lands the land cover type of a polygon was noted at the manuscripting stage. When the polygon represented national forest land, the identification it was given corresponded to the compartment and stand numbers that it represented. The land cover type then could be obtained from U.S. Forest Service data bases. Areas of polygons within 1.6 km-radius circles centered on the location of bird census stations can be identified by the capability of Arc/Info (ESRI-Environmental Systems Research Institute 1993) to generate a buffer zone around a geographic feature. These 1.6-km radius circle clips overlaid over the original coverage, created new coverages with new polygon relationships (Figure C2). The initial design of spatial data analysis however called for a 1.6-km radius, for each bird census station. Many technical difficulties were encountered after 1.6-km radius clips were obtained. Because digital information was obtained from the U.S. Forest Service while the agency was still putting together this GIS system, there were many instances of incomplete digital data discovered within the 1.6 km circle clips. Compartment maps provide maps of forest cover types. Circle clips that contained polygons that were not well defined in the digital coverage were redrawn on compartment

maps and the areas of the different polygons measured with a planimeter. For bird census points that were only a distance of 150 m from one another, 1.6 km circles around these points overlapped extensively. When a visual inspection of the area outside of the area of overlap showed no difference in forest cover pattern, the large effort it would take to remeasure portions of missing polygons justified consideration of one circle for adjacent points. The difference in percent cover of different cover types would be of a magnitude that it would not affect the classification of bird census stations with respect to landscape variables.

Roads, trails, water courses and water bodies were separate coverages provided to the U.S. Forest Service by the U.S. Geological Survey. Base maps for these features were available for most quadrangles covering study areas. In the road coverage, roads and structures were classified into types following U.S. Forest Service specification. These are given in Table C2. All road types that were maintained, from primary to dirt roads were considered in the calculation of edge. Because the amount of edge within a 500 m of a bird census station was of interest, clips of 500 m circles were created in which edges were quantified.

STATISTICAL TECHNIQUES

1. Estimation of Bird Densities

The program Distance for point transects (Distance, Version 2.1; Laake et al. 1994) was used to estimate bird densities from bird distance data. Analyses of distance sampling data were repeated for each of 10 bird species to obtain a density estimate for each species at individual bird census stations. Distance sampling (Buckland et al. 1993)

estimates bird density from observed bird distances by modeling a detection function. Several models and adjustments to these models were initially tried for fitting a detection function to distance data. The model with the best fit was selected by comparing alternative model fits with the Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC). Details of sample size (number of time the species was encountered), model selected, cutoff points and intervals applied in the estimation of each species density are given in Table D1. In addition to bird density, I defined encounter rate to be the % of total bird census stations at which a species was encountered. Density and encounter rate (Table D2) were used to describe the relative patterns of distribution and abundance among species.

2. Assessing the Effects of Historical Divergence in Land Use, Recent Logging Disturbance and Land Type Association on Bird Species Densities.

Mean density of each of the 10 bird species herein considered was calculated for the 2 strata of landuse primary forest and settled forest, and for 5 strata of forest disturbance within managed forest (Figures 5-8, Table D3). Univariate ANOVA (MGLH; SYSTAT 5, 1992) was used to test for statistical significance among the 7 means. The overall F test indicated the statistical significance of the overall difference among all strata (Table D4). Mean density and variance of each species was also calculated for managed forest landscapes. Anova in the procedure Test in MGLH (SYSTAT 5, 1992) was used to test hypotheses of no difference in the mean density of individual bird species between: primary forest landscapes and managed forest landscapes; between managed forest landscapes and settled forest landscapes; and between primary forest landscapes and settled forest landscapes (Table D5). The statistical significance between means of bird

density of the strata older growth forest within managed forest landscapes, and northern hardwood forest in primary forest landscapes was tested. A number of apriori tests, applied to contrast density of a bird species among specific model strata, were also planned once habitat availability patterns in northern hardwood forest were identified (Table D6). These habitat availability patterns were revealed by comparisons of habitat variables among model strata and are presented in a following section³⁶. In the absence of a logical basis for apriori planned contrasts, the procedure Bonferroni in MGLH was used as a Anova post test to determine the statistical significance of differences in bird density means between all possible pairs of forest disturbance periods and historical divergence in landuse strata (Table D7).

Mean bird density for each species was estimated for each land type association within the land use strata primary forest and settled forest and for each forest disturbance period stratum in managed forest. Univariate ANOVA (Manova in MGLH; SYSTAT 5, 1992) was used to test for the effect of land type association on bird densities (Table D8). Bird density means were compared among the 3 replicate land type associations, Huron Mountains, McCormick and Sylvania within primary forest landscapes (Table D9); among the replicate land type associations, Munising, Manistique and Rapid River for each of the 5 forest disturbance periods in managed forest landscapes³⁷ (Table D 10); and among the 3 replicate land type associations, Chattam, Trenary and Stonington within settled forest (Table D11).

Within the managed forest, recent logging disturbance was represented by 3 periods of forest disturbance that spanned 15 years preceding the herein reported collection of bird and vegetation data. A Two-way ANOVA (MGLH; SYSTAT 5, 1992)

was used to test for the effects of the interaction between land type association and forest disturbance period on mean densities of the black-throated blue warbler, American redstart and chestnut-sided warbler (Table 5). Two-way ANOVA (MGLH; SYSTAT 5, 1992) considered the 3 land type associations of Munising, Manistique, and Rapid River within managed forest landscapes and the 3 forest disturbance periods, logged 1-5 years ago, logged 6-12 years ago, and logged >12 years ago (Figure 13).

3. Habitat Relationships Among Bird Species.

Univariate regression³⁸ (MGLH; Systat version 5, 1992) was used to identify habitat variables that affected densities of the 10 bird species (Table 4). The data set used in these regressions included all habitat variables and densities sampled at 321 bird census stations. Variables which had a statistically significant regression coefficient in the regressions of bird density on habitat variables, in regressions involving the black-throated blue warbler, American redstart, chestnut-sided warbler, blackburnian warbler and blackthroated green warbler were considered in further ANOVA tests of means. These variables included % canopy opening (CANOPEN), number of canopy gaps of size >100m2 (GAP>100), shrub layer development measured as number of deciduous woody stems <0.5" (WSDC<0.5), number of conifer trees (TOTCON), and number of late maturity conifer trees (LMCON). Means of these habitat variables (TOTCON, LMCON, CANOPEN, GAP>100, WSDC<0.5) were calculated for each of the 5 strata of forest disturbance period within managed forest, and for each of the 2 land use strata of primary forest and settled forest (Figures 9-12; Tables D13, D20). Univariate ANOVA was used to test habitat variable means among various strata of northern hardwood forest. These

comparisons elucidated the effects of forest management and environmental variables on these habitat variables (Table D12). Testing the means of habitat variables between managed forest and primary forest, between managed forest and settled forest, and between primary forest and settled forest elucidated how different land uses had affected habitat variables³⁹. Comparisons also tested means of habitat variables between managed forest that is under active management (logged<12 years ago) and other strata within managed forest. Univariate ANOVA (MGLH; Systat 5, 1992) was also used to test means of habitat variables among land type associations within each forest disturbance period category in managed forest, and within primary forest and settled forest respectively (Tables D14 and D15).

To delineate the habitat selected by the black-throated blue warbler, American redstart and chestnut-sided warbler, bird census stations at which the density of the respective species was≥ 80 birds/km2 were considered representative of the habitat selected by the species⁴⁰. Univariate ANOVA (MGLH; Systat 5, 1992) was used to compare the means of microhabitat variables among the 3 species across the whole range of the northern hardwood forest sampled (Table D23) and within individual strata of forest disturbance period (Table D24).

Univariate ANOVA was also used to test for habitat variable differences among the blackburnian and the black-throated green warbler. Because of the low density of the blackburnian warbler, habitat variable means for this species and the black-throated green warbler were habitat variable averages of bird census stations at which the respective Species was at or above a density of 30 birds/km2⁴¹. Differences between the 2 species were examined with respect to the total range of northern hardwood forest that was

sampled, as well as within specific ranges of forest conditions: managed forest excluding older growth, in older growth forest within managed forest landscapes and in primary forest landscapes (Tables D16, D18).

4. Effects of Interactions of Habitat Fragmentation Related Aspects of Forest with Habitat Availability on Bird Species.

Approximations of total forest cover, and land cover types for the different land type associations were calculated by averaging land cover types for within 1.6 km radius circles centered in the different land type associations (Table 1). The range of forest cover within 1.6 km FC1MIL in the settled forest landscapes stratum was below 70%. A general absence of the black-throated blue warbler and the blackburnian in settled forest landscapes precluded testing for effects of fragmentation within this stratum. Sampling units from settled forest landscapes were as a result dropped from further analyses involving the effects of forest fragmentation related aspects on densities of blackburnian warbler and black-throated blue warbler. Bird census stations aggregated from primary forest landscapes and managed forest landscapes were stratified into 3 groups with respect to forest cover within a 1.6 km radius FC1MIL, into 2 groups with respect to length of forest edge within a 500m- radius EDGE, and into 2 groups with respect to shrub layer development WSDC<0.5. The resultant data set comprised 181 bird census stations from managed forest landscapes and primary forest landscapes. The cutoff point of 2000m, was selected for the variable EDGE to create 2 groups <2000m and >2000m; the median for 181 bird census stations for which edge data were available was 1888m. FC1MIL ranged from 70% to >90% in the aggregation of bird census stations from managed forest

and primary forest landscapes. Bird census stations were stratified into 3 groups of FC1MIL >90%, FC1MIL >80%-<90%, and FC1MIL <80%->70%. The number of bird census stations, as well as land type association and forest disturbance period strata represented in each of the 12 groups resulting from this 3 variable classification are given in Table D28.

Densities of the black-throated blue warbler, American redstart and a derived variable BTARCS (Table D30) were compared among the 12 groups of bird census stations formed in the stratification based on FC1MIL, EDGE and WSDC<0.5. The variable BTARCS was derived from the difference between the density of the black-throated blue warbler BTBW and the combined densities of the American redstart AMRE and the chestnut-sided warbler CSWA. Univariate ANOVA (Manova in MGLH Systat 5,1992) was used to test the statistical significance of the effects FC1MIL, EDGE, WSDC<0.5 and to test for effects of various interactions among these variables, on BTBW, AMRE, and BTARCS (Table D29).

The effects of interactions among FC1MIL, EDGE and WSDC<0.5 were further investigated by a series of Anovas. Within each FC1MIL group, separate Anovas were used to test the effects of EDGE and of WSDC<0.5 on densities of BTBW and AMRE and on BTARCS. In considering EDGE and WSDC<0.5 separately, the effect of the variable not considered (WSDC<0.5 in the first case and EDGE in the second case) was randomized (Figure 15, Table 8). The effects of interactions between WS<0.5 and EDGE were also assessed within each of the 3 groups of FC1MIL.

To identify landscape and microhabitat aspects in highly forested landscapes (>80% forest cover) that favored the more edge tolerant American redstart and chestnut-

sided warbler, ANOVA was used to test the effects of 2 additional variables, amount of northern hardwood forest within a 1.6 km radius NHWD1MIL, and % canopy opening CANOPEN, and their interactions with EDGE and WSDC<0.5. This analysis excluded the group of bird census stations for which FC1MIL in the 3-way stratification was >70%-80%. This new 4-way stratification produced 16 different bird census station groups based on 2 levels of NHWD1MIL, 2 levels of CANOPEN, 2 levels of EDGE and 2 levels WSDC<0.5. For EDGE and WSDC<0.5 the cutoff points were as previously established in the 3-way stratification. Under natural disturbance regimes (in primary forest landscapes) CANOPEN ranged from 0 to 18%; in northern hardwood forest subjected to logging, canopy opening ranged from 18% to 26%, 1-5 years after logging. A cutoff point of 20% canopy opening was selected for CANOPEN. This value of canopy opening exceeded the average of naturally occurring disturbance but was within the range of recently logged forest. Within the data set considered, a natural break in the data set at roughly 30% occurred in the continuum of percent of northern hardwood forest within a 1.6 km radius (NHWD1MIL). A cutoff point of 30% was established to reflect the actual occurring difference among the land type associations included in this study.

CHAPTER 3

RESULTS

1. Densities and Encounter Rates of Bird Species Across the Northern Hardwood Forest.

Across all combined strata of the northern hardwood forest, the 2 least common bird species of the 10 herein considered, the blackburnian warbler and the chestnut-sided warbler, were encountered in respectively 19% and 24% of all bird census stations visited (Table D2). All other 8 bird species were common with encounter rates > 40%. The redeyed vireo, ovenbird, least flycatcher, and black-throated green warbler had high densities (Tables D2, D3) and high encounter rates >75% (Table D2). The black-throated blue warbler and the American redstart were about equally encountered at respectively 49% and 44% of bird census stations. The veery and scarlet tanager were common (encounter rate>40%) but occurred at low densities of <15 birds / km2.

2. Association of Bird Species with Small Scale Vegetation Characteristics

Densities of all 10 bird species had significant regression coefficients on several vegetation variables that described characteristics of shrub, canopy, tree and shrub layers. Basal area, canopy opening, deciduous and coniferous woody stems (representing shrub layer development), and the presence of coniferous tree species affected densities of the most number of species (Table 4). Seven of the 10 bird species were significantly related to basal area. Densities of the American redstart, chestnut-sided warbler, and veery were

	obabil	lity values of 1 census stati Black-	f regressions ions in north Black-	of densitie ern hardwo Black-	s of bird spee od forest of 1	cies on veget the Upper Pe Chestnut-	ation charact ninsula of M	eristics sam ichigan. Red-	pled within	1200m2 at	locations of
	burniai w.	c	throated green w.	throated blue w.	American redstart	sided w.	Ovenbird	eyed vireo	Scarlet tanager	Veery	Least Flycatcher
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Su		0.01(-)	Su	<0.001	<0.001	<0.000(-)	SU	SU	0.017	ns
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	0.0	4	0.005	SU	<0.001(-)	<0.001(-)	0.005	su	ns	0.014(-)	0.025
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	SU		SU	0.001	ns	ns	ns	ns	0.015	ทร	us
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Su		0.053(-)	SU	SU	SU	SU	su	su	ns	มร
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	ũ		0.051(-)	SU	SU	SU	0.051(-)	ns	ns	su	su
ns ns(-) 0.004 $c0.001$ ns	us		0.014(-)	SU	0.006	<0.001	0.043(-)	(-)su	su	0.017	us
	Su		SU	us(-)	0.004	<0.001	us	Su	SU	SU	SU
	ä	6	<0.001(-)	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.002	0.001(-)	SU	0.002	<0.001	Su
s 0.015 ns 0.04 ns ns 0.04(-) 0.04(-) 0.04(-) 0.04(-) 0.04(-) 0.04(-) 0.04(-) 0.04(-) 0.04(-) 0.04(-) 0.04(-) 0.04(-) 0.04(-) 0.04(-) 0.04(-) 0.04(-) 0.04(-) 0.04(-) 0.062(-) 0.02(-) 0.004(-) ns ns 0.040(-) 0.062(-) 0.062(-) 0.004(-) 0.040(-) 0.062(-) 0.062(-) 0.022(-) ns ns </td <td>a</td> <td>s</td> <td>0.004(-)</td> <td>0.041</td> <td><0.0001</td> <td>0.027</td> <td>SU</td> <td>ns</td> <td>SU</td> <td><0.001</td> <td>SU</td>	a	s	0.004(-)	0.041	<0.0001	0.027	SU	ns	SU	<0.001	SU
$ 01 \ ns \ ns \ $	2	s	0.015	SU	0.04	SU	SU	ns	Sn	0.004(-)	0.049(-)
	0.0	01	SU	SU	0.035	лs	SU	SU	SU	0.040(–)	0.062(-)
	0.03	(-) S	SU		0.030	SU	<0.0001	us	SU	su	SU
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	<0.00	1(-)	SU	SU	0.004	SU	su	ns	SU	su	Su
n 0.028 $c0001(-)$ $0.024(-)$ ns 0.014 ns ns n ns ns $c0001$ ns $c0.040(-)$ ns 01 $c0.004$ $0.022(-)$ ns ns ns ns ns ns 01 $c0.001$ $0.033(-)$ ns ns ns ns ns ns 01 $c0.004$ $0.022(-)$ ns ns ns ns ns $ns(-)$ 01 $c0.001$ $0.033(-)$ ns ns $0.001(-)$ ns $ns(-)$ 01 $c0.001$ $0.033(-)$ ns ns $0.001(-)$ ns $ns(-)$ ns ns ns ns ns ns ns $ns(-)$ $ns(-)$ ns ns ns ns ns ns $ns(-)$ $ns(-)$ $ns(-)$ ns ns ns ns ns $ns(-)$ $ns(-)$ $ns(-)$ $ns(-)$ ns ns ns ns ns $ns(-)$ $ns(-)$ $ns(-)$ $ns(-)$ ns ns ns ns $ns(-)$ $ns(-)$ $ns(-)$ <td>ŝu</td> <td></td> <td>SU</td> <td>0.005</td> <td>0.025(-)</td> <td>SU</td> <td>SU</td> <td>SU</td> <td>SU</td> <td>ns</td> <td>su</td>	ŝu		SU	0.005	0.025(-)	SU	SU	SU	SU	ns	su
a ns ns $(-)005(-)$ $(-)015(-)$ ns $(-)0001$ ns $(-)010(-)$ (-)01001 ns ns $(-)0005(-)$ $(-)0105(-)$ ns $(-)0001$ ns $(-)0005(-)$ ns $(-)0004(-)01001$ ns $(-)0040$ $(-)022(-)$ ns $(-)0006(-)(-)0040$ $(-)022(-)$ ns $(-)0006(-)(-)0001$ $(-)003(-)$ ns $(-)0006(-)(-)00010$ $(-)003(-)$ ns $(-)0006(-)$ ns $(-)0006(-)(-)0001000100033(-)$ ns $(-)0007(-)003(-)$ ns $(-)0006(-)$	SU		SU	0.028	<0.0001(-)	0.024(-)	su	0.014	SU		SU
03 ns <	SU		SU	SU	<0.005(-)	<0.015(-)	su	<0.0001		ทร	0.040(-)
ns ns ns ns 0.027 ns ns 0.027(-) ns 01 ns ns ns ns ns ns(-) ns ns(-) 01 <0.004	0.0	B	SU	SU	ns	su	SU	0.03(-)	SU	su	Su
01 ns ns ns ns 0.010(-) ns ns ns(-) 01 <0.004 0.022(-) ns ns ns ns ns 0.03(-) 0.006(-) 01 <0.001 0.033(-) ns ns 0.007(-) 0.03(-) ns 0.011(-) ns	SU		SU	SU	SU	SU	0.027	us	SU	0.027(-)	SU
01 <0.004 0.022(-) ns ns ns ns 0.006(-) 01 <0.001 0.033(-) ns ns 0.007(-) 0.03(-) ns 0.011(-) ns	<0.0>	0	SU	SU	su	SU	su	0.010(-)	SU	us	us(-)
01 <0.001 0.033(-) ns ns 0.007(-) 0.03(-) ns 0.011(-) ns	<0.0>	0	<0.004	0.022(-)		SU	su	us		0.023(-)	0.006(-)
	<0.0	01	<0.001	0.033(-)	su	SU	0.007(-)	0.03(-)	SU	0.011(-)	ns

Table 4. (continu	led)									
	Black-	Black-	Black-		Chestnut-		Red-			
Vegetation	bumian	throated	throated	American	sided		eyed	Scarlet		Least
variable	w.	green w.	blue w.	redstart	Ж	Ovenbird	vireo	tanager	Veery	Flycatcher
Tree Layer (cont'd)										
B. fir-W. spruce	0.048	ns	Su	Su	su	SU	su		SU	ns
Hemlock <12"	<0.001	<0.001	0.029(-)	SU	SU	0.042(-)	SN	su	0.017(-)	0.017(-)
Pine >12"	<0.001	<0.001	SU	SU	SU	0.059(-)	ns	SU	SU	Su
W. cedar	SU	<0.001	SU	SU	ns	(-)su	0.046(-)	SU	us(-)	su
Snags >10"	SU	SU	su	SU	SU	SU	ns	ns	su	ns
Number of tree sp.	<0.001	<0.001	SU	SU	su	Su	0.038(-)	SU	0.018(-)	0.025(-)
Ground Layer										
% Forb	SU	0.002(-)	0.006(-)	us	SU	0.004	SU	SU	ns	0.002
% Fem	Su	su	0.044(-)	SU	SU	su	SU	su	ns	ns
% Moss	0.056	0.001	ns	SU	0.013(-)	su	su	su	0.035(-)	0.008(-)
Leaf	SU	0.001	0.016	0.052	<0.001(-)	su	ns	su	0.035(-)	ns
Grass	SU	<0.007(-)	SU	0.052	0.04	SU	0.024	SU	SU	SU
Seedling	0.034(–)	SU	SU	SU	0.04	0.044	0.031	0.036	su	0.022(-)
Shrub	ns	0.01(-)	<0.0001	SU	<0.001	SU	лs	SU	<0.0001	ns
Con. shrub	SU	0.051	0.004	su	SU	SU	su		su	ns
Low dec. tree	มร	0.016(-)	SU	su	0.001	su	su	SU	0.006	su
Low con. tree	ns	su	su	su	su	su	0.042(-)	SU	ns	มร
Lar. woody debris	SU	0.03	SU	SU	SU	<0.0001(-)	SU	SU	su	su

 ${}^{1}(-)$ = negative regression coefficient. ²ns = not significant at 1% level of significance.

negatively related to basal area and positively related to % canopy opening. The blackburnian warbler, black-throated green warbler and ovenbird were positively associated with basal area; the ovenbird and the black-throated green warbler were negatively associated with % canopy opening and number of large canopy gaps. Densities of the blackburnian warbler, black-throated blue warbler, scarlet tanager, least flycatcher and red-eyed vireo however were unaffected by the range of variability in % canopy opening and number of canopy gaps that was sampled.

Densities of 5 of the 10 bird species, the black-throated blue warbler, American redstart, chestnut-sided warbler, scarlet tanager, and veery were positively associated with deciduous woody stems (Table 4). The black-throated green warbler and ovenbird were negatively associated with deciduous woody stems (p<0.001). Only densities of the blackburnian warbler, red-eyed vireo and least flycatcher were not affected by the development of the shrub layer.

Most species showed either a strong association with either deciduous or coniferous trees. The black-throated green warbler and the blackburnian warbler were highly associated with large coniferous trees. The black-throated blue warbler, ovenbird, red-eyed vireo, veery and least flycatcher were negatively associated with a coniferous tree component. Only the American redstart and the least flycatcher did not show any strong affinities to either deciduous or coniferous trees. Both species were however negatively associated with large deciduous trees.

3. Vegetation Differences Among Northern Hardwood Forest Landscapes at Different Spatial Scales

Landscape level differences

Forest cover within 1.6 km radius circles centered in settled forest landscapes ranged from 40 to 60 %, compared to forest cover of > 70% to >90% in managed and primary forest respectively (Table 1). Loss of forest cover between primary forest landscapes and managed forest landscapes was gradual and the 2 land use categories overlapped in this respect. Forest cover declined sharply in settled forest landscapes relative to managed forest. Other differences among landscapes included differences in the percentage of total land cover that is in late successional upland conifer forest (hemlock and hemlock-white pine) and in northern hardwood forest (Table 1). All managed forest and settled forest landscapes. Percent composition of late successional conifers and hardwood dominated northern hardwood forest however also varied among primary forest landscapes (Table 1). Land type associations replicating a land use also differed with respect to percent total forest cover that is northern hardwood forest.

Small scale differences in the conifer tree component among northern hardwood forest strata

Small scale vegetation characteristics differed among different land type associations and different land uses. Both the number of total coniferous trees, TOTCON (includes all conifers red and white pine, hemlock, cedar, balsam fir and white spruce), and the number of late forest maturity conifers (hemlock and white pine) were significantly different among the 3 land uses primary forest, managed forest and settled forest (Table

D3). TOTCON and LMCON were significantly higher in primary forest than in either managed forest or settled forest landscapes (Tables D3, D4). Managed forest landscapes however did not differ with respect to TOTCON and LMCON from settled forest landscapes. TOTCON and LMCON did not significantly differ among different land type associations within the land use categories primary forest or settled forest. Within managed forest, neither TOTCON nor LMCON varied among land type associations replicating a forest disturbance period (Tables D5, D6). LMCON was significantly higher in the older growth forest category than in the combined 4 other strata of forest disturbance period (Figure 5; Table D3). TOTCON and LMCON however did not differ between the older growth category within managed forest and primary forest landscapes (Figure 5, Table D3).

Canopy characteristics among strata of northern hardwood forest

Canopy characteristics represented by % canopy opening (CANOPEN), and canopy gaps of different size classes (GAP50, GAP100, and GAP>100) did not vary among primary forest landscapes (Tables D7, D8). Within managed forest however, significant differences among means of CANOPEN, GAP50, GAP100 and GAP>100 were common among landscapes replicating forest disturbance period strata (Tables D7, D8). In managed forest, canopy characteristics reflect the time elapsed after logging (Figures 6, 7). Percent canopy opening is highest in managed forest that had been logged less than 12 years prior to sampling (Fig. 6; Tables D9, D10). Mean canopy opening within 12 years following logging is significantly higher than means of canopy opening in primary forest and in settled forest (Table D10). It is also significantly higher than means of



Legend: Forest disturbance and landuse strata of northern hardwood forest: 1.Managed forest logged 1-5 years ago; 2.Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago; 3.Managed forest logged >12 -15 years ago; 4.Managed forest unlogged second growth; 5.Managed forest older growth forest; 6.Primary forest; 7.Settled forest.

Figure 5. Means of total number of conifer trees (TOTCON) and of late maturity conifers (LMCON) counted in 1200 m² vegetation plots at bird census stations in northern hardwood forest strata of forest disturbance period and land use.


Legend: Forest disturbance and landuse strata of northern hardwood forest: 1.Managed forest logged 1-5 years ago; 2.Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago; 3.Managed forest logged >12 -15 years ago; 4.Managed forest unlogged second growth; 5.Managed forest older growth forest; 6.Primary forest; 7.Settled forest.

Figure 6. Means % canopy opening measured within 1200 m² vegetation plots in different northern hardwood forest strata representing forest disturbance period and land use.



Legend: Forest disturbance and landuse strata of northern hardwood forest: 1.Managed forest logged 1-5 years ago; 2.Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago; 3.Managed forest logged >12 -15 years ago; 4.Managed forest unlogged second growth; 5.Managed forest older growth forest; 6.Primary forest; 7.Settled forest.

Figure 7. Mean number of forest canopy gaps of different sizes sampled with 1200 m² vegetation plots in different northern hardwood forest strata representing forest disturbance period and land use.

canopy opening in unlogged second growth and older growth strata in managed forest (Table D9, Table D10).

Within managed forest, mean number of gaps of size classes >25- 50m2, >50-100m2, and >100-<150m2 were all higher within 12 years after logging than in the strata of unlogged second growth forest or older growth forest (Fig. 7; Tables D9, D10). Thus within managed forest the effect of logging was an increase in the mean number of gaps of all 3 size classes. Differences in % canopy opening between strata of managed forest logged <12 years ago and primary forest, and between strata of managed forest logged <12 years ago and settled forest, were largely due to an increase in the mean number of canopy gaps of size class 50m2, GAP50 (Tables D10, D9). Mean number of gaps of the 2 size classes 100m2 and >100m2, GAP100 and GAP>100 respectively, were not significantly different between primary forest and managed forest logged <12 years ago (Table D10). Mean number of canopy gaps of size class >100m2 was significantly greater in settled forest than it was in managed forest logged <12 years ago.

Shrub layer differences among northern hardwood forest strata

Shrub layer development represented by deciduous woody stems <0.5" (1.26cm), WSDC<0.5, in general showed significant differences among different landscapes replicating a northern hardwood forest category (Table D7). Primary forest landscapes differed significantly with respect to mean number of woody stems <0.5" (p=0.023). Within managed forest, mean WSDC<0.5 differed among landscapes replicating the same forest disturbance period category (Table D7). In managed forest the mean number of woody stems increased 6-12 years after logging (Fig. 8). It was lowest in unlogged



Legend: Forest disturbance and landuse strata of northern hardwood forest: 1.Managed forest logged 1-5 years ago; 2.Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago; 3.Managed forest logged >12 -15 years ago; 4.Managed forest unlogged second growth; 5.Managed forest older growth forest; 6.Primary forest; 7.Settled forest.

Figure 8. Means of woody stems <0.5" (1.26 cm) WSDC<0.5 and woody stems >0.5" WSDC>0.5 sampled within 12 2x5m vegetation plots located at bird census stations of different northern hardwood forest strata of forest disturbance period and landuse.

second growth forest reflecting the low % canopy opening (Figure 6). Mean WSDC<0.5 in the strata of managed forest logged <12 years ago was significantly higher than it was in either primary forest, settled forest or in the older growth forest within managed forest (Table D10).

Dynamics of canopy opening and shrub layer development within 15 years following logging across different managed forest land type associations

Dynamics of canopy characteristics and shrub layer development within 15 years following logging differed among the 3 land type associations replicating managed forest. These differences were revealed from patterns that means of % canopy opening, number of gaps in the different size classes, and number of woody stems <0.5" (1.26 cm) exhibited across forest disturbance periods in the different landscapes (Figures 9,10,11). CANOPEN, WSDC<0.5 and GAP>100 differed among the 3 different land type associations Munising, Manistique and Rapid River (Table 5, Table 6). A statistically significant interaction at the 1% level between land type association and period elapsed after logging indicates that dynamics of shrub layer development differ among landscapes. (Figures 9,10,11).

4. Density Patterns of 10 Bird Species Across Northern Hardwood Forest Strata Density patterns across land use categories

The density of each of the 10 bird species differed significantly among strata of land use and time elapsed after disturbance (Tables D11, D12). The density pattern that a species exhibited across strata of northern hardwood forest heterogeneity, its association



Figure 9. Mean % canopy opening sampled within 1200 m² vegetation plots in strata of northern hardwood forest representing 3 forest disturbance periods 1-5 years after logging, 6-12 years after logging, 6-12 years after logging, >12 -15 years after logging, in 3 land type associations replicating the land use strata of managed forest.



Figure 10. Mean number of woody stems<0.5" (1.26 cm) sampled within 1200 m² vegetation plots in strata of northern hardwood forest representing 3 forest disturbance periods 1-5 years after logging, 6-12 years after logging, 5-12 -15 years after logging, in 3 land type associations replicating the land use strata of managed forest.





Figure 11. Mean number of canopy gaps>100m2 sampled within 1200 m² vegetation plots in strata of northern hardwood forest representing 3 forest disturbance periods 1-5 years after logging, 6-12 years after logging, >12 -15 years after logging, in 3 land type associations replicating the land use strata of managed forest.

Table 5.P values of 2 way ANOVAs undertaken to compare the effects of land type
association, period elapsed after logging, and interaction of land type
association X period elapsed after logging on means of CANOPEN,
WSDC<0.5, GAP>100. Vegetation variables were sampled 1992-1994 in the
Upper Peninsula of Michigan.

	CANOPEN ¹	WSDC<0.5 ²	GAP>100 ³
Land type association	<0.001	0.031	0.38
Period elapsed after logging	<0.008	0.001	<0.001
Land type association X Period elapsed after logging	0.208	0.058	0.112

¹CANOPEN = % canopy opening.

 $^{2}WSDC < 0.5 =$ number of woody stems < 0.5".

 ${}^{3}GAP > 100 =$ number of canopy gaps > 100m2.

Table 6.Bonferroni adjusted P values of post test pairwise comparisons of
CANOPEN, WSDC<0.5, and GAP>100 (during the 15 years following
logging) among 3 land type associations. Vegetation variables were
sampled in 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan.

	CANOPEN	WSDC<0.5	GAP>100
Munising vs Manistique	0.001	1.00	<0.001
Manistique vs Rapid River	1.00	0.201	1.00
Munising vs Rapid River	0.001	0.037	<0.001

¹CANOPEN = % open canopy.

²WSDC<0.5 = number of woody stems <0.5".

 $^{3}GAP > 100 =$ number of canopy gaps > 100m2.

.

with microhabitat variables, and the pattern of vegetation characteristics across northern hardwood forest strata, suggested which underlying factors and their spatial scales affected densities of the different species. Bird species response varied from an increase in density to a near absence across land use strata from primary forest to settled forest landscapes.

Density of the ovenbird did not differ among land use categories (p>0.3, Table D13, Figure 1). Three species, the least-flycatcher (Fig. 12), the chestnut-sided warbler (Fig 13), and the veery (Fig. 14) increased in settled forest landscapes (Table D13). The American redstart (Fig.13) density did not differ between managed forest and settled forest landscapes (p=0.996, Table D13). Densities of the red-eyed vireo (Fig.12), black-throated blue warbler (Fig. 13), scarlet tanager (Fig. 14), blackburnian warbler and black-throated green warbler (Fig. 15) were lowest in settled forest landscapes (Table D13) which suggested that these 5 species would be the most likely species to be sensitive to forest loss or fragmentation.

Density patterns of the 10 bird species among primary forest, managed forest and settled forest landscapes also served to demonstrate habitat relationships among bird species and to ordinate them along a disturbance intensity gradient. Blackburnian warbler density declined sharply between primary forest landscapes and managed forest landscapes (p=0.003) but to a much lesser degree than between managed forest and settled forest landscapes (p=0.157) (Fig. 15, Table D13). In contrast, densities of the black-throated green warbler and scarlet tanager declined only between managed forest landscapes and settled forest landscapes (p=0.002 for each species, Table D13). Densities of the veery (Fig.14) and the American redstart (Fig. 13) increased significantly between



Legend: Forest disturbance and landuse strata of northern hardwood forest: 1.Managed forest logged 1-5 years ago; 2.Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago; 3.Managed forest logged >12 -15 years ago; 4.Managed forest unlogged second growth; 5.Managed forest older growth forest; 6.Primary forest; 7.Settled forest.

Figure 12. Mean densities of ovenbird, least flycatcher and red-eyed vireo in northern hardwood forest strata of forest disturbance period and land use.



Legend: Forest disturbance and landuse strata of northern hardwood forest: 1.Managed forest logged 1-5 years ago; 2.Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago; 3.Managed forest logged >12 -15 years ago; 4.Managed forest unlogged second growth; 5.Managed forest older growth forest; 6.Primary forest; 7.Settled forest.

Figure 13. Mean densities of black-throated blue warbler (BTBW), American redstart (AMRE) and chestnut-sided warbler in northern hardwood forest strata of forest disturbance period and land use.



Legend: Forest disturbance and landuse strata of northern hardwood forest: 1.Managed forest logged 1-5 years ago; 2.Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago;

3. Managed forest logged >12 -15 years ago; 4. Managed forest unlogged second growth; 5. Managed forest older growth forest; 6. Primary forest; 7. Settled forest.

Figure 14. Mean densities of the veery (VEER) and scarlet tanager (SCTA) in northern hardwood forest strata of forest disturbance period and land use.



Legend: Forest disturbance and landuse strata of northern hardwood forest:

1.Managed forest logged 1-5 years ago; 2.Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago; 3.Managed forest logged >12 -15 years ago; 4.Managed forest unlogged second growth; 5.Managed forest older growth forest; 6.Primary forest; 7.Settled forest.

Figure 15. Mean densities of blackburnian warbler (BBWA) and black-throated green warbler in northern hardwood forest strata of forest disturbance period and land use. F

primary forest landscapes and managed forest landscapes (p=0.03, p=0.006 respectively; Table D13), but did not significantly differ between managed forest landscapes and settled forest landscapes. Although common in primary and managed forest landscapes, the least flycatcher sharply increased in settled forest landscapes (p=<0.001; Table D13). The chestnut-sided warbler (Fig. 13), was uncommon in primary and managed forest landscapes but increased sharply in settled forest landscapes (Table D13).

In general bird species showed a linear decline or increase along the range from primary forest landscapes to settled forest landscapes. The black-throated blue warbler (Fig. 13) was the only species that showed a significantly higher density in managed forest than in either primary forest landscapes or settled forest landscapes. Density of the blackthroated blue warbler increased significantly between primary forest landscapes and managed forest landscapes (Table D13), and declined significantly between managed forest landscapes and settled forest landscapes (p=0.001). The density of the blackthroated blue warbler was low in both primary forest and settled forest landscapes. The 2 land use strata did not differ (p=0.36, Table D13). [In actuality the black-throated blue warbler differed significantly between primary forest landscapes and settled forest landscapes when the 2 land use categories were compared in an Anova that included only these 2 categories. The least square means for the black-throated blue warbler was 28.28 birds/km2 (se = 4.85) in primary forest and 8.4 birds/km2 (se=5.017) in settled forest (F=8.162; df=1 and 87; p=0.005). The high increase in black-throated blue warbler density with logging in managed forest resulted in the difference between primary forest and settled forest to become insignificant relative to total variance in the ANOVA that also included all strata within the managed forest landscape.]

Overall the density patterns of all 10 bird species was as follows. Blackburnian warbler density declined sharply from primary forest to managed forest and continued a slight decline in settled forest landscapes. The red-eyed vireo, common throughout, declined gradually from primary forest landscapes to settled forest landscapes. The blackthroated green warbler common in all landscape categories maintained similar densities over primary forest landscapes and managed forest landscapes but then declined sharply in settled forest landscapes. The scarlet tanager maintained similar low densities (relative to other bird species) across primary and managed forest landscapes but declined sharply in settled forest landscapes. The black-throated blue warbler density peaked in managed forest relative to both primary forest landscapes and settled forest landscapes. The ovenbird maintained high densities in all landscape categories. The American redstart was uncommon in primary forest but maintained similar densities in managed and settled landscapes. The veery which occurred at low densities throughout, had similar higher densities in settled forest landscapes and managed forest landscapes relative to its significantly lower density in primary forest. The chestnut-sided warbler was uncommon in both primary forest and managed forest landscapes but increased sharply in settled forest landscapes.

Density patterns of conifer associated bird species

Densities of the blackburnian warbler did not differ between the land use stratum of primary forest and the older-growth stratum of forest disturbance period within managed forest landscapes (p=0.583; Tables D14, D15). Within managed forest, blackburnian warbler mean density in the older growth stratum was significantly greater than the mean of its densities in the 4 other strata of forest disturbance period (p=0.01; Table D14). The pattern of blackburnian warbler densities in the 7 northern hardwood forest strata herein considered (Fig. 15, Table D14) closely matched the pattern of means of total number of conifer trees (TOTCON) and of number of late maturity conifer trees (LMCON) in these strata (Fig 5; Table D3). A regression of means of blackburnian density on means of late maturity conifers, LMCON, in the 7 categories of land use and forest disturbance periods explained >80% of the total variability in blackburnian warbler density (p=0.005, $r^2 = 0.82$).

The precipitous declines that blackburnian warbler density exhibited between primary forest landscapes and managed forest (p=0.003, Table D13) and between primary forest and settled forest landscapes suggested that a shift from primary forest to secondgrowth was the major factor affecting it. More exactly, blackburnian density declines reflect a loss of the coniferous tree component that had occurred as second growth northern hardwood forest replaced primary forest. In addition to representing second growth forest conditions, however settled forest also presents a decline in forest cover and in late maturity conifer forest cover at a landscape scale (Table 1) . Because of the confounding of 3 factors, loss of conifer tree component with the northern hardwood forest, loss of forest cover at the landscape level, and loss of late maturity conifer forest types at a landscape level, it is not possible to attribute the almost absence of blackburnian warbler from settled forest landscapes to any one specific factor. The fact however that the density decline between managed forest and settled forest was not statistically significant at the 1% level (p=0.157; Table D13) indicated that loss of the coniferous tree

component that came about with the growth of the second growth forest was the more immediate limiting factor¹.

The density pattern that the black-throated green warbler exhibited across land use and forest disturbance period strata differed from the blackburnian's in that a significant decline occurred between managed forest and settled forest (Table D13). In contrast to the blackburnian warbler density pattern, the greater availability of late maturity conifer and total number of conifer trees in the older growth stratum (Fig. 5, Table D3) within managed forest, did not result in a greater density of black-throated green warbler relative to other forest disturbance strata (Fig. 15; Table D15). Regressions of means of blackthroated green warbler density on means of total conifer trees, TOTCON, and means of late maturity conifers, LMCON, in the 7 categories of land use and forest disturbance periods were not statistically significant (p=0.69 and 0.84, respectively). For the blackthroated green warbler, a density decline between managed forest and settled forest (Tables D11, D13) is more likely to be due to a loss of forest cover at a landscape scale.

In general neither blackburnian warbler nor black-throated green warbler mean densities differed significantly among land type associations that replicated a land use (Tables D16, D17), or among land type associations within managed forest that replicated a forest disturbance period category (Table D18; p values of Anovas undertaken to test differences in mean densities among land type associations ranged from 0.11 to 0.9, Table D19). All 3 land type associations replicating primary forest landscapes (Huron Mountains, Sylvania, and McCormick) showed consistently higher densities of blackburnian warbler than did all other land type associations replicating managed forest landscapes (Munising, Manistique, and Rapid River) and settled forest landscapes

(Chattam, Trenary and Stonington; Tables D16-D18).

Habitat relationships between the 2 species were further explored for individual forest strata. Means of TOTCON and of LMCON at bird census stations in which the blackburnian warbler and the black-throated respectively occurred at a density >30 birds/km2 were considered to represent the means of these 2 variables in habitat selected by each of the 2 bird species. Means of TOTCON and LMCON for each of the blackburnian warbler and the black-throated green warbler were compared with means of TOTCON and LMCON of each of the 7 northern hardwood forest strata. In these comparisons, means of TOTCON and LMCON at bird census stations in which the blackburnian warbler occurred at a density >30 birds/km2, was greater than means of TOTCON and LMCON in all strata of the northern hardwood forest except for primary forest landscapes and the older growth within managed forest landscapes² (Table D20). As expected from its high encounter rate and high density in managed forest, the blackthroated green warbler did not differ from any of the strata except primary forest landscapes. In primary forest, mean LMCON in the habitat selected by the black-throated green warbler was lower than the mean LMCON for that stratum (Table D20).

Mean CANOPEN for the blackburnian warbler was larger than mean CANOPEN of each of the northern hardwood forest strata except logged 1-5 years ago and logged 6-12 years ago in managed forest landscapes³ (Table D13, D16). This indicated that the blackburnian warbler was more limited by its selection for late maturity conifers and total conifers in the northern hardwood forest, rather than by any fragmentation related effect occurring at the micro habitat because of canopy opening. The additional decline in blackburnian warbler from managed forest landscapes to settled landscapes could not be due to a more severe loss of micro-habitat availability since the LMCON and TOTCON did not differ between the managed forest landscapes and settled forest landscapes. The effects brought about by a reduction in canopy opening would also not be a likely factor since the blackburnian warbler mean on CANOPEN did not significantly differ from the mean for settled forest landscapes at the 0.1 level (p=0.169, Table D17). Blackburnian warbler density was also greater in forest disturbance period 1-5 years after logging than all other forest disturbance periods in managed forest except the older growth forest (Table D11). This stratum had the highest mean CANOPEN of all northern hardwood forest strata considered⁴.

The blackburnian warbler and the black-throated green warbler differed with respect to TOTCON (p=0.001) and LMCON (p=0.002) (Tables D20 and D21). The black-throated green warbler was associated with habitat that was relatively more deciduous. The 2 species did not differ in terms of CANOPEN (p=0.937) or in terms of GAP>100 (p=0.22, Tables D20, D21). This indicated that the relationships between the 2 species at the micro habitat level did not have an aspect of habitat fragmentation. Habitat separation between the blackburnian warbler and the black-throated green warbler was only significant in managed forest excluding older growth (p=0.062). The 2 species overlapped the most in primary forest landscapes (p=0.365, Table D22), and the least in managed forest excluding older-growth (p=0.062)⁵. In regressions of blackburnian warbler on LMCON in different strata of the model, only in the strata of primary forest landscapes and in older-growth were the regressions statistically significant. This indicated that for most of the northern hardwood forest in managed landscapes the amount of LMCON was uniformly too low to affect the habitat selection of the blackburnian warbler.

Density patterns of bird species affected by a shrub-layer

Densities of the black-throated blue warbler, American redstart, chestnut-sided warbler, veery and scarlet tanager showed a significant response to the increase in shrub layer development as characterized by the number of woody stems WSDC<0.5 in forest disturbance periods 6-12 and >12-15 years following logging disturbance in managed forest (Figures 13, 14, 8). The black-throated blue warbler, chestnut-sided warbler and veery sharply increased 6-12 years after logging, but declined >12 years after that disturbance (Figures 13, 14, Table D11). The 3 species had mean densities in the period 6-12 years after logging that were significantly higher than their respective mean densities for the combined 4 other remaining strata (p=0.001 for the black-throated blue warbler, p=0.004 for the chestnut-sided warbler, and p=0.003 for the veery; Tables D11, D14). The American redstart increased (6-12 years after logging) but attained even higher densities in the forest disturbance period >12-15 years after logging; (Figures 13 and 14; Tables D11, D14). Mean density of the American redstart during the period of >12-15 years after logging was significantly higher than mean density in the remaining combined other strata of managed forest (Table D14). Although the scarlet tanager showed a similar pattern of increase as the redstart in the period of 6-12 and >12-15 years after logging, it also had high densities in older growth forest within managed forest. Density increases of the scarlet tanager in forest disturbance periods 6-12 years and >12-15 years were not as distinct as were densities of other bird species associated with a shrub layer development (Tables D13, D14 and D15). Densities of the black-throated blue warbler, American redstart, chestnut-sided warbler and veery differed significantly among land type associations replicating either a land use (primary and settled forest) or a forest

disturbance period in managed forest (Table D19). The pattern these species exhibited across land type associations reflected the variability of WSDC<0.5, canopy gaps and canopy opening across landscapes (Tables D7& D8).

The black-throated blue warbler's significant density increase between primary forest and managed forest (p=0.023, Table D13) is most likely a response to the increase in shrub layer development in managed forest landscapes following logging disturbance. The black-throated blue warbler's significant association with WSDC<0.5 (p=0.001; Table 4) and its significant density increase in disturbance period 6-12 years after logging (p= <0.001, in Anova comparing density in period 6-12 years after logging with density in the other pooled strata; Table D13) support this argument. Compelling arguments however exist that preclude shrub layer development from being a major factor in the precipitous decline of the black-throated blue warbler in settled forest landscapes. The American redstart and the chestnut-sided warbler, 2 species equally associated with WSDC<0.5 increased in settled forest landscapes. Additionally regressions of American redstart density, and of chestnut-sided warbler density, on WSDC<0.5 in 'settled forest landscapes' were highly significant (p=0.018 for each regression, Table D23). The significance of these regressions indicated that settled forest landscapes included some heterogeneity in the development of the shrub layer that the American redstart and chestnut-sided warbler were tracking, even though the level of shrub layer development when aggregated over the category of settled forest landscapes was significantly lower than in managed forest landscapes (p=0.03; Table D10).

Habitat relationships among the black-throated blue warbler, American redstart and chestmut-sided warbler

Microhabitat relationships among the black-throated blue warbler, American redstart and chestnut-sided warbler were quantified to test the hypothesis that forest fragmentation aspects and not simply the presence of a well developed sapling layer could be responsible for observed density and distribution patterns of the 3 species. Means of WSDC<0.5, CANOPEN and GAP>100 were calculated for locations in the forest where each respective species was encountered at a density >80 birds /km2 (Table D24) in order to elucidate how the 3 species partitioned the availability of microhabitat. The 3 species did not differ with respect to mean number of WSDC<0.5 (p=0.8) but differed in terms of CANOPEN (p=0.001) and GAP>100 (p=0.006, Table D25)⁷.

The increase in American redstart and chestnut-sided warbler densities following logging corresponded to what would have been predicted based on their habitat association with reduced canopy cover and deciduous woody stems⁸ (large canopy gaps >100m2 did not significantly increase with logging). The relative density patterns that the black-throated blue warbler, American redstart and chestnut-sided warbler exhibited in managed forest however, across forest disturbance periods affected by logging 1-5 years after logging, 6-12years after logging, and >12-15 years after logging, differed from what would have been expected based on their habitat ordination along a gradient of canopy cover. The black-throated blue warbler increased in forest disturbance period 6-12 years after logging when the canopy was still highly open, but declined in the forest disturbance period >12-15 years when the canopy was already closing. The American redstart on the other hand maintained a high density in forest disturbance period >12-15 years after logging when the canopy was already closing surpassing black-throated blue warbler

density during that forest disturbance period (Figure 14; Tables D11, D9).

Basing habitat relationships among the 3 species on their distribution across the whole range of northern hardwood forest, the 3 species were well separated along the gradients of canopy opening and large canopy gaps. Within the managed forest however there was not a clear separation among the microhabitats selected by the black-throated blue warbler, American redstart and the chestnut-sided warbler. The 3 species overlapped with respect to canopy opening (p=0.74), canopy gaps>100m2 (p=0.324) and shrub layer development (Tables D26, D27)⁹. The fact that micro habitat differences among the black-throated blue warbler, American redstart and chestnut-sided warbler could not account for the pattern of their relative density increases after logging, suggested that factors other than micro habitat differences affected their density patterns.

Since the habitat relationships among the black-throated blue warbler, American redstart and chestnut-sided warbler across the whole range of northern hardwood forest sampled reflected a fragmentation component (different response to % canopy opening and canopy gaps and different patterns of density from primary forest to settled forest), it was of interest to elucidate their relative densities in the different land type associations following disturbance by logging. The effects of interactions of land type association and forest disturbance period (1-5 years, 6-12 years and >12-15 years following logging) on densities of the black-throated blue warbler, American redstart and chestnut-sided warbler were explored in 2- way ANOVAs. Although all 3 species responded positively to forest disturbance, the pattern of their relative densities and responses differed in the 3 land type associations (landscapes of Munising, Manistique and Rapid River) replicating managed forest landscapes (Figures 16,17,18). The effects of land type association, period of



Figure 16. Mean densities of the black-throated blue warbler in strata of northern hardwood forest representing forest disturbance periods 1-5 years, 6-12 years and >12-15 years after logging in different land type associations replicating managed forest.



Figure 17. Mean densities of the chestnut-sided warbler in strata of northern hardwood forest representing forest disturbance periods 1-5 years, 6-12 years and >12-15 years after logging in different land type associations replicating managed forest.



Figure 18. Mean densities of the American redstart in strata of northern hardwood forest representing forest disturbance periods 1-5 years, 6-12 years and >12-15 years after logging in different land type associations replicating managed forest.

disturbance and the interaction of land type association x period of disturbance were statistically significant for the 3 species (Table 7). The 3 landscapes differed with respect to the magnitude of a bird species density increase in any of the forest disturbance strata, and with respect to the relative densities of the 3 bird species across the 3 forest disturbance periods. The black-throated blue warbler density in forest disturbance period 6-12 years after logging in the Rapid River landscape, was 2-3 times its levels in that same forest disturbance period in either the Manistique or Munising landscapes (Figure 16 p=<0.001 for both pairwise comparisons by Tukey's post test). In contrast increases in chestnut-sided warbler and American redstart densities in the Rapid River landscape in forest disturbance periods 6-12 years after logging and >12 -15 years after logging were minimal compared to these same 2 forest disturbance periods in Manistique and Munising (Figures 17 and 18; p<0.001 for all 4 pairwise comparisons by Tukey's post test).

The variable BTARCS was considered as the difference between the black-throated blue warbler density and the combined densities of the American redstart and chestnutsided warbler. This variable expressed a contrast between the forest interior black throated blue warbler and the more edge tolerant chestnut-sided warbler and American redstart. Both the Manistique and Munising landscapes showed a negative (BTARCS) for almost all 3 forest disturbance period strata. In contrast, BTARCS was positive for all 3 strata of forest disturbance period in the Rapid River landscape (Figure 19).

(BTARCS) sampled 1992-1999	association and period cia dstart (AMRE), and chesti 5 in the Upper Peninsula of	pseu auer rogging ou nut-sided warbler (CSV f Michigan.	WA) and the mean of the	iack-till oated blue he derived variable
Effect	BTBW	AMRE	CSWA	BTARCS
Land type association	0.005	<0.001	0.001	0.231
Period elapsed after logging	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Interaction Period elapsed after logging *Land type association	100.0>	0.005	0.047	<0.001

P values of 2 way Anovas undertaken to compare the effects of land type association, period elapsed after logging and interaction between land type association and neuron and neuron after logging on mean densities of the black-throated blue Table 7.

¹BTARCS = density difference between the density of the black-throated blue warbler and the combined densities of the American redstart and the chestnut-sided warbler (BTBW-(AMRE+CSWA)). 113



Figure 19. Mean densities of BTARCS (Density difference of the black-throated blue warbler - the combined densities of the American redstart and the chestnut-sided warbler) in strata of northern hardwood forest representing forest disturbance periods 1-5 years, 6-12 years and >12-15 years after logging in different land type associations replicating managed forest.

5. Effects of Landscape level and Micro habitat Variables on Density of the Blackthroated Blue Warbler, American Redstart and the Derived Variable BTARCS. Effects of forest edge, forest cover and shrub layer development

The effects of landscape level variables on the densities of the black-throated blue warbler and American redstart, and on the variable BTARCS were explored as microhabitat level variables alone failed to provide a solid explanation for the variability of BTARCS among the 3 land type associations replicating managed forest. Landscape factors that were considered included 'forest cover within a 1- mile radius' (FC1MIL), and 'amount of forest edge within a 500m -radius from the bird census station' (EDGE). These effects were explored in managed forest and primary forest only¹⁰.

A 3-way ANOVA considered 3 levels of FC1MIL, 2 levels of EDGE and 2 levels of WSDC< 0.5^{11} . [The contribution of sampling points to each resultant group of forest cover, forest edge and woody stems from different land type associations, land use and forest disturbance period strata is given in Table D28]. The density of the black-throated blue warbler was mostly affected by WSDC<0.5 (p<0.003, Table D29) and to a lesser extent by FC1MIL (p= 0.028) and EDGE (0.10). The black-throated blue warbler density was also affected by interactions between FC1MIL and EDGE (p=0.056), between FC1MIL and WSDC<0.5 (p= 0.025) and among FC1MIL, EDGE and WSDC<0.5(p=0.022). The effects of WSDC<0.5 on the black-throated blue warbler could be appreciated after the effects of EDGE and FC1MIL were randomized. The effect corresponded to a difference in density between 44.56 birds/km2 (n=90, se=9.8) for the group representing 'WSDC<0.5' = <50 stems and 85.32 birds/km2 (n=91, se=9.55) for the group of 'WSDC<0.5' = >50stems (Table D30).

Highest densities of the black-throated blue warbler were for the group of FC1MIL >80-90% and not as would be expected for FC1MIL >90% (Table D30). The seemingly contradictory decrease in density from 89.48 birds/km2 in FC1MIL >80-90% (n=68, se=10.47) to 53.86 birds/km2 (n=74 se=11.1 in FC1MIL >90% (Table D30) for a forest interior bird species was the result of a confounding of 2 effects (an artifact of this specific data set): the actual effect of forest cover within 1 mile and intensity of forest disturbance. Forest cover >90% was represented largely by primary forest and older growth forest within managed forest, while forest cover in the range of 80-90% was highly represented by managed forest¹². The effect of EDGE on density of the black-throated blue warbler as a main factor was not as significant as its interactions with FC1MIL and WSDC<0.5. Interactions among FC1MIL, EDGE, and WSDC<0.5 however were assessed in more detail and are discussed later.

Density of the American redstart was significantly affected by FC1MIL, EDGE, and WSDC<0.5 (p = 0.001, <0.001, and 0.001 respectively, Table D29) in the ANOVA analysis that included all 3 variables as factors. Interactions between FC1MIL and EDGE and that between EDGE and WSDC<0.5 were also statistically significant (p=0.001 and 0.012 respectively; Table D29). When the effects of EDGE and WSDC<0.5 were randomized (one-way Anova with FC1MIL as factor), the least squares mean for American redstart density in FC1MIL >90% was 29.30 birds/km2 (n=74; se=8.62) in contrast to 81.43 birds/km2 (n=39; se=10.72) in FC1MIL > 70-80%. When the effects of FC1MIL and WSDC<0.5 were randomized (One way Anova with EDGE as factor), the effect of EDGE could be recognized as an increase in density from 22.66 birds/km2 (n=108 se=7.04) for EDGE <2000m to 73.95 birds/km2 (n=73, se =8.0) for EDGE>2000m. In a similar randomization of the other 2 factors (one way Anova WSDC<0.5 as factor), the effect of WSDC<0.5 was an increase from 31.01 birds/km2 (n = 90, se = 7.63) for 'WSDC<0.5' = <50 to 65.6 birds/km2 (n = 91, se = 7.4) for 'WSDC<0.5' = >50 (Table D30). The interaction of FC1MIL and EDGE increased American redstart density from 25.9 birds/km2 (n=53 se=9.11) for FC1MIL>90%, EDGE<2000m to 136.56 birds/km2 (n=20, se=14.9) for FC1MIL>70-80% and EDGE >2000m.

The derived variable BTARCS was highly affected by forest cover FC1MIL (p<0.001, Table D29), by EDGE (p<0.001) and by the interactions between EDGE and FC1MIL (p=0.001) and among FC1MIL, EDGE, and 'WSDC<0.5'. BTARCS was negative for most groups of bird census stations for which FC1MIL was <80%, except for combinations of FC1MIL<80% and EDGE <2000m (Table D30). The least squares mean for BTARCS was negative (-34.18) for EDGE >2000m (n=73, s=13.9) when the effects of FC1MIL and 'WSDC<0.5' were randomized (one way Anova with EDGE as factor). The highest (positive) value of BTARCS was for the group FC1MIL >80% - 90%; EDGE <2000m, and 'WSDC<0.5' = >50, which delineates the conditions under which the black-throated blue warbler fared best. The lowest value of BTARCS was for FC1MIL <80%; EDGE >2000m; 'WSDC<0.5' = >50. BTARCS was also negative for FC1MIL >80 - 90%, EDGE >2000m, 'WSDC<0.5' = >50 indicating that edge increases edge bird species even in relatively high forest cover.

The significant effect of the interaction between FC1MIL, EDGE, and WSDC<0.5 and the relevance of this relationship to management of forest bird species, warranted exploring the effects of edge and shrub layer development separately within each level of

forest cover. Within forest cover >90%, the effect of EDGE and the effect of the interaction of EDGE with 'WSDC<0.5' were not significant for either the black-throated blue warbler or the American redstart (Table 8) and as a result these 2 effects were not significant for BTARCS. Densities of both the black-throated blue warbler and the American redstart increased at the higher level of WSDC<0.5. An increase in WSDC<0.5 affected the black-throated blue warbler more than it affected the American redstart. BTARCS remained positive for all combinations of EDGE and WSDC<0.5 within FC1MIL >90% (Figure 20).

Within forest cover 80-90%, the higher level of forest edge but the effect of EDGE was not significant (p=0.194). The American redstart density more than tripled between the lower and higher levels of EDGE (Figure 20a), an increase that was statistically highly significant (p=0.004, Table 8). The interaction between EDGE and 'WSDC<0.5' was significant for the black-throated blue warbler, and American redstart and was reflected in a high statistical significance for BTARCS. The American redstart densities remained relatively low for all combinations of WSDC<0.5 and EDGE except for the high levels of both EDGE and 'WSDC<0.5' (>2000m, >50 respectively). The black-throated blue warbler increased with a higher level

of 'WSDC<0.5' (p=0.006). That increase was greatest for the condition of EDGE <2000m (p=0.053 for the interaction between EDGE and 'WSDC<0.5)'. The Black-throated blue warbler density declined from 181 birds/km2 for the group WSDC<0.5 = >50; EDGE <2000 to 83 birds/km2 for the group 'WSDC<0.5' = >50; EDGE >2000m. This decline in the density of the black-throated blue warbler suggested a negative effect of high density of American redstart on the black-throated blue warbler. BTARCS was
	BTBW	AMRE	BTARCS
Within FC1MIL>90			
EDGE	0.194	0.8	0.382
WSDC<0.5 0.003	0.017	0.619	
EDGE*WSDC<0.5	0.127	0.289	0.406
Within FC1MIL>80<90			
EDGE	0.39	0.004	0.024
WSDC<0.5 0.006	0.011	0.512	
EDGE*WSDC<0.5	0.053	0.015	0.005
Within FC1MIL>70<80			
EDGE	0.038	0.002	0.001
WSDC<0.5 0.687	0.364	0.436	
EDGE*WSDC<0.5	0.448	0.309	0.782

Table 8. P values in Anovas undertaken to test the effects of EDGE¹ and WSDC<0.5² on mean densities of BTBW³, AMRE⁴ and mean of BTARCS⁵ within 3 levels of FC1MIL⁶. Bird density and vegetation variables were sampled in 1992-1995 (Upper Peninsula, Michigan).

 $^{1}EDGE =$ group based on length of forest edge within 500m radius.

 $^{2}WSDC < 0.5 =$ group based on number of woody stems within vegetation plots.

³BTBW = Black-throated blue warbler.

⁴AMRE = American redstart.

⁵BTARCS = difference in density between the Black-throated blue warbler and the combined densities of the American redstart and the chestnut-sided warbler.

⁶FC1MIL = group based on Forest cover within 1 mile radius.









Figure 20 (continued)

Legend.

Group of bird census stations for which			
FC1MIL>90%	Forest cover within 1 mile >90%.		
FC1MIL>80-<90%	Forest cover within 1 mile >80 <90%		
FC1MIL>70-80%	Forest cover within 1 mile >70% -80%		
El	Forest edge within 500m <2000m		
E2	Forest edge within 500m >2000m		
WS1	Number of woody stems<0.5" <50		
WS2	Number of woody stems<0.5" >50		
E1WS1	Forest Edge<2000m & Number of woody stems<0.5" <50		
E2 WS1	Forest Edge>2000m & Number of woody stems<0.5" <50		
E1WS2	Forest Edge <2000m & Number of woody stems<0.5" >50		
E2WS2	Forest Edge >2000m & Number of woody stems<0.5" >50		

Figure 20. Effects of forest edge, and shrub layer development and their interactions on densities of the black-throated blue warbler and American redstart and on BTARCS in different conditions of forest cover within 1 mile.

positive (black-throated blue warbler winning) for all combinations of 'WSDC<0.5 and EDGE except for the combination of higher levels for 'WSDC<0.5' and EDGE.

In forest cover >70-80%, EDGE was the only factor that affected densities of the black-throated blue warbler and American redstart, and therefore BTARCS (p=0.038, 0.002 and 0.001 respectively). At this forest cover level, the black-throated blue warbler density showed no significant response to an increase in shrub layer development. Any development of shrub layer was preempted by the American redstart as its density increased with the increase in WSDC<0.5 (Figure 20 b). The combination of high EDGE and high 'WSDC<0.5' favored the American redstart as it did in FC1MIL >80-90% (Figure 20 c.). The effects in this case were however even more accentuated for all responses, for the increase in the American redstart and for the decrease of the black-throated blue warbler and for the more elevated negative value of the variable BTARCS.

Effects of extensiveness of the northern hardwood forest, canopy opening, shrub layer development, and forest edge.

The effect of the extensiveness of the northern hardwood forest within highly forested landscapes FC1MIL >80% on black-throated blue warbler and American redstart densities and on the variable BTARCS was explored. In 4-way ANOVAs, % of northern hardwood forest cover within a 1 mile-radius NHWD1MIL was considered along with length of forest edge within a radius of 500m EDGE as landscape factors, and the factors CANOPEN and WSDC<0.5 as micro habitat factors. In highly forested landscapes most combinations of the 4 factors favored the black-throated blue warbler as was evident by the positive values of BTARCS (Figure21a, 21b). The black-throated blue warbler density





Figure 21 (continued)

Legend Figure 21a

Group 1

% Northern hardwood forest within 1 mile (NHWD1MIL) <30% % Canopy opening (CANOPEN) <15% Number of woody stems <0.5" (WSDC<0.5) <50

Group 2

% Northern hardwood forest within 1 mile (NHWD1MIL)>30%
% Canopy opening (CANOPEN) <15%
Number of woody stems <0.5" (WSDC<0.5) <50

Group 3

% Northern hardwood forest within 1 mile (NHWD1MIL) >30%
% Canopy opening (CANOPEN) <15%
Number of woody stems <0.5" (WSDC<0.5) >50

Group 4

% Northern hardwood forest within 1 mile (NHWD1MIL)>30% % Canopy opening (CANOPEN)>15% Number of woody stems <0.5" (WSDC<0.5) <50

Group 5

% Northern hardwood forest within 1 mile (NHWD1MIL)>30% % Canopy opening (CANOPEN)>15% Number of woody stems <0.5" (WSDC<0.5) >50

Legend for Figure 21b

Group1 % Northern hardwood forest within 1 mile (NHWD1MIL) <30% % Canopy opening (CANOPEN) <15% Edge within 500m <2000m

Group2

% Northern hardwood forest within 1 mile (NHWD1MIL)>30%
% Canopy opening (CANOPEN) <15%
Edge within 500m <2000m

....

(Fig 21 continued)

Group3

% Northern hardwood forest within 1 mile (NHWD1MIL)>30% % Canopy opening (CANOPEN) <15% Edge within 500m <2000m

Group4

% Northern hardwood forest within 1 mile (NHWD1MIL)>30% % Canopy opening (CANOPEN) >15% Edge within 500m <2000m

Group5

% Northern hardwood forest within 1 mile (NHWD1MIL)>30%
% Canopy opening (CANOPEN) >15%
Edge within 500m >2000m

Figure 21. Effects of interactions among NHWD1MIL, CANOPEN, and WSDC<0.5, and among NHWD1MIL, CANOPEN and EDGE on black-throated blue warbler and American redstart densities and on BTARCS. Data were obtained from bird censusing and vegetation sampling in 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan.

was not affected by NHWD1MIL (p=0.69) or EDGE (p=0.816). The effects of EDGE on density of the American redstart bordered on the 1 % significance (p=0.11). BTARCS was also not affected by NHWD1MIL (p=0.513) or by EDGE (p=0.23). This indicated that in highly forested landscapes the effect of EDGE 'in general' and alone did not favor edge species over the more forest interior black-throated blue warbler. Both CANOPEN and WSDC < 0.5 were highly significant for the black-throated blue warbler (p< 0.006 and <0.001 respectively). An increase in CANOPEN and WSDC<0.5 increased blackthroated blue warbler density from 24.65 birds/km2 (n= 49, se=16.29 for CANOPEN <15% and WSDC<0.50 = <50; to171 birds/ km2 (n=30, se=22.58). WSDC<0.5 was significant for the American redstart (p = 0.018) but the effects of CANOPEN were less pronounced than for the black-throated blue warbler. When the effects of all the other 3 variables were randomized, an increase in 'WSDC<0.5' favored the black-throated blue warbler as represented by the difference between 29.97 birds/km2 for 'WSDC<0.5'= <50 (n = 73, se = 15.65) and 115.61 birds/km2 for 'WSDC<0.5' = >50 (n = 69, se = 15.20; Table D32). Density of the American redstart increased to a lesser magnitude with this range of increase in woody stem density (17.96 birds/km2, se =8.26; to 45.61 birds/km2, se = 8.02 respectively; Table D32).

The interaction between NHWD1MIL and WSDC<0.5 was significant for the black-throated blue warbler (p=0.021) and very significant for BTARCS (p=0.006). The highest density of the black-throated blue warbler was encountered in landscapes with a lower % of northern hardwood forest with a high level of WSDC<0.5¹³. The low value of 3.66 (n= 57, se = 14.44) for BTARCS for the group of bird census stations in the 2 factor combination NHWD1MIL >30%; WS<0.5 >50 indicates that overall (when the effects of

EDGE and CANOPEN were randomized), the black-throated blue warbler fared only slightly better than the combination of AMRE and CSWA in extensive northern hardwood areas in landscapes where total forest cover was high (>80%) and where there was good shrub development.

The interaction of NHWD1MIL x CANOPEN x EDGE was highly significant for BTARCS (p=0.005). Of the 8 possible combinations of NHWD1MIL, CANOPEN, EDGE, 5 groups consisted of more than 10 bird census stations (Table D32). The higher level of EDGE favored the edge bird species when combined with the higher level of CANOPEN (American redstart density = 84.66 birds/km2 for EDGE >2000m, CANOPEN >15%, n=14; BTARCS = -50.09). EDGE was not associated with a high density of American redstart when canopy opening was low (CANOPEN <15%) (American redstart density = 31.28 birds/km2 for Edge>2000m, CANOPEN<15%; and BTARCS= 30.05 for that combination of edge and canopy opening). The difference in the variable BTARCS was significant (p=0.05; Bonferroni post test of pairwise comparisons) between the group NHWD1MIL>30; EDGE >2000m; and CANOPEN <15% (n=31) with the group NHWD1MIL =>30; EDGE= >2000m; CANOPEN >15% (n=14). The effect of a high level of edge and a high level of canopy opening in increasing edge species was even more accentuated with the combination of the high level of shrub layer development. For the group NHWD1MIL >30; EDGE >2000m; CANOPEN >15; WSDC<0.5 >50, the American redstart reached its highest density of 133.68 birds/km2 (n = 8, se =16.71), and BTARCS its lowest value of (-127.25, se= 36.72) with respect to all other 15 groups of 4 factor combinations. The black-throated blue warbler density for this combination of 4 factors was 70.99 birds/km2 (se 31.66). This density for the black-throated blue in the

combination of 4 factors NHWD1MIL >30; EDGE >2000m; CANOPEN >15;

'WSDC<0.5'= >50, was lower than its density of 11 birds/km2 8.75 for the same combination of factors except for the lower level of EDGE although the (Bonferroni post tests of pairwise comparisons was not significant). The density pattern that the blackthroated blue warbler exhibited in highly forest landscapes indicated that it does not avoid edges and high canopy openings. A high level of canopy opening with the combination of a high level of edge however increased the density of edge species to a level that they surpassed the density of the forest interior black-throated blue warbler.

CHAPTER 4

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

ECOSYSTEM LEVEL RELATIONSHIPS

Data analyses provided information on bird species associations with habitat variables and on patterns of bird density and habitat variable differences among strata of northern hardwood forest. Synthesis of this information permitted an ecosystem level view of relationships between bird species populations and the northern hardwood forest and among bird species. Ecosystem level properties affecting bird species in northern hardwood forest and resulting perspectives on forest fragmentation and forest bird species conservation are discussed below.

It is impossible to reconstruct the chronology of density changes that the blackburnian warbler and the black-throated green warbler underwent after much of the forest was clearcut and a second growth forest replaced the primary forest. That this change was detrimental to the blackburnian warbler and might have benefited the black-throated green warbler was indicated by habitat relationships between the 2 species that were apparent along a conifer-deciduous forest gradient and density patterns in primary forest and secondary forest. A prospect that the black-throated green warbler will invade blackburnian warbler habitat was suggested by its high selectivity for late successional forest conifer trees in settled forest¹ where it occurred in the absence of the blackburnian

warbler and at a lower density than it did in managed forest. The fact that the blackthroated green warbler reached its highest abundance in second-growth forest and not in primary forest or older growth in managed forest (strata that had a higher conifer component) suggested that the blackburnian warbler could have suppressed it in these northern hardwood forest strata.

Although land type associations that replicated managed forest and settled forest categories of land use were uniformly low in hemlock and hemlock-white pine that represent late successional forest, they varied with respect to total amount of conifer and to amounts of various other coniferous forest types (i.e. lowland conifers and pine forest). Landscape level effects relative to amount and types of coniferous forest at a land type association level were somewhat evident for the black-throated green warbler. In managed forest, the black-throated green warbler showed consistent higher densities (although not always significant) in the Rapid River landscape perhaps reflecting the higher amounts of lowland conifer forest types. The rarity of late sucessional forest conifers (at local sites) and the associated low encounter rate of the blackburnian warbler precluded the analysis of the effects of different landscape level conditions on its density. The density pattern that the blackburnian warbler exhibited across forest disturbance periods (Tables D11, D15) clearly demonstrated that it was not affected by frequent small scale forest disturbance that is representative of canopy and shrub layer dynamics 2 . An explanation why the blackburnian warbler was not affected by selective logging is that under present forest management (Hiawatha National Forest) patches of hemlock in northern hardwood forest are preserved. Thus without the decrease in sites containing a coniferous tree component, habitat availability at small scales would not be affected.

The increase in shrub layer development and densities of bird species (the blackthroated blue warbler, American redstart, chestnut-sided warbler, scarlet tanager, and veery) associated with a shrub layer during time intervals of 6-12 and >12-15 years after logging indicated the close association between the dynamics of the shrub layer and bird populations. There are indications from density patterns that this increase in bird density following logging could be responsible for their greater densities in managed forest relative to primary forest. Higher densities of the black-throated blue warbler, American redstart and chestnut-sided warbler in unlogged second growth and older growth forest (Figure 14), and higher densities of all 5 species (black-throated blue warbler, American redstart, chestnut-sided warbler, veery and scarlet tanager, relative to primary forest (Figures 14, 15) that could not be accounted for by a shrub layer development suggested that habitat packing was occurring in the managed forest³.

Although all species associated with a shrub layer responded to the increase in shrub layer development following logging in managed forest, the density pattern of each species across all northern hardwood forest strata was unique. The bird species that were associated with a well developed shrub layer differed with respect to the degree to which they were affected positively or negatively by percent canopy opening and number of canopy gaps. If these species were ordinated along a gradient that combined canopy cover (at local site) and forest cover (at a landscape scale), the black-throated blue and scarlet tanager would receive highest scores, the veery and American redstart intermediate scores and the chestnut-sided warbler lowest scores on this gradient. The increase in scarlet tanager and black-throated blue warbler between 6-12 years and >12-15 years after logging relative to all other strata of northern hardwood forest indicated that poor shrub

layer development was a limiting factor to shrub layer associated species in the interior of the forest. The increase in bird species that were favored by settled forest conditions within these strata after logging suggested that conditions were created that simulated settled forest conditions within the managed forest.

Significant differences in mean densities of shrub associated forest bird species were common among land type associations replicating a land use or a forest disturbance period. These differences reflected differences in shrub layer development. A question pertinent to forest management would be whether differences in the dynamics of the shrub associated bird species among different landscapes⁴ reflected some inherent characteristics of the landscape or whether they stemmed from human induced disturbance. Increases of the American redstart and chestnut-sided warbler relative to the black-throated blue warbler after logging in the Munising and Manistique landscape as compared to the Rapid River landscape could be explained by their higher densities prior to logging. There were no known (previous) disturbance factors that would account for higher densities of edge species in either landscape. There were indications however that habitat conditions in general, in strata other than just those describing conditions following logging disturbance, were more favorable to these species in the Munising and Manistique landscape. The American redstart and chestnut-sided warbler had higher densities in forest disturbance strata >12-15 years and in unlogged second growth in the Munising and Manistique landscapes than they did in the Rapid River landscape. Although the Munising landscape overall had higher forest cover than either of the Rapid River and Manistique landscapes (many bird census stations in the Munising landscape had forest cover within a 1.6 km radius >90%, Table D28) which would favor the black-throated blue warbler, a more open forest canopy (in all forest disturbance period strata) and, a greater number of large canopy gaps, along with a better shrub layer development in all forest disturbance strata might have allowed edge species to persist in between logging events. [More favorable habitat to the American redstart and chestnut-sided warbler in the Manistique landscape was due to a higher amount of edge and lower forest cover in that landscape (Table D28)].

The greater number of large canopy gaps $(100m^2 \text{ and } > 100m^2)$ in forest disturbance strata depicting recent logging activity (1-5 years; 6-12 years and >12-15 years) would at first suggest an effect of logging activity. Number of canopy gaps across these 3 forest disturbance strata however did not show a decrease in successive forest disturbance periods following logging as would be expected if the number of large canopy gaps was due directly to logging. The number of large canopy gaps also differed among land type associations within strata representing the same forest disturbance periods, possibly reflecting a difference in local climate. The higher number of gaps in the strata several years after logging (6-12 and >12-15 years after logging) could suggest an interaction of logging disturbance with weather activity in a process that involved standing trees left after the removal of others becoming more susceptible to toppling. Although large canopy gaps were also numerous in primary forest landscapes they were not associated with high densities of the American redstart and chestnut-sided warbler. As was shown in the Anova analysis of the effects of interactions between edge, canopy gaps, shrub layer development and forest cover, large canopy gaps alone were not associated with an increase in forest edge species. Although the Munising landscape did not have any more edge than the Rapid River landscape (it had lesser edge than the Manistique

landscape), that amount of forest edge combined with a better shrub layer development and a more open canopy created more favorable conditions for edge species. The high density of black-throated blue warbler in the Rapid River landscape several years after logging could be due to habitat saturation. In the Rapid River landscape, shrub layer development was poor in all forest disturbance periods other than that of 6-12 years following logging⁵. The amount of northern hardwood forest was also limited in this landscape. [In this ridge swale land type association, the northern hardwood forest occurred on ridges surrounded by lowland conifer; the land type association itself was surrounded mostly by others that lacked northern hardwood forest].

ASPECTS OF FOREST FRAGMENTATION IN THE NORTHERN HARDWOOD FOREST

Examination of bird species densities along a range of forest conditions that included aspects of forest fragmentation, provided perspectives on habitat fragmentation from the end closer to intact ecosystems than those resulting from studies of highly disintegrated landscapes. The range of forest conditions that was herein spanned, included areas in which the northern hardwood forest had become separated from other forest by openland. Although among the 10 bird species considered several had declined and 2, the blackburnian warbler and the black-throated blue were largely absent from landscapes in which the forest was patchy, isolation was ruled out as an underlying cause of this decline on several grounds. All study sites in settled forest landscapes were close to the core of the Hiawatha National forest; many were less than 1 km away from contiguous northern hardwood forest. Since several forest interior bird species were abundant, there was no cause to believe that the dispersal ability of bird species that showed high densities differed from that of bird species that had declining densities. Another reason why dispersal was not an issue is that the black-throated blue warbler and the blackburnian warbler already had low densities under certain forest conditions within the managed northern hardwood forest.

Often cited causes of decline of forest bird species in fragmented landscapes are increased levels of predation and cowbird parasitism (Donovan et al. 1995). In the eastern deciduous biome declines of forest interior bird species with fragmentation have been blamed on their life history traits of nesting on or close to the ground in an open cup nest. Several bird species that remained abundant in settled forest or that increased, the ovenbird and veery nest on the ground and the American redstart and chestnut-sided warbler most often nest in the sapling layer close to the ground. The mostly absent blackburnian however nests in the canopy of conifer trees and the red-eyed vireo that showed declining densities in settled forest (although still abundant) nests in the canopy of deciduous trees. From these density and life history patterns there was no basis to suggest that either predation or nesting habits were major causes for bird species density declines.

Several studies have associated loss of habitat elements (i.e. microhabitats) from forest fragments as the cause of decline in the number of bird species (Freemark and Merriam 1986). The fact that the black-throated blue warbler was nearly absent in settled forest but the equally shrub layer associated American redstart and chestnut-sided warbler occurred at high densities suggested that the 2 latter species rather than a lack of habitat might have kept the black-throated blue warbler out of settled forest landscapes. The near absence of the black-throated blue warbler from settled forest landscapes however precluded the examination of any competitive interactions among the 3 species within this

land use category. The relationship among these species however was revealed by their relative densities within a higher range of forest cover in primary and managed forest landscapes. Within a forest cover range of >70-90%, there was enough variability in the northern hardwood forest with respect to forest cover, edge and canopy gaps, to significantly affect the relative densities of American redstart, black-throated blue warbler and chestnut-sided warbler. The fact (shown in the results of different analyses), that densities of black-throated blue warbler were lower in the presence of high densities of the American redstart and chestnut-sided warbler suggested that an interaction was occurring among these species.

It has been suggested that bird species select habitat at different spatial scales (Gutzwiller and Anderson 1987; Steele 1992). It is possible that the black-throated blue warbler avoids landscapes with reduced forest cover as an inherent habitat selection behavior since these landscapes would have higher densities of edge and edge-interior bird species. Given the proximity of settled forest to contiguous forest in this case, it is more probable that the black-throated blue warbler was kept out of suitable microhabitat patches within settled forest landscapes through competitive interactions with the 2 other species that prevented it from settling⁶. The high densities of edge and habitat generalist bird species in these landscapes could discourage the black-throated blue warbler from establishing territories⁷.

The blackburnian warbler was already rare in most of the managed forest even though this was contiguous forest and landscapes varied between 70- > 90% forest cover. The near absence of this species from settled forest could not be assessed in terms of loss of forest cover or forest fragmentation because of the confounding factor of loss of late

forest maturity conifer. If Lord and Norton's (1990) definition of habitat fragmentation as simply the disruption of continuity at any spatial scale is considered, loss of late forest maturity conifers would be a habitat fragmentation aspect because this loss would increase distances between sites that have suitable habitat and the chance that some of them will not be discovered. There were aspects in the relationship between blackburnian warbler density and the occurrence of late forest maturity conifers that suggested that there were no effects beyond those of habitat availability. The fact that densities of the blackburnian warbler were proportional to amounts of late forest maturity conifers in different northern hardwood forest strata (regression explained >80% in blackburnian warbler variability) suggested that the population was in equilibrium with its habitat, that is the occupancy rate of habitat was even across the managed forest. The similarity of older growth forest and primary forest sites with respect to blackburnian warbler densities that reflected their similarity in the amount of late maturity conifers suggested that the more discontinuous habitat in managed forest did not reduce the blackburnian warbler's ability to locate suitable sites.

There are several arguments that could be contemplated as to why with this severe loss of hemlock and white pine there was no evidence of fragmentation effects. One consideration is that both white pine and hemlock are long lived and slow growing species, such that in the absence of cutting, many decades would have to pass before there would be any change in their availability. Following the initial selective logging of white pine and hemlock which reduced the types in the present managed forest, the availability of hemlock or old pine in the landscape remained constant under forest management practices that preserved these species within the northern hardwood forest. In contrast to the shrub nesting species that have to track constantly changing patches of shrub growth, the blackburnian faces less stochasticity in its search of late forest maturity hemlock and white pine.

In forested habitat the blackburnian could also be utilizing other coniferous forest patches which would allow it to persist in the landscape⁸. In contrast to more simplified habitat in which most structural components would have been already lost and the species might not find a different patch type as a substitute (Karr 1982). In forest areas different types of coniferous forest patches would have different habitat quality but would still provide alternative habitats for some individuals which could then establish in the higher quality habitat when these are vacated. In highly simplified ecosystem this gradation of habitats might not exist.

The presence of competitor bird species appears to be an important factor affecting the density and distribution of the black-throated blue warbler. Because the shrub layer was highly dynamic, by sampling forest at different time intervals after a logging disturbance, a temporal dimension for the densities and relative densities of the blackthroated blue, American redstart and chestnut-sided warbler could be detected. Thus the relationship could be viewed along temporal and spatial dimensions. Although the blackthroated green could be a potential competitor for the blackburnian⁹, it was impossible to see their interactions in either temporal and spatial dimensions. How the species relate to each other along a temporal scale was precluded because of the length of time it takes conifer forest to establish. There was no sampling procedure that would allow observation of habitat dynamics, and the effects of the surrounding landscape on the interactions of the 2 species within the short time span of this study¹⁰.

The most abundant bird species in managed forest landscapes, the red-eyed vireo, least flycatcher, ovenbird and black-throated green warbler, remained abundant in settled forest landscapes although the black-throated green warbler and red-eyed vireo showed statistically significant declines. The ovenbird, red-eyed vireo and black-throated green warbler can be considered forest interior bird species (Ambuel and Temple 1982, 1983; Lynch and Whigham 1984; Askins and Philbrick. 1987; Robbins 1989; Askins et al. 1990) showing declines in regions where the forest has been severely reduced or fragmented (Wilcove 1985, Askins and Philbrick 1987, Hill and Hagan 1991). Because density alone is not sufficient to indicate the productivity status of the population or reflect habitat quality (Van Horn 1983), other population parameters would need to be sampled before habitat suitability for forest interior bird species in settled forest can be assessed. Because of the proximity of settled forest landscapes to managed forest landscapes, it is possible that high densities of these species were in part due to overflows from the more contiguous managed forest. Another possibility would be that high densities were due to habitat saturation. Population levels in primary and managed forest landscapes could have been at saturation levels and all other landscapes would have poorer habitat quality for forest interior bird species.

The ovenbird, red-eyed vireo, and black-throated green warbler are associated with a closed canopy forest that characteristically has poor shrub-layer development. This association might explain their ability to persist in closed canopied northern hardwood fragments in the settled forest. This type of habitat is abundant in the interior of second growth northern hardwood patches in settled forest. Shrub nesting bird species such as the black-throated blue warbler, have to depend on some form of canopy disturbance to open

it and stimulate the development of the sapling layer. In situations in which edge and edge -forest interior bird species are abundant such as occurred in the settled forest, edge bird species would be the species to first preempt the newly available habitat in the interior of the forest. Under closed canopy conditions, selected by the ovenbird, red-eyed vireo and black-throated green warbler, the interior of the forest patch is protected from edge bird species simply because these species do not find their necessary microhabitats under a closed forest canopy. That is the assemblage of species that are edge and edge interior birds that require a well developed shrub layer would not comprise any species that could invade the closed canopy forest fragments.

In bird conservation studies, the concepts involving forest fragmentation have evolved from landscapes in which the forest is reduced to fragments in a matrix that is nonforest. Models that have addressed the behavior of bird populations in such fragmented landscapes were largely influenced by the theory of island biogeography equilibrium proposed by MacArthur and Wilson (1967) in considering the spatial arrangement of fragments (for metapopulation models) or the distance from source populations, extinction and immigration rates as major factors affecting the persistence of a species in these environments.

Forest ecosystems however are subjected to periodic disturbance events that create temporary conditions in which fragmentation aspects could become elevated. In managed forest the northern hardwood forest is often interspersed with early successional forest that is periodically clearcut. Within the northern hardwood forest both selective logging and natural disturbance affect canopy cover and canopy gaps. The response of species to these disturbances would depend on their population levels at the time of disturbance (as

was indicated by the response of the black-throated blue warbler. American redstart, and chestnut-sided warbler in different land type associations in managed forest). Population levels in turn reflect the events and conditions leading up to the time of disturbance. There is undoubtably an element of stochasticity associated with the coincidence of population levels of species with logging disturbance that would affect the outcome of which species will preempt the sudden availability of habitat. Disturbance patterns and processes that are characteristic of a specific environment however affect the frequency with which certain events occur and their coincidence with other events. Conditions and events that tend to favor one species at the expense of another would themselves become characteristic of certain landscapes. In forested ecosystems the assemblages of bird species are more complete such that species overlap in their habitat. Bird species that overlap in their habitat can persist in the northern hardwood forest because of heterogeneity of landscapes, and complex interactions among dynamics of landscape characteristics, habitat availability, bird species populations and relationships among species. A directional change (one that persists) applied over a large part of an ecosystem would move it in a direction of forest conditions that could favor one species (which also could be a forest associated species) over another.

It should also be noted that once a disturbance event has unfolded, it can lead to a different scenario. For example if a disturbance by logging introduces an edge species in the interior of the forest then the next cycle of logging might further increase the population of edge species especially if the species is able to persist until the next disturbance event. The frequency of canopy disturbance and the time it takes population to decline after suitable habitat produced by canopy disturbance begins to decline are likely

factors determining whether edge species populations would remain in the interior of the forest at the beginning of another cycle.

In the second growth northern hardwood forest, the cycle of periodic logging started from habitat conditions that consisted of closed canopy, low edge and low shrub layer development. Although the density of the black-throated blue warbler would be limited by the lack of a good shrub layer development, the species would be protected from forest edge species. In the first cycle of logging shrub layer development would favor the black-throated blue warbler. Once edge species have established in the interior of the forest after the initial disturbance, it is likely their densities would build up with successive logging cycles until their densities and the density of the black-throated blue warbler reach an equilibrium. Because at this time most the second growth northern hardwood forest has only received one cycle of logging it is likely that the relative densities of the blackthroated blue warbler, American redstart and chestnut-sided warbler have not yet reached a state of equilibrium. Even if the intensity of logging and the amount of forest remain constant, the relative densities of these 3 species will likely change in favor of edge species.

At this time vagueness still surrounds the concept of forest fragmentation (Faaborg et al. 1995) with controversy focusing on what biological processes to link to it (Fahrig 1997). Because habitat loss must necessary occur for habitat to become fragmented, debate has revolved on whether fragmentation should be restricted to effects that occur beyond the effects of habitat loss or whether fragmentation should also include habitat loss (Haila 1986, Fahrig 1997). Such debate is considered necessary because conservation strategies that would need to be implemented would differ between the 2 different premises.

Some contentions about fragmentation would be relaxed if fragmentation was considered a process that had a temporal dimension. Fragmentation aspects in the northern hardwood forest which consisted of factors operating at different spatial scales suggested that fragmentation should be considered a complex process that involves different spatial scales and progresses with time to different levels. As a process fragmentation could be followed from initial stages starting with a highly forested system and would end in a highly fragmented ecosystem. This contrasts with most current conceptual models of fragmentation that have been developed for the end state of fragmentation and have had to progressively include more complexity to increase their representation of reality. Highly forested ecosystems, even when they are no longer representative of pristine forest conditions, as was herein described contain a compliment of forest bird species, and a diversity of landscape structures, far greater than what is typical in the more simplified landscapes consisting of woodlots imbedded in a landscape of nonforest. As was described for the black-throated blue warbler, processes that affect the decline of a bird species begin at such fine spatial scales that they are not detected as involving forest fragmentation

effects until the process has advanced to a level at which it becomes detectable at larger scales. At what point in the disintegration process would the term fragmentation be applied is a matter of definition. At initial stages, only a slight change in habitat conditions can cause an edge species to begin preempting habitat that previously was occupied by a forest interior bird species. Thus the replacement of a forest interior bird species by another species (a process associated with fragmentation) can occur before a forest fragmentation process is recognizable.

Lord and Norton's definition of discontinuity of habitat that could occur at any scale overlaps the effects of habitat loss because any habitat loss would result in some discontinuity. Discontinuity of habitat in a spatial dimension would only have biological significance however if it starts to exceed the species' dispersal ability, or the increase in search time starts to impact its productivity. The effect of habitat discontinuity in a spatial dimension alone was not evident for any of the species that were declining across strata of northern hardwood forest. Discontinuity in a temporal dimension could be viewed from the perspective of habitat becoming more suitable to a competitor species for a long enough time that the competitor gains ground over the original species.

That many changes in deciduous forest ecosystems can appear to be related to forest fragmentation stem from the fact many bird species in this biome are associated with shrub layer development and their densities affected by shrub layer dynamics. These species also show habitat separation along a gradient of forest cover. However species can begin to decline before forest cover is lost. It should be evident that the multitude of events that lead to change in the relative densities of bird species and the eventual local extinction of species cannot be recovered from the stage of a fragmented landscape as was

indicated in the case of the blackburnian warbler and black-throated blue warbler within settled forest. This aspect is one of the strongest arguments for the need to shift the emphasis in bird conservation from fragmented landscapes to forest ecosystems that are still functioning as forest ecosystems and to understand how these systems can disintegrate along temporal and spatial dimensions. It follows that while predation and cowbird parasitism could be important factors affecting the viability of forest bird species in highly fragmented landscapes, it is presuming to suggest that it is these factors that have caused the disintegration of the system and are the underlying cause of their current population levels.

BIRD CONSERVATION AND MANAGEMENT CONSIDERATIONS

1. Function of Primary Forest in Present Northern Hardwood Forest Ecosystems

The shortcoming of not having baseline data for forest disturbance processes, bird densities and habitat relationships among species, is the absence of models against which present day forest disturbances and forest temporal and spatial patterns can be assessed with respect to bird species adaptations. It is against such baseline data that directional change resulting from human induced disturbance can be assessed. There is a temptation to consider primary forest as a control to which human impacted forests can be compared. The amount of variability that was herein detected among northern hardwood landscapes within a single category of land use warns however against accepting differences between primary forest and secondary forest landscapes to be solely directional changes. As results of comparisons of landscapes within a category of land use revealed, landscapes differed with respect to many small scale habitat elements within the northern hardwood forest. Differences in the dynamics and densities of the black-throated blue warbler, American redstart and chestnut-sided warbler among the 3 land type associations replicating managed forest were previously discussed in detail. The Munising landscape for example was more similar to primary forest landscapes with respect to number of large canopy gaps than it was to the Rapid River and Manistique landscapes. The amount of edge differed among primary forest landscapes, while it was non- existent in the McCormick Wilderness Area, shoreline in Sylvania and the Huron Mountains produced edge habitat. It should be evident that landscapes could vary in a multitude of ways because a multitude of habitat conditions can be produced by the interaction of different features that are inherent to geophysical characteristics of landscapes and disturbance activities superimposed over them.

Ecological classification systems such as the regionalization of Michigan landscapes (Albert et al. 1986; landscapes described by Pregitzer et al 1984; Simpson et al. 1990, Spies and Barnes (1985) and the land classification systems underway on the Hiawatha National Forest and the Ottawa National Forest, reveal a high level of variability among landscapes with respect to geomorphological features, and local climate. These differences in geomorphological features also produce differences in natural disturbance frequencies (Turner 1987, Simpson et al. 1990) which in turn affects the balance between northern hardwood forest succeeding to hemlock vs its persisting as a sugar maple dominated forest. For landscapes dominated by northern hardwood forest, the frequency of disturbance will determine the relative composition of the landscape in terms of late maturity conifers or more sugar dominated deciduous forest¹¹. Because only a tiny fraction of the area formerly occupied by the original northern hardwood forest is left in the Upper Peninsula and across the Great Lakes Region, the range of variability that existed in the primary forest among landscapes has been reduced. Thus to infer that management induced changes have occurred from general comparisons between managed and remaining primary forest would be inadequate because the full range of variability of the primary forest would not have been captured.

Several facts can be used as arguments that the primary forest does not represent pristine conditions¹². From a regional level (scale of the whole Upper Peninsula or Northern Great Lakes) a well documented change is the greater interspersion of forest with openland; a directional change that has favored edge species. The density of the white-tailed deer has increased many fold in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan after the large scale clearcutting and the growth of the secondary forest (Doepker et al. 1995). Deer in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan concentrate in hemlock forest during the winter. Because distances that white-tailed deer in the Upper Peninsula travel in their movements from summer range to winter yarding areas can be upwards of 30 km (Van Deelen 1995), all primary forest landscapes comprising extensive areas of hemlock forest are vulnerable. Thus even though large areas (several square miles) were selected to represent primary forest landscapes these would still be below the spatial scales of deer movements.

A large body of information exists concerning the impact of deer browsing in primary forest on the shrub layer (Anderson and Loucks 1979, Alverson et al. 1988, Miller et al. 1992). Heavy impacts of deer browsing in the Sylvania Recreational Area have been a long time concern (Webb et al. 1956). Directional changes in forest conditions that have

affected shrub cover in primary northern hardwood ecosystems would have negatively affected the black-throated blue warbler and other shrub nesting bird species. Early accounts of the nesting habits of the black-throated blue warbler describe it as a specialized woodland bird (Pearson 1936). Bent (1963) also described it as commonly nesting in Canada yew in deep mature woods. Among the plant species that have nearly been decimated from changes in forest conditions is Canada yew (Braun 1950). The large scale decimation of Canada yew has been associated with changes in ecological conditions with the establishment of secondary forest following large scale clearcutting (Braun 1950). In primary forest however, deer browsing has been blamed for vegetation structure and compositional changes in understory vegetation including a broad scale decimation of Canada yew (Braun 1950, Anderson and Loucks 1979, Allison 1990).

An historical reduction in the shrub layer within the primary forest implies that densities of shrub layer associated bird species that were herein reported for the primary northern hardwood forest would not be representative of their former densities in pristine forest (former primary forest before the large scale ecological changes). The association of these species with the sapling layer that is largely renewed by logging in managed forest might also be a phenomenon that is part of the directional change that the northern hardwood forest has undergone after the large scale clearcutting.

Regional declines of forest interior bird species would affect their immigration rates into the primary forest. Cook (1904) described the black-throated blue warbler as one of the most common migrants at several migration passage points in the U.S. Early records describing the distribution of the black-throated blue warbler as abundant and its range extending well into southern Michigan (Pearson 1936). The distribution of the black-throated blue warbler has been shrinking in Michigan such that its present distribution is mostly restricted to the northern part of the state (Binford 1991). The reduction of the species distribution and early accounts of its nesting habits should caution about describing this species niche and habitat relationships from its present distribution and habitat. This point is important because not realizing the full potential of a species habitat use and the extent of the different environmental conditions under which it existed and associated with other bird species would limit management options because of forgotten information.

In today's forested landscapes primary forest landscapes adds to the total heterogeneity of the northern hardwood forest by stretching the gradients of forest cover at the landscape scale, amount of total late maturity conifers and forest edge (lower end). Significantly higher amounts of late forest maturity conifers presents the greatest opportunity to reserve habitat for the blackburnian warbler. Long term viability of the black-throated blue is most probable in primary forest because a high forest cover and in general lower amount of forest edge provide the greatest safeguard against edge species. Even when shrub layer development is limiting, the black-throated blue warbler will occur at low density but will be protected from high densities of edge species.

While there are limitations to what the primary forest could reveal about historical changes in the relative densities of bird species, primary forest landscapes can be setup as controls to monitor ongoing changes in the forest. Since less human disturbance occurs within primary forest reserves, long term monitoring of these landscapes would elucidate how changes in forest conditions at regional levels (or in surrounding landscapes) would affect species inflow into them and impact bird densities.

2. Function of the Managed Forest

Major characteristics of the managed forest that were uncovered by comparisons with primary forest and settled forest were related to shrub layer dynamics. Logging disturbance was a dominant organizing force in second growth forest at the level of a land type association that affected densities of shrub layer associated bird species. The effects of land type association acted in conjunction with logging disturbance to affect the relative response of bird species and the patterns of their response following logging. The fact that densities of both forest interior and area sensitive species as well as edge associated species peaked several years following logging disturbance revealed as was previously discussed that shrub layer development was limiting forest interior bird species densities in managed forest while logging disturbance enhanced the suitability of the interior of the forest to edge related bird species. Thus the managed forest can be looked upon as providing an environment that blended habitat suitability for edge species with that of forest interior bird species.

Heterogeneity of forest conditions in the managed forest became apparent through contrasts of habitat variables and bird species densities across its different forest disturbance period and land type associations strata. Heterogeneity of forest conditions with respect to how the black-throated blue warbler, American redstart and chestnut-sided warbler perceive the environment however became only apparent through contrasts of these species densities among strata that consisted of defined ranges for a combination of factors that included canopy opening, shrub layer development, length of forest edge and forest cover at a landscape basis. The fact densities of each of these 3 species differed significantly (at 0.05 level) among the strata delineated based on these specified criteria
established that heterogeneity in forest conditions along these derived dimensions was of biological significance to a forest interior bird species and to its edge species potential competitors. The strata were not represented by geographically defined areas as stratification by land type association would be. The relative contribution of different geographical locations of the forest to these derived strata was not determined by this study¹³. The spatial pattern of different types of patches that define different forest conditions (that are differently suitable to the black-throated blue, American redstart and chestnut-sided warbler) thus could not be viewed spatially. A number of situations establish that the grain of such patchiness would be finer than the patchiness associated with the forest patch delineated based on the last logging operation event. Canopy reduction (one of the variables affecting habitat suitability that differently affected edge and area sensitive species) by selective logging produces finer patchiness than the delineated area for selective logging. In selective logging either single or several trees are removed from a small area. Thus because canopy reduction is patchy, bird census stations from within the same logged site would fall within different strata of canopy opening. Point samples from within a single site would also fall in different strata delineated on the basis of a mount of forest edge (within 500m) depending on whether they were close to forest edges or a great distance away. Forest cover patchiness was coarse grain in that it included patches of different forest types. Bird census stations from the same sampling site were frequently included within the same stratum defining an interval of forest cover.

The managed forest that was herein considered consisted of northern hardwood ecosystems within the core of the Hiawatha National Forest. The need to consider

managed forest as an integral part of lands available for the conservation of forest bird species stems from the fact that most forested areas in the U.S. are managed. The range of forest cover that was available within the managed forest on the Hiawatha National Forest would likely overlap ranges of other managed forest areas across the northern Great Lakes. The heterogeneity in forest conditions encountered within the managed forest included ranges of forest conditions that were suitable to bird species that declined in settled forest. This confers upon the managed forest a potential for the conservation of forest interior and bird species that like the blackburnian warbler require specific habitat elements or like the black-throated blue warbler require large forest areas. The heterogeneity of managed forest however also increases the risk for these same species because it exposes them to increased levels of competition from more habitat generalist species. For the blackburnian warbler, the managed forest presented more suitable habitat to the black-throated green warbler. With respect to the black-throated blue warbler the managed forest presented suitable habitat to edge bird species.

3. Viewing the Northern Hardwood Forest as an Open System vs a Closed System, at Equilibrium or Undergoing Directional Change.

A hierarchical approach was used to organize the heterogeneity that exists in the northern hardwood forest. This northern hardwood forest ecosystem however is itself imbricated within higher level systems along with other ecosystems with which it exchanges materials, by which it is affected and which in turn it affects (see Tansley 1935, Reiners 1983, Delcourt et al. 1984, Noss 1992). Viewing the northern hardwood forest as an open system that exchanges populations with other hardwood forest and other forest

systems has very different consequences with respect to bird conservation than viewing it as a closed system which exists by itself. In an open system view, the value conferred upon the northern hardwood forest depends upon its capacity to produce an overflow of species that have declined in other ecosystems. Thus the attributes that increase the capacity of the system to produce such species would be enhanced. Management of the ecosystem would seek to keep or restore a greater part of the system to a condition that can produce these species. In a closed system view, the emphasis would be in maintaining the greatest diversity of species. Forest management would emphasize enhancing heterogeneity in the system through human induced disturbance. This heterogeneity would include providing a range of conditions that would comprise the habitat suitability a large number of species. Differences in the 2 approaches can be easily illustrated with respect to the black-throated blue warbler that has declined in many ecosystems. In an open ecosystem view, properties of the ecosystem that enhances the protection and productivity of the black-throated blue warbler such as reduction of edge, maintenance of a low canopy cover, and high forest cover would be applied over most of the system. In a closed view of the northern hardwood forest ecosystem, heterogeneity of forest conditions would be maintained to enhance all species even if this consisted of applying disturbance levels and disturbance frequencies that deviate from intensities and frequencies of naturally occurring events.

The northern hardwood ecosystem was herein described within a minuscule time span (90+ years) with respect to the time it took the system to develop (see Davis 1981, Pielou 1991, Tyrell and Crow 1993). This time frame however was sufficient to provide some insight into some dynamics, patterns and structures within the ecosystem. It can be

inferred that the system is progressing into the future, but the direction it is taking to some extent is determined by the structures, patterns and functions of present forest.

There are thus different ways to view a northern hardwood forest along a temporal dimension. Viewed on a short term basis management would only be concerned with immediate changes in the ecosystem. Effects of disturbance imposed by management would be assessed by monitoring changes at the individual project level by assessing the effects just prior and just after disturbance events. On a short term management basis little consideration is given to the state of the ecosystem decades into the future. It is evident that the assessment of disturbance effects would differ greatly between the 2 methods. In the short term basis any disturbance imposed by logging would appear to have a positive effect. The black-throated blue warbler would appear to be positively associated with disturbance of logging. However as has been described of its interactions between the American redstart, chestnut-sided warbler over the long term, the black-throated blue warbler might be loosing ground to the edge tolerant species. The long term effect of applying frequent disturbance on the northern hardwood forest would depend on the interaction of many factors and cannot be known from simple monitoring of before and after monitoring. Only modeling of population dynamics, habitat dynamics under different assumptions of forest disturbance level and under different assumptions of spatial and temporal arrangement of disturbance events and landscape conditions can a view emerge of what the long term future condition of the ecosystem would be like.

4. Aspects to Consider in the Development of Bird Conservation Strategies

1. A first step to the conservation of forest birds in the northern hardwood forest is to establish which bird species should receive management priority. Bird species that need to be prioritized are those that have suffered population declines from known directional changes in the northern hardwood forest ecosystem that have occurred at a regional level. The blackburnian warbler and the black-throated blue warbler should receive priority in the herein described northern hardwood forest ecosystem .

2. Assess the suitability of different land type associations comprising a component of northern hardwood forest with respect to their potential for providing large areas of habitat suitable for the long term sustainability of black-throated blue warbler and blackburnian warbler populations. For the black-throated blue warbler, suitable land type associations would comprise continuous forest that is dominated by northern hardwood forest and older growth northern hardwood forest. For the blackburnian warbler land type associations that contain large areas of older growth northern hardwood forest comprising components of hemlock and white pine and that is intermixed with hemlock and hemlock white pine forest types would be most suitable.

3- Delineate core areas to provide areas for the long term sustainability of the black-throated blue warbler and blackburnian warbler. In these areas management strategies include the protection of black-throated blue warbler from edge species and enhancement of the hemlock component for the blackburnian warbler. Within a land type association, older growth northern hardwood forest areas and adjacent northern hardwood forest areas should be delineated as core areas for both the blackburnian and blackthroated blue warbler. Early successional forest and forest openings within the core areas (area should be in the extent of a 1,000 ha) should be allowed to succeed to northern hardwood forest. Shrub layer development could be enhanced by light canopy disturbance in areas adjacent to older growth, while the older growth itself would act as a buffer against edge species. Enhancement of hemlock regeneration should occur within older growth forest where the blackburnian is already present and in forest areas adjacent to older growth. The reintroduction of Canada yew or its propagation should be encouraged. Management guidelines for areas adjacent to older growth should include maintenance of low edge, relatively low canopy disturbance (removal of single trees rather than group selection and shelterwood methods), and longer intervals between canopy disturbance events (>20 years). Canopy disturbance should occur in small areas at one time (5-10 hectares) separated by larger undisturbed areas. Logging operations that covers 100s of hectare at one time should not be undertaken in these core areas.

4. Develop general forest management guidelines for all northern hardwood forest and guidelines for all logging operations within northern hardwood forest. The interspersion of early successional forest, pine plantations and forest openings close to northern forest should be discouraged. Areas already in these states should be reverted back to northern hardwood forest. Smaller less intensive logging operations that are undertaken over a longer period of time should be encouraged over intensive logging operations. The treatment of 10s of hectares every 5-6 years in an area of several hundred hectares would be less likely to establish forest edge species within the interior of the forest than operations that treat hundreds of hectares at once every 15 years. Smaller less intensive operations spaced over a long time will maintain availability of a shrub layer in the interior of the forest without providing the opportunity for edge bird species to invade.

Logging roads should be maintained to the narrowest possible widths and openings in northern hardwood forest should be eliminated.

5. Develop sampling strategies to monitor long term changes in relative abundance of edge species and the black-throated blue warbler in core areas. Sampling strategies could also be used to evaluate densities of the black-throated blue warbler in core areas compared to its densities in other northern hardwood forest areas not slated specifically for its management. This sampling should however also be carried out over a long term basis because the black-throated blue warbler densities are likely to peak and then fall sharply with periodic logging. The long term relative response of populations of blackthroated blue warbler and American redstart with successive logging cycles cannot be known from short term sampling. (It would take many decades for hemlock planting or regeneration to begin enhancing habitat availability for the blackburnian warbler. Monitoring of blackburnian warbler and black-throated green warbler populations however could be used to assess fluctuations in the relative population densities of the 2 bird species which over time would indicate if directional change is occurring).

CONCLUSIONS

1- Bird species declines in a northern hardwood forest ecosystem can occur long before the effects are recognized as forest fragmentation (involving loss of forest cover). When the degradation involves a habitat fragmentation dimension, the process can begin at small spatial scales and does not emerge at larger scales until it has become relatively advanced. In a forest ecosystem in which the assemblages of bird species is more complete, directional change in forest conditions is mediated by interactions between

species. Species that are the most habitat specialist would likely be replaced by forest species that are more habitat generalist.

2- One reason why degradation of the deciduous forest biome has been associated with forest fragmentation might involve the association of many bird species with the shrub layer and their habitat distribution along gradients of canopy cover and forest cover. Changes of forest canopy cover and forest cover (at the landscape scale) exposes the most forest interior bird species to edge species.

3- Bird species that are associated with a closed canopy, low shrub layer development are less likely to be outcompeted by edge species. These species are likely to persist in closed canopied second growth, northern hardwood forest fragments as long as the canopy remains closed.

4. Degradation of the system (loss of species or habitat elements) can be along a gradient that is not related to forest fragmentation as the loss of late forest maturity conifers would be. For the blackburnian a discontinuity in availability of habitat along a temporal scale is more limiting that the spatial arrangement of habitat fragments. A severe loss of a habitat element that takes a long time to recover favors a more habitat generalist species (e.g. the black-throated green warbler). The presence of high densities of a habitat generalist might itself instill a further change in habitat conditions for the original species.

5. Because the northern hardwood forest is still recovering from the large scale clearcutting at the turn of the century and because the cycle of logging of the second growth forest is recent, the northern hardwood forest would not have likely reached an equilibrium with respect to the relative densities of the black-throated blue warbler, American redstart and chestnut-sided warbler. Long term effects of successive cycles of logging in the northern hardwood forest on the relative abundance of these species cannot be determined from short term bird censuses that are designed to sample densities just before and just after a disturbance event.

6. The complex interaction of factors that create heterogeneity in the northern hardwood forest should warn against predicting the future state of bird species populations at an ecosystem level from forest disturbance effects observed within a narrow time interval and within a limited area.

FOOTNOTES

Footnotes for Chapter 1: Introduction

1. The term "northern hardwoods" is given to an association of many different tree species that includes sugar maple, American beech, yellow birch, hemlock, red maple, American basswood, white pine, black cherry, American elm, white ash, and balsam fir (Nichol 1935, Graham 1941, Braun 1950, Tubbs and Goodman 1983). Characteristic species however are sugar maple, American beech, yellow birch and hemlock.

2. A land type association is a land unit delineation in a hierarchical land classification system adopted by the US Forest Service. At the level of a land type association, delineations of the different units are based on local climate and landform. A more complete explanation of land type association and how it fits into a hierarchical land classification system is given in the chapter 'Methodology' under the heading 'Hierarchy of physical and climatic factors affecting forest heterogeneity'.

Footnotes for Chapter 2: Methodology

1. Wiens (1989) discussed how habitat relationships among species are dependent on the spatial scale at which these relationships are being investigated. An example he gave was of habitat relationships between the American redstart and the least flycatcher: a competitive relationship appears at a scale of 4 ha and that of positive association appears at larger scales (regional scales).

2. Schoener (1966) gives the size of feeding territories of several warbler species to be a fraction of a hectare. Morse (1976) gives a range of nesting territory sizes for black-throated green warbler and blackburnian to be in the range of 0.2 -0.5 ha and for the yellow-rumped warbler and magnolia warblers to be in the range between 0.7-0.9 ha. Cody (1978) gives an approximation of the size of territories of old world sylviid warbler species (counterparts to the parulid warblers in the new world) to be 0.5 ha.

3. The fine scale at which birds select habitat has been supported by many field studies (Hilden 1965) in which removal of an individual from its territory results in another of the same species replacing it.

4. An area around a singing male bird was often used to approximate the location of the nesting territory and to measure habitat selection by the species during the breeding season (James 1971).

5. Anderson and Shugart (1974), and Rotenberry and Wiens (1980) found differences between vegetation characteristics measured within sites occupied by individual bird species and unoccupied sites within study plots that would be considered homogeneous in vegetation structure and composition (at the study plot level). The spatial resolution at which most songbird species select their habitat is finer than the spatial resolution used for managing forest resources: that is birds can perceive patchiness within land areas that are considered uniform for management purposes. The averaging of vegetation measurements over a space that appears heterogeneous to bird species would mask vegetation characteristics that individual bird species select and habitat differences among bird species. This point was used by Wiens and Rotenberry (1981) to argue for the need to understand species specific habitat needs at relevant spatial scales in the management of bird communities rather than depend on bird community characteristics (species diversity and richness) or broader based habitat characteristics.

6. The concept of a landscape in organism-based biology is relatively recent. The concept of a landscape has long before been used in land classification. A landscape concept has been recently introduced into forest management to be a level above the unit of management which is the stand. A spatial scale in the range of 100s-1000s of hectares presents a perspective of higher level patchiness. At this level the spatial configuration of different management schemes and of different forest types (e.g. early successional forest vs long-lived forest types, old-growth vs managed forest) emerges.

7. The importance of population sources have been best revealed by the disappearance of forest bird species from woodlots in which the vegetation structure (at the microhabitat level) had not changed but forest had been lost from the larger landscape (Lynch and Whitcomb 1978; Askins and Philbrick 1987, Askins et al. 1987). Much of what is known about dispersal and the greater landscape has been revealed from landscapes in which the forest had become patchy invoking the theory of island biogeography (McArthur and Wilson 1967). In forested regions, environmental resistance and patchiness of source populations would be more difficult to assess because environmental patchiness would be perceived differently by different species.

8. The spatial scale of a region as used here is at a level of a large part of a state (level of a 'Section' in the definition of ecological units as presented in Ecomap (USDA-Forest Service 1993).

9. With the introduction of a hierarchy perspective (Allen and Star 1982), heterogeneity in the forest could be assigned to different scales. Many bird community studies were restricted to the level of a habitat and did not consider heterogeneity that would be due to differences in the spatial configuration of habitat patches at broader spatial scales. With the increase in spatial extent of more recent studies (covering different regions) the need to consider a hierarchy becomes more evident. This is because the relationships found within lower levels (habitat types) might be affected by higher levels in the hierarchy. For example the relationship between a species and a habitat type might not be constant across regions.

10. The relationship of 2 species can be examined by assessing the relative occupancy of patches (territory level) of known characteristics by 2 species within a habitat type in a landscape of known characteristics; then moving to a different landscape (of different characteristics) and investigating the relative occupancy of same (territory level) habitat patches in the same habitat by the 2 species. Alternatively within the same habitat in the same landscape one could examine the occupancy of (territory level) patches of different characteristics by the 2 species. In either case looking at the occupancy of the 2 species in larger areas (larger than the scale at which discrimination between patches is occurring) would mask differences between the species. The 2 species will appear correlated (to the habitat type and not to individual types of smaller patches).

11. In the Robbins et al. (1989) study, of the 3 measures of % forest cover within 1 km, 2 km and 3 km from the point of bird censusing, the abundance of bird species were most correlated with forest cover within 2 km.

12. Readily available delineations of the forest based on habitat availability of different bird species at the microhabitat level, and forest fragmentation variables at both the microhabitat and landscape level (here considered within 1.6 km and 500 m) do not exist. Ideal delineations of strata that would be organism defined (that show either density or population productivity differences) could start from the bottom up by classifying land units the size of bird territories based on some vegetation structure characteristic associated with a population parameter of that particular species. Adjacent small size units that are similar with respect to the defined variable would be combined to form a patch. A spatial pattern of like patches becomes apparent at some higher spatial scale. Different patterns of patchiness could become obvious at increasingly higher levels of spatial scale. It might be possible in this manner to relate the pattern of patchiness at one level to some underlying environmental variables. For example the patches of coniferous trees within a patch of northern hardwood forest patch could be related to topography and aspect

13. The effects of forest changes on bird species have been described qualitatively in various treatises (Bond 1957, Brewer 1991) but these descriptive accounts do not provide the quantification needed for strong causal inference.

14. The Upper Great Lakes region has only recently been affected by anthropogenic activities and these have been minimal relative to human impacts in other geographical regions in the world.

15. Landuse is an extraneous factor to naturally occurring environmental factors that determine the hierarchical nature of ecosystems in the natural world as described by Allen and Star (1982). It is only the naturally occurring environmental factors which have

provided the theoretical basis for the hierarchy in ecological land classification systems. Land use however has a dominant influence in modifying the multi-scaled heterogeneity that has developed naturally at this geographic location. Forested ecosystems in the Northern Great Lakes provide unique opportunities to study the effects of human-caused disturbance because of the large patchiness in which different land uses occur and because of the fact primary forest still exists in several large areas.

16. The land use and land type association categories are large enough (in area) that bird density patterns that emerge at their scales would be expected to be affected more by intrinsic factors (i.e. habitat suitability and population productivity) affecting bird species operating within these patches and less by extrinsic factors (immigration from other source areas). [Information from biological reserves indicates that the larger the area the less it would be affected by outside processes such as bird immigration into the area (Blake and Karr 1984; Lord and Norton 1990, Harris and Silva-Lopez 1992, Noss 1983, Ambuel and Temple 1982, Robinson 1988)].

17. Because forest landscapes have been drastically altered outside of forest reserves, processes that occur over broad scales (e.g. deer migration) could still affect structure and composition of the forest inside forest reserves.

18. Logging creates canopy openings in locations where trees are removed. In these locations forest maturation processes are set back. The state of the vegetation structure therefore depends on the time that had elapsed since logging. The patchiness created by logging is laid over preexisting patchiness caused by other factors such as small scale soil variation, topography, aspect and past disturbance. Factors that have contributed to previously existing patchiness are likely to have different spatial scales than that in which logging is undertaken such that the overlaying of cutting creates a variety of new patchiness. Northern hardwood forest grows on mesic soils so it occupies those areas in the land type association in which mesic conditions dominate. The patches of northern hardwood forest within a land type association would match the level of 'land type' in the hierarchy of ecological units (Ecomap-USDA Forest Service 1993). Patchiness at this scale represents very fine variation in aspect, slope, soils, and plant associations. Small scale patchiness within the northern hardwood forest across a land type association would be similar because they occur on the same soil type, landform, rock type and are exposed to the same geomorphic processes and local climate. For the same silvicultural treatment (logging methodology) this small scale patchiness would only differ based on the time elapsed after logging disturbance.

19. The term older growth is used to refer to forest that forest managers recognize to have an age class and tree species composition that are more typical of the primary forest than of the secondary forest that developed after intense logging or clearcutting. The term older growth is however used rather than primary forest because it is not with absolute certainty that the area was not logged and the intensity or selectivity of logging (other than clearcutting) when it did occur is unknown.

20. Specific vegetation variables measured and methodology of sampling vegetation are described under Sampling of Microhabitat Variables in the Methodology Section of Field Methods.

21. A list of features that were considered forest edge is given in 'Locating Bird Census Stations' in the section of Field Methods in the chapter Methodology.

22. The specific variables that quantified fragmentation at different spatial scales and the statistical analyses used are discussed in 'Effects of Interactions of Habitat Fragmentation Related Aspects of Forest with Habitat Availability on Bird Species' in the Section Statistical Techniques in Methodology. Here only a broad overview of the study design is presented.

23. The details of these analyses are given in Statistical Techniques section of the Methodology chapter.

24. Alternatively some initial stratification of the sampling units could have been retained and the sampling units from each of the strata post stratified separately to new spatial scales. Sampling units from different strata of land use, managed forest, primary forest and settled forest, or from different land type associations could have been analyzed separately. The individual land use would not provide the full range of values for some fragmentation variables; for example settled forest might not have any sampling units that would fall in a stratum of high % forest cover. There would however be a management interest in comparisons of different land type associations within a land use category. Only the comparison of land type associations in primary forest would reveal the effects of land type association on forest fragmentation. For managed forest what would be revealed by a comparison of land type association is the intertwined effects of forest management with inherent land type association characteristics. The number of sampling units from each strata limited the possibility of carrying out separate analyses. Contribution of different land uses to groups representing different ranges of fragmentation values at the 2 spatial scales can however be uncovered by assessing the contribution of each land type association within a specific land use to the different groups.

25. The present delineation of stands has developed gradually. Through the years, different foresters have made decisions on where to place stand boundaries. Aerial photographs have been used to delineate boundaries of different forest types. Streams, rivers, roads have been used to subdivide areas that appear homogeneous in a photograph into smaller units. Because the delineation of stands have not followed consistent methodology through the years, it is now difficult to derive a well set of criteria to define how stands differ from one another or to find a consistent spatial resolution that went into the delineation of stands. Stands widely differ in size, usually between several hectares to hundreds of hectares. Some stands could comprise high heterogeneity in the vegetation structure, topography and could comprise many easily recognizable patch types.

26. The hierarchy of units below a spatial scale of a national forest include (as presented in USDA-Forest Service National Hierarchical Framework of Ecological Units 1993).

I) land type association in which landform complexes and local climate are dominant factors. These factors produce repeatable patterns of soil complexes and plant communities (USDA. 1993)

ii)land types differences in the units is based on soils, landform (example Kalkaska soil, end moraine). They are mapped in the field based on local topography and vegetation.

iii)Land type phase. Finer division of land types, based on very local site conditions, slope, aspect, topographic position.

27. Because factors causing the heterogeneity at different spatial scales, and the relationship between units at different scales are well defined, there is justification for relating the ecology of organisms to the physical-vegetative environment than do stands as they are delineated for management purposes.

28. Although parameters such as diameter at breast height and basal area are averaged over the area comprising a management unit (stand), this should not be considered an indication that the stand is homogeneous with respect to these parameters. Since the range of values and the variance of ecological parameters (soils, slope, vegetation communities) are not apriori set for their delineations, stands as management units do not represent consistent ecological units.

29. Although silvicultural treatments are usually applied over a whole management unit (stand), occasionally only a portion of a stand receives a treatment. In such a case only the area of the stand that has received the logging treatment would be suitable to represent the respective stratum of time elapsed after logging. Alternatively when several adjacent stands are treated at the same time, the total area receiving the treatment was included in the respective stratum of time elapsed after logging.

30. The 'CDS database' is incomplete for management prior to 1979 and for areas that had not received active management. Such information was found in old compartment records.

31. Presence of black cherry often indicates past logging and burning.

32. There were 2 instances in which a class of time elapsed since last disturbance was not represented in a land type association.

33. This is especially true for comparisons of vegetation variables and bird densities among 3 replicate land type associations within a land use category. For the category of

managed forest, separate comparisons among the 3 land type associations were undertaken for each class of time elapsed after disturbance.

34. In managed forest, each of the patches of continuous forest that represents a stratum of northern hardwood forest (e.g. logged 1-5 years ago) represented an area logged at one time. Traditional studies addressing the effects of logging on bird densities often consider a patch (stand or plot) as a replicate of that logging treatment. The perspective herein taken is not that of testing the effects of logging on areas of a specified size and shape, and of particular characteristics. The objective was to determine the general effects of (selective) logging when superimposed over many other factors of heterogeneity, on land units the size of bird territories and when viewed at the level of the entire northern hardwood forest ecosystem. Little was known about the individual logging treatments (only that it was selective logging and undertaken within a specified period of time). Furthermore, the size and the shape of the patches varied, thus the effects of individual treatments on different points within a patch varied depending on the larger vicinity of the point.

One aspect of spatial data is autocorrelation. It indicates points that are closer to each other to be more similar than points that are farther apart. Although the northern hardwood forest model did not include the effects of the patch (site), spatial autocorrelation and individual patch effects were later examined by testing for significance among different patches that were included within a stratum specified by the model. An F test examined if variability of bird census stations within a patch was less than the variability among patches. Within patch variability was compared to among patch variability of bird census stations in each of 2 strata of forest disturbance periods within each of 2 land type associations. All bird variables (10 bird species), and the vegetation variables representing % canopy opening, number of gaps >50-100m2, % ground cover by shrub layer, and number of coniferous trees were compared. Of 40 F tests of significance that compared within patch and among patch variance of bird densities, 4 were statistically significant at 0.05 level. None of the vegetation variables showed a significant difference among patches. A conclusion was therefore reached that the patch had no effect beyond the stratification already included in the model (that is lumping together of bird census stations from a single forest disturbance period within a land type association was justifiable).

35. In most cases, censuses by 2 individuals were treated as practice runs and were not part of the data set. In the cases where the census data became part of the data set, only the data from an assigned censuser (and not the companion's data) were considered.

36. The matching of bird density patterns with habitat availability patterns across model strata was part of the analytical pathway followed to assess the relative effects of habitat availability and habitat fragmentation aspects on bird density.

37. The strata of 'unlogged second growth forest' and 'older growth forest' were each represented in only 2 of the 3 replicate managed forest landscapes due to their unavailability in all 3 landscapes.

38. I used univariate rather than multivariate regression because the relationships among the habitat variables were not linear across strata of the northern hardwood forest system sampled. This non-linearity was later demonstrated by interactions among variables in different strata of the model that affected bird densities. Some variables affected a species density only within certain 'periods of forest disturbance' and certain ranges of forest cover. Variables that had an effect in one strata, failed to have an effect in the instance of another variable becoming more limiting under different forest conditions.

39. In these comparisons of managed forest with settled forest and primary forest, managed forest is assumed to comprise an equal proportion of the 5 forest disturbance periods. In reality the older growth stratum is over represented in the data since little older growth remains in the managed forest.

40. In the program Distance Sampling used to census birds, there was no way to identify whether the bird recorded at a station was breeding or simply occurred there as a vagrant. To reduce the probability of recording vagrants, only those bird census stations in which the species occurred at densities above 80 birds/km2 were selected to represent the breeding habitat of a species. The black-throated blue warbler was commonly encountered. Habitat conditions at bird census stations at which the species occurred above its mean density of (51.2 + 4.65) were considered representative of its habitat selection.

41. Because of the blackburnian warbler's low density in the forest, its presence even at very low densities could reflect its habitat selection. The assumption made here is that the probability of encountering the blackburnian as an overflow into marginal habitat is lower than it is for the more abundant American redstart and black-throated blue warbler.

Footnotes for Chapter 3: Results.

1. An Anova of mean density differences between settled forest and a hypothetical forest in which all 5 strata of forest disturbance periods were equally represented (including the older growth stratum) yielded a p value of 0.157 which is not significant at the 1% level. This p value would be even greater if the older growth forest strata was considered to be < 1/5 of the managed forest. That is there would be a smaller difference between the density of blackburnian warbler in managed forest than in settled forest. Under present conditions the older growth forest makes up only a very small percentage of the total managed forest.

2. These comparisons are not completely independent from the regression in which bird density and LMCON were averaged for the 7 strata of 'forest disturbance periods' and 'land use'. In regression however different patterns of the data can result in the same r^2 value and regression coefficient. These comparisons therefore give slightly more detail about the relationship of micro habitat availability and habitat selected by the blackburnian warbler and black-throated green warbler separately for each stratum. 3. In the stratum 'logged 1-5 years ago' the blackburnian density was higher than in the other strata of ' managed forest landscapes' excepting the older-growth stratum but these density differences were not statistically significant

4. It should be understood that a reduction of canopy cover in the strata of 1-5 years after logging does not imply that canopy cover was reduced in the habitat patches selected by the blackburnian. Habitat selection occurs at a spatial scale smaller than the area representing a stratum. The blackburnian can find patches of coniferous trees which differed in mean canopy cover from the mean canopy cover of the stratum. Mean density of the blackburnian warbler however aggregated over the stratum of disturbance period reflected the slightly higher mean for coniferous trees in this stratum in spite of the reduction in canopy cover.

5. The blackburnian warbler was only encountered once in settled forest landscapes and as a result it was not possible to compare its micro habitat selection with that of the black-throated green warbler in settled forest landscapes.

6. A separate regression was applied to regress bird densities on values of woody stems for each different strata of northern hardwood forest.

7. Differences between the black-throated blue warbler, American redstart and chestnut-sided warbler are for the whole range of northern hardwood forest heterogeneity covered in this study. As was previously presented, over the variability that appeared in the whole range of northern hardwood forest that was sampled, both the American redstart and chestnut-sided warbler were positively associated with % canopy opening CANOPEN, and with number of large canopy gaps >100m2 (GAP>100) in contrast to the black-throated blue warbler that showed no response to either CANOPEN or GAP>100 (Table 4).

8. Logging was not associated with an increase in the number of large canopy gaps >100m2

9. Mean number of canopy gaps>100m2, % canopy cover, and number of deciduous woody stems <0.5 were compared among the 3 species groups, black-throated blue warbler, American redstart, and chestnut-sided warbler. To calculate each of the 3 bird species means for these variables, only bird census stations at which the density of the respective bird species was > 80 birds / km2 were used

10. As previously discussed, the black-throated blue warbler dropped out in 'settled forest'. The fact micro habitat effects and landscape effects were confounded in settled forest also precluded further detailed investigation of individual variable effects.

11. Please see the section 'Statistical Techniques' and Table D28 for details about this 3-way ANOVA.

12 The effects of forest disturbance were incorporated by considering canopy gaps, shrub layer development and canopy opening. These however are micro-habitat level effects. Forest management effects at the landscape level such as edge were also incorporated. Factors that could have important effects on the density of a bird species at the local site but could not be incorporated were quantifications at the landscape level of the amount of habitat that contained the species specific micro habitat, and of that species population levels. Population levels in the landscape however could also be lags from previous events in the landscape prior to data collection.

13. The group of 12 bird census stations representing the combination of NHWD1MIL <30%, 'WSDC<0.5' >50 included 5 bird census stations from the land type association of Rapid River. Where shrub layer was developed the Rapid River LTA had unduly high densities of black-throated blue warblers. This high density might be explained by factors other than conferring a high habitat suitability for the species on a landscape which is highly forested but in which the northern hardwood forest makes up a low percentage of the total forest cover. The alternative explanation is that the population of black-throated blue warbler begins to saturate areas where the sapling layer has developed due to logging because of the limited sapling layer development elsewhere.

Footnotes for Chapter 4: Discussion and Conclusions.

1. The black-throated green means on total number of conifer trees and number of late forest maturity conifer trees for 19 sites in settled forest at which it occurred at a density>30 birds/ km2 were: TOTCON = 5.26 (se=0.72) and LMCO = 4.8 (se=0.62). This is compared to TOTCON= 2.8 (se=0.95) and LMCO = 2.6 (se=0.38) within the stratum of forest disturbance period 1-5 years ago. The 95% confidence limits for means of TOTCON and LMCON for the black-throated green in settled forest overlapped the 95% confidence intervals for TOTCON and LMCON means of blackburnian calculated across the whole northern hardwood forest. This shows that in settled forest in the absence of the blackburnian and where it occurred at low densities the black-throated green warbler could be more selective for conifers. In managed forest the black-throated green occurred in more deciduous habitat and showed less selectivity. (Means of TOTCON and LMCON for all northern hardwood forest strata and for the mean of the blackburnian and black-throated green across the whole range of northern hardwood forest are given in Table D 20).

2. The blackburnian warbler was not affected by the increased canopy opening caused by logging. Within the stratum of forest disturbance 1-5 years after logging, the stratum that has the greatest canopy cover reduction, % canopy opening at sites selected by the blackburnian did not differ from mean canopy opening for that stratum. Mean CANOPEN= 30% (sd= 19.5, n=12) at bird census stations at which the blackburnian density was >30 birds/km2; CANOPEN=22.55 (sd=15.9, n=46) for forest disturbance period 1-5 years after logging.

3. In the Rapid River land type association, the black-throated blue warbler had a relatively high density in unlogged second growth in spite of the very low number of woody stem. This situation might be reflecting an overflow into marginal habitat from proximate more suitable habitat because of the limited northern hardwood forest habitat in this landscape into which individuals could disperse.

4. Details of dynamics of the American redstart, black-throated blue warbler and chestnut-sided warbler in Munising, Manistique and Rapid River were presented in the Results section.

5. High deer populations are blamed for the poor shrub development on the Rapid River District on the Hiawatha National Forest. The study area receives high numbers of deer moving from lowland conifer areas from both the Whitefish River and Stonington deeryards. See Van Deelen (1995).

6. In some narrative accounts there are descriptions of the black-throated blue warbler using recently cut brushy forest areas in Canada (Godfrey 1986). This suggests that the black-throated blue warbler is adapted to a wider range conditions than what was revealed by its density pattern in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan.

7. All encounters of the black-throated blue warbler in settled forest occurred early in the season. That it was not encountered later in the breeding season in settled forest suggested that it did not establish territories. T. Donovan (pers. com) also observed that some bird species are prevented from establishing territories. Distance Sampling, the methodology used to estimate bird densities, does not differentiate between mated males and unmated males, or males that have actually established territories or simply passing through. All black-throated blue warblers that were encountered during bird censusing regardless of their true breeding status, were used to derive a density estimate .

8. In the Upper Peninsula the blackburnian warbler has been recorded in habitat types that include shrub with scattered conifers, northern white cedar, young black spruce and mature black spruce (Dawson 1979); Robert Doepker (Michigan DNR; Pers.Com) however found the blackburnian warbler to be most abundant in hemlock patches within the northern hardwood forest relative to other conifer forest habitat during his bird censusing for the Escanaba State Forest Plan development.

9. Several studies have indicated competition among the blackburnian and blackthroated green warbler (MacArthur 1958; Morse 1976).

10. Since the microhabitat selected by the 2 species is relatively stable, their densities could be monitored at selected sites to establish interactions between them up along a temporal dimension.

11. This process has been described by Graham (1941). The frequency of disturbance for 2 primary forest landscapes Upper Peninsula has been described by Frelich and

Lorimer (1991). Davis (1995) describes present day stands of sugar maple that had no indication of ever including a hemlock component.

12 A stratum of primary forest landscapes was included in the conceptual model to stretch the range of forest conditions with respect to forest cover at landscape scales, presence of a coniferous component and low edge. This stratification was used to test if there were significant differences in the densities of individual forest interior bird species (black-throated blue warbler) and forest edge bird species (American redstart and chestnut-sided warbler) and in the relative abundance of the forest edge and forest interior bird species within this forest heterogeneity range. With respect to describing the sensitivity of bird species to habitat fragmentation aspects or to the presence of a coniferous component and to describing relationships among species along any environmental gradient, the primary forest did not need to be representative of pristine forest conditions that existed prior to the large scale disturbance at the turn of the century. It should however be emphasized that without strong evidence that the primary forest sampled in this study is representative of pristine forest conditions all relationships established in this study, are limited to describing relationships among species and between species density and habitat conditions existing in the present forest.

13. It is conceivable (although not practical and very tedious) that with a large quantity of data collected at small intervals to map isoclines of canopy opening, distances from edge, forest cover to produce different maps or GIS layers that will reveal the spatial arrangement of patches falling in specified ranges of a variable. The intersection of the different layers would produce a map in which patchiness of habitat conditions will delineate differential suitability of forest conditions to the black-throated blue warbler, American redstart and chestnut-sided warbler.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A

Table A1. Relationship ounits as give units as give regionalizatio	of the land type association to ecolen in Ecomap, USDA Forest on of Michigan landscapes (Alber	ogical units above and below its level in the Service, Washington, D.C. (1993), and tt et al., 1986).	e National hierarchy of ecological to subdivisions identified in the
Planning and Analysis Scale	Ecological Units as Given in Ecomap	Regionalization of Michigan (Albert et al., 1986)	General Size Range
Ecoregion			
Global	Domain		1,000,000s to 10,000s of
Continental	Division		square mines
Regional	Province		
Subregion	Section	Regions I, II, III	1,000s to 10s
	Subsection	Subdistrict	or square mines
Landscape	Land type association		1,000s to 100s of acres
Land unit	Land type		100s to less than
	Landtype phase		10 00103

Table A2.	Description of the land type associations o (1992) in a draft ecological classification of	f the West Unit of the Hiawatha National Forest, as they had been delineated the forest.
LTA#	LTA Name	Land Type Association Description
LTA 1*	Munising Moraine	Well developed upland sands and loamy sands of morainal or outwash origin supporting northern hardwood communities. Some areas shallow to sandstone bedrock. Strong climatic influence from Lake Superior.
LTA 2	Wetmore Outwash Plain	Well developed outwash upland sands of outwash and ice-contact origin. Mixed pine forests and medium to low quality hardwoods occur in this area.
LTA 3	Shingleton Fen	Large wetland complex formed in outwash sand reworked by Lake Algonquin.
LTA 4*	Steuben Segment, Newberry Moraine	Well developed loamy sands of morainal origin, supporting high quality northern hardwood communities. This segment is thought to be an interlobate feature between the Green Bay and Superior lobe of Late Wisconsin glaciation. Its elevation places it above Lake Algonquin shorelines.
LTA 5	Boot Lake Plain	Similar to Wetmore Outwash Plain; above Lake Algonquin level.
LTA 6	Whitefish-Autrain Lowlands	Drainage basin of the Whitefish River, with strong climatic influence from cold air drainage. Formed when receeding glacial ice in the Lake Superior basin raised water levels to a point where water flowed southward through this drainage into Little Bay de Noc. Mostly lowland conifers.

Table A2.	(continued)	
LTA#	LTA Name	Land Type Association Description
LTA 7*	Interior Sand Ridge-Swale Complex	Variable landscape pattern of beach ridges and dunes interspersed with wetlands, and vegetated with northern hardwood communities.
LTA 8	Cooks Moraine	Till moraine formed by the outermost position of the Green Bay Lobe. Mostly in private ownership.
LTA 9	Whitefish Delta	Sand delta from gladial drainage through the Whitefish-Autrain Lowlands. The native vegetation was tallgrass and shortgrass savannah; the area currently supports jack pine.
LTA 10	Stonington-Nahma	Thin till soils over limestone bedrock; variable landscape pattern of wetlands and uplands with wet areas supporting mostly coniferous forests and uplands supporting northern hardwood communities.
LTA 11	Stonington Outcrops	Thin till over limestone with common limestone outcrops; high water table, mostly coniferous forest.

*Landtype associations selected as study areas.

APPENDIX B

Table B1. Scientific names of animal and vegetation species.

Bird Species

American redstart Black-throated blue warbler Black-throated green warbler Blackburnian warbler Canada warbler Northern Parula Brown-headed cowbird Chestnut-sided warbler Indigo bunting Least flycatcher Ovenbird Red-eyed vireo Scarlet tanager Swainson's thrush Veery

Mammal Species White-tailed deer

Plant Species

American beech American elm Blasam fir Black cherry Black spruce Canada yew Eastern hemlock Eastern hophornbeam Jack pine Northern white cedar Paper birch Red oak Red maple **Red** pine Sugar maple White ash White pine White spruce Yellow birch

Setophaga ruticilla Dendroica cerulescens Dendroica virens Dendroica fusca Wilsonia canadensis Parula americana Molothrus ater Dendroica pensylvanica Passerina cyanea Empidonax minimus Seiurus aurocapillus Vireo olivaceus Pirangea ludoviciana Catharus ustulatus Catharus fuscescens

Odocoileus virginianus

Fagus grandifolia Ulmus americana Abies balsamea Prunus serotina Picea mariana Taxus canadensis Tsuga canadensis Ostrea virginiana Pimus banksiana Thuja occidentalus Betual papyrifera Quercus rubra Acer rubrum Pinus resinosa Acer saccharum Fraxinus americana Pinus strobus Picea glauca Betula alleghaniensis

Table B2. Variables considered in describing vegetation structure and composition at the microhabitat level.

- 1 tree species
- 2 diameter of trees and snags
- 3 tree height and snag height
- 4 % canopy cover
- 5 ground cover (% forb, grass, litter, base of shrub, base of coniferous shrub or tree)
- 6 average height of shrub or sapling layer
- 7 number of canopy gaps in 4 size categories
- 8 distance to road, trail, opening, and other forest types
- 9 number of deciduous stems <1cm and >1cm-3cm<
- 10 number of coniferous stems <1cm and >1cm-3cm<

stations.						
	Muni	sing	Man	istiaue	Rap	id River
	Available	Sampled	Available	Sampled	Available	Sampled
Managed forest logged 15 years ago	9	4	œ	4	٢	S
Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago	15	4	6	3	Q	S
Managed forest logged >12-15 years ago	6	4	œ	5	3	ŝ
Untreated or treated >15 years ago	44		œ		6	
Unlogged second growth		4		1		5
Older growth		4		m		0

Number of stands identified from USFS databases in 1992 that were available in the managed forest for the different strata Table B3.



Figure B1. Vegetation plots centered at bird census stations in which microhabitat variables were measured.



Figure B2. Measurement of % canopy opening and canopy gaps.

APPENDIX C

•

.

USFS	All cover types from National Forest, Huron Mountains, McCormick Wilderness Area, Sylvania	Data	
code	Dukes Experimental Forest and private lands	Source	Classification for Landscape Analysis
013	Jack pine seedling	NF	Open; Bush; Upland
016	Jack pine pole	NF	Conifer; Upland; Dry; Pole; Early Successional; Plantation
019	Jack pine mature	NF	Conifer, Upland, Dry, Mature, Early Successional, Plantation
	Jack pine-natural	WH	Conifer; Upland; Dry; Mature; Early Successional; Natural
023	Red pine seedling	NF	Open, Bush; Upland
026	Red pine pole	NF	Conifer; Upland; Dry; Pole; Transitional; Plantation
029	Red pine mature	NF	Conifer; Upland; Dry; Mature; Transitional; Plantation
	Red pine natural	MH	Conifer; Upland; Dry; Mature; Transitional; Natural
	Red pine-white pine (natural)	MH	Conifer, Upland, Dry, Mature, Transitional, Natural
033	White pine seedling	NF	Open, Brush, Upland
036	White pine pole	NF	Conifer; Upland; Dry; Pole; Transitional; Plantation
039	White pine mature	NF	Conifer; Upland; Dry; Mature; Transitional; Plantation
	White pine/cladonia	MC	Conifer; Upland; Dry; Mature; Transitional; Natural
	Conifer/Cladonia	MC	Conifer; Upland; Dry; Mature; Transitional; Natural
049	White pine-hemlock	NF	Conifer; Upland; Mesic; Mature; Transitional; Natural
	White pine-hemlock-hardwood	MH	Conifer-Deciduous; Upland; Dry; Mature; Late Maturity; Natural
	White pine-hardwoods/Maianthemum	MC	Conifer-Deciduous; Upland; Dry; Mature; Late Maturity; Natural
	Pine-oak (whitepine-red oak-red pine)	MH	Conifer-Deciduous; Upland; Dry; Mature; Transitional; Natural
	White pine-red oak-hardwoods	MC	Conifer-Deciduous; Upland; Dry; Mature; Transitional; Natural
059	Hemlock	NF	Conifer; Upland; Mesic; Mature; Late Maturity; Natural
	Hemlock	MH	Conifer; Upland; Mesic; Mature; Late Maturity; Natural
	Hemlock-mountain maple	MH	Conifer; Upland; Mesic; Mature; Late Maturity; Natural
	Hemlock dominated hemlock-northern hardwoods	MH	Conifer-Deciduous; Upland; Mesic; Mature; Late Maturity; Natural
113	Balsam fir-aspen-paper birch young	NF,PL	Open; Brush; Lowland
116	Balsam fir-aspen-paper birch pole	NF,PL	Conifer-Deciduous; Lowland; Wet; Pole; Early Successional
119	Balsam fir-aspen-paper birch mature	NF,PL	Conifer-Deciduous; Lowland; Wet; Mature; Early Successional
	Conifer-hardwood/Myrica	MC	Conifer-Deciduous; Lowland; Wet; Mature; Early Successional

Initial classification of cover types in the integration of land cover types from different land classification systems. Table C1.

USFS	All cover types from National Forest, Huron Mountains, McCormick Wilderness Area, Sylvania	Data	
Sode	Dukes Experimental Forest and private lands	Source	Classification for Landscape Analysis
123	Black spruce young	NF,PL	Open; Brush; Lowland
126	Black spruce pole	NF,PL	Conifer; Lowland; Wet; Pole; Early Successional
129	Black spruce mature	NF,PL	Conifer; Lowland; Wet Mature; Early Successional
	Black spruce	MH	Conifer; Lowland; Wet; Mature; Early Successional
	Black spruce/Ledum	MC	Conifer; Lowland; Wet; Mature; Early Successional
143	Northern white cedar young	NF,PL	Conifer, Lowland; Wet; Pole; Transitional
146	Northern white cedar pole	NF,PL	Conifer; Lowland; Wet; Pole; Late Maturity
149	Northern white cedar mature	NF,PL	Conifer; Lowland; Wet; Mature; Late Maturity
	Northern white cedar	HM	Conifer; Lowland; Wet; Mature; Late Maturity
	Northern white cedar	НM	Conifer; Lowland; Wet; Mature; Late Maturity
156	Tamarack pole	NF	Conifer; Lowland; Wet; Pole; Transitional
159	Tamarak mature	NF,PL	Conifer; Lowland; Wet; Mature; Transitional
163	White spruce-balsam fir young	NF,PL	Open; Brush; Lowland
166	White spruce-balsam fir pole	NF,PL	Conifer; Lowland; Wet; Pole; Transitional
169	White spruce-balsam fir mature	NF,PL	Conifer; Lowland; Wet; Matur; Transitional
	Balsam fir-white spruce	HM	Conifer; Lowland; Wet; Mature; Transitional
183	Mixed swamp conifer young	NF,PL	Open; Brush; Lowland
186	Mixed swamp conifer pole	NF,PL	Conifer; Lowland; Wet; Pole; Transitional
189	Mixed swamp conifer mature	NF,PL	Conifer; Lowland; Wet; Mature; Transitional
	Yellow birch-hemlock-white cedar-red maple	HM	Conifer-Deciduous; Lowland; Wet; Mature; Transitional
193	Cedar-aspen-paper birch	NF,PL	Open; Brush; Lowland
196	Cedar-aspen-paper birch	NF,PL	Conifer-Deciduous; Lowland; Wet; Pole; Transitional
199	Cedar-aspen-paper birch	NF,PL	Conifer-Deciduous; Lowland; Wet; Mature; Transitional
	Conifer-hardwood (cedar-B.ash-w.spruce- v. himb.haleam fr.)	MH	Conifer-Deciduous; Lowland; Wet; Mature; Transitional
	Conifer/hardwood/Aralia	MC	Conifer-Deciduous: Upland: Mesic: Mature: Transitional: Natural
553	Northern red oak young	NF,PL	Open; Brush; Upland

Table C1. (continued)

USFS	All cover types from National Forest, Huron Mountains, McCormick Wilderness Area, Sylvania Dukes Experimental Forest and private lands	Data	Classification for Landscane Analysis
	control and to I with too to a mattain to doing town of	8	
556	Northern red oak pole	NF,PL	Deciduous; Upland; Dry; Pole; Transitional
559	Northern red oak mature	NF,PL	Deciduous; Upland; Dry; Mature; Transitional
713	Blackash-American elm-red maple	NF,PL	Open; Brush; Lowland
716	Blackash-American elm-red maple	NF,PL	Deciduous; Lowland; Wet; Mature; Transitional
719	Blackash-American elm-red maple	NF,PL	Deciduous; Lowland; Wet; Mature; Transitional
	Blackash-elm	MH	Deciduous; Lowland; Wet; Mature; Transitional
766	Red maple pole (wet site)	NF,PL	Deciduous; Lowland; Wet Pole; Transitional
769	Red maple mature (wet site)	NF,PL,SYL	Deciduous; Lowland; Wet; Mature; Transitional
	Red maple-yellow birch-conifer/Circaea	MC	Deciduous; Lowland; Wet; Mature; Transitional
	Red maple-yellow birch-conifer/Clintonia	MC	Deciduous; Lowland; Wet; Mature; Transitional
	Red maple-yellow birch-conifer/Osmunda	MC	Deciduous; Lowland; Wet; Mature; Transitional
793	Lowland hardwoods	NF,PL	Open; Brush; Lowland
796	Lowland hardwoods	NF,PL	Deciduous; Lowland; Wet; Pole; Transitional
7 99	Lowland hardwoods	NF,PL	Deciduous; Lowland; Wet; Mature; Transitional
816	Sugar maple-beech-yellow birch (pole)	NF,PL	Deciduous; Upland; Mesic; Pole; Late Maturity
819	Sugar maple-beech-yellow birch (mature)	NF,PL	Deciduous; Upland; Mesic; Mature; Late Maturity
	Sugar maple/Botrychium	MC	Deciduous; Upland; Mesic; Mature; Late Maturity
	Sugar maple/Maianthemum	MC	Deciduous; Upland; Mesic; Mature; Late Maturity
	Sugar maple/Viola	MC	Deciduous; Upland; Mesic; Mature; Late Maturity
	Hardwood dominated-hemlock northern hardwoods	MH	Deciduous-Coniferous; Upland; Mesic; Mature; Late Maturity
	Sugar maple-hardwoods-hemlock (819-Hem)	NF,PL	Deciduous; Upland; Mesic; Mature; Late Maturity
	Sugar maple-conifer/Circaea	MC	Deciduous-Coniferous; Upland; Mesic; Mature; Transitional
	Sugar-maple (residential)	PL	
	Post clearcutting hardwoods (sugar maple-red	НМ	Deciduous; Upland; Mesic; Mature; Late Maturity
	maple-yellow birch and white ash)		
826	Sugar maple-basswood (pole)	NF,PL	Deciduous; Upland; Mesic; Pole; Late Maturity
829	Sugar maple-basswood (mature)	NF,PL	Deciduous; Upland; Mesic; Mature; Late Maturity

Table C1. (continued)
USFS	All cover types from National Forest, Huron Mountains, McCormick Wilderness Area, Sylvania	Data	
code	Dukes Experimental Forest and private lands	Source	Classification for Landscape Analysis
846	Red maple dry site (pole)	NF,PL	Deciduous; Upland; Mesic; Pole; Transitional
849	Red maple dry site (mature)	NF,PL	Deciduous, Upland, Mesic, Mature, Transitional
856	Sugar maple	NF,PL	Deciduous; Upland; Mesic; Pole; Late Maturity
859	Sugar maple	NF,PL	Deciduous; Upland; Mesic; Mature; Late Maturity
896	Mixed hardwoods (maple-basswood,	NF,PL	Deciduous; Lowland; Wet; Pole; Transitional
	white ash-paper birch)	NF,PL	
899	Mixed hardwoods (maple-basswood,	NF,PL	Deciduous; Lowland; Wet; Mature; Transitional
	white ash-paper birch)		
	White ash	HM	Deciduous; Lowland; Wet; Mature; Transitional
	Elm-sugar maple-basswood	HM	Deciduous; Lowland; Wet; Mature; Transitional
913	Quaking aspen	NF,PL	Open; Brush; Upland
916	Quaking aspen pole	NF,PL	Deciduous; Upland; Mesic; Pole; Early Successional
616	Quaking aspen mature	NF,PO	Deciduous; Upland; Mesic; Mature; Early Successional
	Aspen	MH	Deciduous; Upland; Mesic; Mature; Early Successional
923	Paper birch young	NF,PL	Open; Brush; Upland
926	Paper birch pole	NF,PL	Deciduous; Upland; Mesic; Pole; Early Successional
929	Paper birch mature	NF,PL	Deciduous; Upland; Mesic; Mature; Early Successional
	White birch and yellow birch	HM	Deciduous; Upland; Mesic; Mature; Early Successional
	White birch-hemlock-red maple	HM	Deciduous-Coniferous; Lowland; Wet; Mature; Transitional
	Hardwood-conifer/Osmunda	MC	Deciduous-Coniferous; Lowland; Wet; Mature; Transitional
933	Bigtooth aspen young	NF,PL	Open; Brush; Upland
936	Bigtooth aspen pole	NF,PL	Deciduous; Upland; Mesic; Pole; Early Successional
939	Bigtooth aspen mature	NF,PL	Deciduous; Upland; Mesic; Mature; Early Successional
943	Balsam popular young	NF,PL	Open; Brush; Lowland
946	Balsam popular pole	NF,PL	Deciduous; Lowland; Wet; Pole; Early Successional
949	Balsam popular mature	NF,PL	Deciduous; Lowland; Wet; Mature; Early Successional
953	Aspen-white spruce balsam fir (young)	NF,PL	Open; Brush; Lowland

Table C1. (continued)



(continued)
Table C1.

JSFS ode	All cover types from National Forest, Huron Mountains, McCormick Wilderness Area, Sylvania Dukes Experimental Forest and private lands	Data Source	Classification for Landscape Analysis
56	Aspen-white spruce-balsam fir (pole)	NF,PL	Deciduous-Coniferous; Lowland; Wet Pole; Early Successional
59	Aspen-white spruce-balsam fir (mature)	NF,PL	Deciduous-Coniferous; Lowland; Wet; Mature; Early Successional
5	Lowland brush	NF,PL	Open; Brush; Lowland
	Leatherleaf	HM	Open; Brush; Lowland
	Sweet gale-spirea	HM	Open; Brush; Lowland
	Alder	HM	Open; Brush; Lowland
5	Open	NF,PL	Open
-	Open meadow	НM	Open

USGS	Coverage for Land Cover	Coverage for Roads	
Quadrangle	US Forest Service Lands	Private Lands	Water Bodies, Water Courses
Rapid River			
Rapid River	Hiawatha National Forest-tiff file of stands	Manuscripted from acrial photos	NSGS
Waco	Hiawatha National Forest-tiff file of stands	Manuscripted from aerial photos	NSGS
Tie Lake	Hiawatha National Forest-tiff file of stands	Manuscripted from aerial photos	NSGS
Poplar Lake	Hiawatha National Forest-tiff file of stands	Manuscripted from aerial photos	NSGS
Manistique			
Thunder Lake	Hiawatha National Forest-Pilot GIS	Manuscripted from acrial photos	USGS
Gooseneck	Hiawatha National Forest-Pilot GIS	Manuscripted from aerial photos	NSGS
Waco	Hiawatha National Forest-tiff file of stands	Manuscripted from aerial photos	NSGS
Steuben	Hiawatha National Forest-Pilot GIS	Manuscripted from acrial photos	NSGS
Corner Lake	Hiawatha National Forest-Pilot GIS	Manuscripted from aerial photos	NSGS
Tie Lake	Hiawatha National Forest-tiff file of stands	Manuscripted from aerial photos	USGS
Municina			
Chattam	Manuscrinted from serial abotoststand mans	Menuscrinted from seriel photos	35311
Doch Diner	Manuscripted from acris hotochetend mane	Menuscrinted from aerial photos	
Forest I also	Menucorinted from series whoto-tetend mene	Menuconinted from eariel photos	
ruicsi Lanc	Memory from acrist photochead meno	Menuscripted from actial photos	5050 1913
Sand Distor	Memoristed from serial photoststand mans	Menuscripted from eariel above	5050 11
Tie Lake	илициястрики пошлакты риссовтвани плара Мапиястрией from aerial photos	Manuscripted from aerial photos	
(Munising part)			
Trenary			
Trenary	Hiawatha National Forest-tiff file of stands	Manuscripted from acrial photos	NSGS
Baker Creek	Hiawatha National Forest-tiff file of stands	Manuscripted from acrial photos	NSGS
Chattam			
Chattam	Manuscripted from aerial photos+stand maps	Manuscripted from acrial photos	SDSU
Duna	Manuscripted from acriat photos+stand maps	Manuscripted from acriat photos	6060

Table C2. Sources of geographical data covering study areas.

Table C2. (coi	atinued)			
USGS Quadrangle	Coverage for Land Cover US Forest Service Lands	Coverage for Roads Private Lands	Water Bodies, Water Courses	
Stonington Maywood Ogontz Ensign	Hiawatha National Forest-tiff file of stands Hiawatha National Forest-tiff file of stands Hiawatha National Forest-tiff file of stands	Manuscripted from aerial photos Manuscripted from aerial photos Manuscripted from aerial photos	USGS USGS USGS	
Dukes Carlshend Skandia Ladoga	Manuscripted from aerial photos+stand map Manuscripted from aerial photos+stand map Manuscripted from aerial photos+stand map	Manuscripted from aerial photos Manuscripted from aerial photos Manuscripted from aerial photos	USGS USGS USGS	
Huron Mountains Mountain Lake Howe Lake Ives Hill Huron Mountain	All private land All private land All private land All private land	Manuscripted from aerial photos+cover map Manuscripted from aerial photos+cover map Manuscripted from aerial photos+cover map Manuscripted from aerial photos+cover map	Manuscripted (aerial photos) Manuscripted (aerial photos) Manuscripted (aerial photos) Manuscripted (aerial photos)	
McCormick Silver Lake Basic Maı Bulldog Lake	auscripted from aerial photos+cover map Manuscripted from aerial photos+cover map	Manuscripted from aerial photos Manuscripted from aerial photos	Manuscripted (aerial photos) Manuscripted (aerial photos)	
Sylv ania Black Oak Lake Land O'Lakes Beaton Watersmeet	Manuscripted from aerial photos+stand maps Manuscripted from aerial photos+stand maps Manuscripted from aerial photos+stand maps Manuscripted from aerial photos+stand maps	Manuscripted from aerial photos Manuscripted from aerial photos Manuscripted from aerial photos Manuscripted from aerial photos	USGS USGS USGS USGS	

Table C3.	Types of features in a powerlines and gaslin areas around bird ce	iddition to primary and secondary roads, railroad tracks, les, included in the calculation of edge within 500m circle ensus stations.
Code	of Feature	
Used in	CFF Files*	Description
	106	Unimproved road class 4
	402	Stream perennial
	410	Lake or pond
	515	Road, light duty class 3

*added to USGS quadrangle maps per US Forest Service specification.



Figure C1. Schematic representation of the contrast in the successional relationship between sugar maple, hardwood dominated northern hardwoods, hemlock dominated northern hardwoods and hemlock in secondary and primary northern hardwood forest.



Figure C2. Relationship between vegetation cover and base features (roads, water courses), 1.6 km circle clips and 500 m clips around bird census stations.

APPENDIX D

Table D1.	Model selected in the progra detection function for each of 1 northern hardwood forest in the	un Distance Sampling (Laake e 0 bird species. Distance data w he Upper Peninsula of Michigar	tt al., 1994) and othe /ere obtained from bir 1.	r specifications, in the estimatio d censuses conducted in 1992-1	n of a 994 in
Bird Spe	cies	I Model Tr	Point of runcation	Intervals	'n
Blackburnian	warbler	Hazard Rate	60	25,35,45,60	161
Black-throate	d green warbler	Uniform	50	20,30,40,50	741
Black-throated	d blue warbler	Hazard/cosine	80	25,35,45,65	508
American reds	start	Hazard/cosine	50	20,30,40,50	560
Chestnut-side	d warbler	Uniform	50	20,30,40,50	208
Ovenbird		Half Normal	80	30,50,80	2137
Red-eyed vire	0	Hazard/cosine	85	35,55,65,75,85	2314
Least flycatch	er	Hazard/cosine	70	25,35,45,55,70	974
Veery		Hazard/cosine	100	25,40,55,70,100	592
Scarlet tanage	ų	Hazard/cosine	150	35,50,65,80,120,150	312

 1 n = number of observations for species.

Table D2.Mean density/km2 and encounter rate of 10 songbird species censused at 321
bird census stations in northern hardwood forest. Northern hardwood forest
was stratified into 7 strata. A roughly equal number of bird census stations
were located in each stratum. Bird censuses were conducted in 1992-1994
in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan.

Bird Species	Mean Density	se ¹	Encounter Rate (% of bird census stations)
Blackburnian warbler	14.18	2.15	18.7
Black-throated green warbler	64.45	3.60	75.3
Black-throated blue warbler	51.2	4.65	49.5
American redstart	50.09	4.52	43.9
Chestnut-sided warbler	18.54	2.52	24.3
Ovenbird	96.02	2.96	96.9
Red-eyed vireo	101.11	2.76	97.8
Least flycatcher	201.11	18.59	57
Scarlet tanager	10.23	0.87	40.8
Veery	14.95	1.09	53.9

 1 se = standard error of the mean.

Table D3. P values of apriori contrasts in ANOVAs undertaken to test the statistical significance of differences in means of TOTCON and LMCON among land use and forest disturbance period strata. These contrasts are for a hypothetical northern hardwood forest in which the strata of primary forest, settled forest and 5 forest disturbance periods in managed forest were equally represented. Bird density data are from bird censuses conducted 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan.

Strata Compared ¹	TOT _{CON} ²	LM _{CON} ^{3,4}
Managed forest vs primary forest	0.001	<0.001
Managed forest vs settled forest	0.42	0.7
Primary forest 0.001 vs settled forest	0.001	
Managed forest logged <12 years ago vs all other managed forest strata	0.64	0.45
Managed forest logged <12 years ago vs primary forest	<0.001	<0.001
Managed forest logged <12 years ago vs settled forest	0.85	0.55
Managed forest older growth vs primary forest	0.143	0.31
Managed forest older growth vs all other managed forest strata	0.068	0.001

¹Each stratum consisted of a random sample of 25 bird census stations from each stratum. ²TOTCON = total number of conifer trees.

 $^{3}LMCON = total number of late maturity conifers (hemlock and white pine).$

⁴TOTCON and LMCON were sampled within 1200m2 vegetation plots set at bird census stations.

Table D4.Mean of total number of conifer trees TOTCON, and total number of late
maturity conifer trees LMCON, in different strata of forest disturbance period
and land use. Vegetation was sampled in 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula
of Michigan.

	TOTO	<u>CON</u>	LMCC	<u>N_</u>	
Forest Disturbance	n ¹	x ²	se ³	x	se
Managed forest logged 1-5 years ago	46	3.09	1.05	1.28	0.87
Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago	55	2.38	0.96	0.8	0.79
Managed forest logged >12-15 years ago	58	2.46	0.94	1.37	0. 78
Managed forest unlogged second growth	42	2.9	1.13	1.3	0.93
Managed forest older growth	25	5.84	1.43	5.52	1.18
Primary forest landscapes	46	7.56	1.05	6.65	0.87
Settled forest landscapes	43	2.88	1.09	1.74	0.9

 ^{1}n = number of samples (bird census stations at which vegetation plots were set up).

 $^{2}x = mean.$

 3 se = standard error of the mean.

replicating 'forest disturbance peri of Michigan 1992-1994.	od' and 'historical divergence in land use'.	Vegetation was sampled in the	ie Upper Peninsula
Land Type Associations Compared	Disturbance Period	TOTCON	LMCON
Huron Mts * Sylvania * McCormick	Primary forest	0.608	0.426
Munising * Manistique * Rapid River	Logged 1-5 years ago	0.297	0.695
Munising * Manistique * Rapid River	Logged 6-12 years ago	0.124	0.254
Munising * Manistique * Rapid River	Logged >12 years ago	0.626	0.988
Munising * Rapid River	Second growth unlogged	0.698	0.865
Munising * Manistique	Older growth	0.992	86.0
Chattam * Trenary * Stonington	Settled forest	0.635	0.626

Overall P values of Anovas undertaken to compare TOTCON and LMCON among different 'land type associations'

Table D5.

¹TOTCON = total number of coniferous trees.

²LMCON = total number of late maturity coniferous trees. ³TOTCON and LMCON were counted in 1200m2 vegetation plots located at bird census stations.

202

Land Type	Land Use Category or		TOT	CON ⁴	TMC	DN
Association	Forest Disturbance Period	-u	x ²	se.j	x	se
Huron Mts	Primary forest	14	10.21	3.28	7.86	2.44
McCormick	Primary forest	15	5.80	3.17	4.33	2.36
Sylvania	Primary forest	17	6.94	2.98	3.77	2.22
Munising	Managed forest logged 1-5 years ago	12	3.92	1.65	2.33	1.62
Manistique	Managed forest logged 1-5 years ago	17	1.59	0.99	1.47	0.88
Rapid	Managed forest logged 1-5 years ago	15	4.53	1.74	3.00	1.54
Munising	Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago	12	2.92	1.80	2.92	1.76
Manistique	Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago	14	5.57	1.62	4.43	1.63
Rapid	Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago	22	0.82	1.33	0.73	1.30
Munising	Managed forest logged >12 years ago	11	2.00	1.10	1.82	0.87
Manistique	Managed forest logged >12 years ago	24	2.17	0.74	1.71	0.59
Rapid	Managed forest logged >12 years ago	20	3.10	0.82	1.65	0.65
Munising	Managed forest 2nd growth unlogged	17	2.53	1.17	2.06	2.32
Rapid	Managed forest 2nd growth unlogged	20	3.16	1.10	1.09	1.03
Munising	Managed forest older growth	14	5.86	2.43	4.71	2.10
Manistique	Managed forest older growth	11	5.82	2.74	4.64	2.37
Trenary	Settled forest	17	3.35	1.73	2.77	1.55
Chattam	Settled forest	10	1.00	2.25	1.00	2.02
Stonington	Settled forest	15	3.56	1.78	3.50	1.60

Means of TOTCON and LMCON in different land type associations replicating 'forest disturbance periods' and 'historical divergence in land use' strata. Vegetation was sampled in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan 1992-1994. Table D6.

¹n = number of sampling units. All vegetation variables were sampled within 1200m2 vegetation plots located at bird census stations.

 $^{2}x = mean number of trees.$

 3 se = standard error of the mean.

⁵LMCON = total number of late maturity conifers. ⁴TOTCON = total number of coniferous trees.

Table D7.	Overall P values of ANOVA: associations' replicating 'fores was sampled in the Upper Per	s undertaken to compare CANOPEN ¹ , GAP100 at disturbance period' and 'historical divergence ninsula of Michigan 1992-1994.	0 ² , GAP>100 ³ an in land use' strat	d WSDC<0.	5 ⁴ among diff hardwood fore	rrent 'land type st. Vegetation
Land Type	Associations Compared	Disturbance Period	CANOPEN	GAP100	GAP>100	WSDC<0.5
Huron Mts	 Sylvania * McCormick 	Primary forest	0.251	0.637	0.563	0.023
Munising *]	Manistique * Rapid River	Managed forest logged 1-5 years ago	0.028	0.512	0.033	0.015
Munising *	Manistique * Rapid River	Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago	0.185	0.034	0.167	0.747
Munising *	Manistique * Rapid River	Managed forest logged >12 years ago	0.004	0.001	0.001	0.001
Muni	sing * Rapid River	Managed forest second growth unlogged	0.099	0.542	0.883	0.061
Muni	ising * Manistique	Managed forest older growth	0.002	0.067	0.11	0.003
Chattam ⁴	Trenary * Stonington	Settled forest	0.001	0.051	0.001	0.149

 1 CANOPEN = % of forest canopy that is open.

 $^{2}GAP100 = number of canopy gaps of size class 100m2.$

³GAP>100 = number of canopy gaps of size class >100m2.

*WSDC<0.5 = number of woody stems of diameter size class <0.5".

All vegetation variables were sampled within a 1200m2 vegetation plot located at bird census station.

	'historical divergence in land use' strata. Vegetation was	s sampled in	the Uppe	r Penin:	sula of N	Aichigan	1992-1	994.		
Land type	Land use category of		CANC	PEN ²	GAI	<u>100</u>	GAP>	100	WSDC	≥0.5 ⁵
Association	Forest disturbance period	'n	×	s	×	S	×	ઝ	×	sc
Huron Mountai	Ins Primary forest	14	13.08	2.95	1.14	0.18	0.64	0.27	36.29	6.03
McCormick	Primary forest	15	15.19	2.52	0.93	0.30	0.87	0.33	41.80	6.86
Sylvania	Primary forest	17	9.61	1.76	0.77	0.32	0.41	0.30	20.88	3.51
Munising	Managed forest logged 1-5 years ago	12	32.7	5.52	0.33	0.24	0.92	0.29	46.17	12.03
Manistique	Managed forest logged 1-5 years ago	17	17.28	2.35	0.59	0.20	0.41	0.17	47.82	11.15
Rapid	Managed forest logged 1-5 years ago	15	23.19	3.97	0.27	0.21	0.13	0.13	10.93	4.52
Munising	Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago	12	26.43	3.48	1.00	0.30	0.75	0.31	73.33	9.99
Manistique	Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago	14	23.87	3.63	0.21	0.12	0.21	0.20	70.29	12.90
Rapid	Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago	22	18.78	2.35	0.46	0.16	0.32	0.15	84.36	14.71
Munising	Managed forest logged >12 years ago	11	26.98	2.98	1.64	0.41	1.46	0.31	117.36	29.12
Manistique	Managed forest logged >12 years ago	24	12.22	3.89	0.29	0.11	0.17	0.10	83.33	18.19
Rapid	Managed forest logged >12 years ago	20	9.09	1.35	0.25	0.20	0.25	0.10	40.85	9.26
Munising	Managed forest 2nd growth unlogged	17	8.22	3.14	0.11	0.12	0.24	0.14	24.35	6.90
Rapid	Managed forest 2nd growth unlogged	20	3.08	0.53	0.21	0.09	0.26	0.13	9.79	3.47
Munising	Managed forest older growth	14	13.38	2.82	0.50	0.17	0.21	0.11	28.79	3.70
Manistique	Managed forest older growth	11	2.09	0.67	0.09	0.09	0.00	0.00	61.45	9.92
Trenary	Settled forest	17	9.08	2.17	0.41	0.15	0.59	0.33	24.88	8.10
Chattam	Settled forest	10	15.55	3.60	0.90	0.34	0.40	0.16	45.60	13.99
Stonington	Settled forest	15	34.95	5.03	1.13	0.25	2.53	0.56	47.37	7.82

Means of CANOPEN, GAP100, GAP>100 and WSDC<0.5 in different landtype associations replicating 'forest disturbance periods' and

Table D8.

¹n = number of sampling units.

 $^{2}CANOPEN = \%$ canopy opening.

³GAP100 = number of canopy gaps of size class 100m2. ⁴GAP>100 = number of canopy gaps of size class >100m2.

 $^{5}WSDC<0.5 = number of woody stems <0.5" in diameter.$ All vegetation variables were sampled within 1200m2 vegetation plots located at bird census stations.

Table D9.Mean of % canopy oper GAP>100m2), and nurr and land use. Vegetatio	ning (C nber of on was s	ANOPEN deciduous sampled ir), numb woody 1992-1	er of can stems <(994 in t	opy gaps 0.5" (1.20 he Upper	s of diffe 5 cm) W r Peninsu	rent size SDC<0.	classes 5, in diff chigan.	(GAP50n erent stra	n2, GAF ta of for	100m2, and est disturbance period
		CANO	PEN	GAP	50m ^{,2}	GAP	00m, ³	GAP>	100m, ⁴	WSDO	C<0.5 ⁵
Forest Disturbance	=	×	sc	×	3	×	S S	×	sc	×	Sc
Managed forest logged 1-5 years ago	46	22.55	1.99	1.56	0.19	0.39	0.13	0.43	0.15	33.37	7.2
Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago	55	19.7	1.83	1.34	0.17	0.47	0.11	0.4	0.14	68.51	6.58
Managed forest logged >12-15 years agc	o 57	13.56	1.79	1.14	0.17	0.53	0.11	0.44	0.13	72.19	6.47
Managed forest second growth unlogged	i 40	5.89	2.14	0.8	0.2	0.18	0.13	0.22	0.16	17.2	7.72
Managed forest old growth	25	8.41	2.71	0.6	0.25	0.32	0.17	0.2	0.2	43.16	9.76
Primary forest landscapes	46	12.49	1.99	1.09	0.19	0.93	0.13	0.63	0.15	32.39	7.2
Settled forest landscapes	43	20.29	2.1	1.39	0.19	0.81	0.13	1.33	0.16	38.07	7.44

 ${}^{4}GAP>100 = number of gaps of size class > 100m2$ ${}^{3}GAP100 = number of gaps of size class 100m2$ CANOPEN = % of forest canopy that is open $^{2}GAP50 = number of gaps of size class 50m2$

 $^{5}WSDC<0.5 = number of woody stems < 0.5"$

 ${}^{6}n = number$ of samples (number of bird census stations at which vegetation plots were set up) ${}^{7}x = mean$

	chod in managed to	rest are equal	ny represented	-
Strata Compared	CANOPEN ²	GAP ₁₀₀ ³	GAP _{>100} ⁴	WSDC<0.5 5
Managed forest vs primary forest	0 14	0 11	0 094	0 042
				0.0.2
Managed forest vs settled forest	0.54	0.16	<0.001	0.031
Primary forest vs settled forest	0.11	0.85	0.08	0.93
MF-logged <12 y ago vs all other MF strata	<0.001	0.31	0.48	0.11
MF-logged <12 y ago vs primary forest	<0.001	0.37	0.31	0.08
MF-logged <12 y ago vs settled forest	0.041	0.48	0.003	0.031
MF-older growth vs primary forest	0.63	0.085	0.045	0.38
MF-older growth vs all other MF strata	0.01	0.46	0.006	0.26

Table D10. P values of apriori contrasts in ANOVAs undertaken to test the statistical significance of differences in means of CANOPEN, GAP100, GAP>100 and WSDC<0.5 in a hypothetical northern hardwood forest in which the land use strata of primary forest and settled forest, and the 5 strata of forest disturbance period in managed forest are equally represented.¹

and the second se

¹25 samples of bird density were taken from each of the 7 strata of primary forest, settled forest and 5 strata of forest disturbance period in managed forest.

 $^{2}CANOPEN = \%$ canopy that is open.

 $^{3}GAP100 =$ number of gaps in size class 100m2.

 $^{4}GAP > 100 =$ number of gaps > 100m2.

⁵WDSC<0.5 = number of deciduous woody stems <0.5".

		Blac	kburnian	Black	-throated	:		Scar	rlet	
Forest Disturbance Period		War	bler	preen	warbler			Tan	ager	
	Ħ	×	SC	*	sc	×	sc	×	Se Se	
Managed forest logged 1-5 years ago	46	18.54	5.38	88.11	8.98	10.1	2.68	8.103	2.23	
Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago	55	7.10	4.92	49.58	8.21	20.85	2.45	14.84	2.04	
Managed forest logged >12 years ago	58	4.61	4.79	63.66	8	17.72	2.39	13.03	1.99	
Managed forest second growth-unlogged	d 42	8.07	5.63	95.74	9.4	8.24	2.81	6.24	2.33	
Managed forest older growth	25	38.23	7.3	63.24	12.18	14.52	3.64	12.49	3.02	
Primary forest (landscape)	46	37.31	5.38	75.66	8.98	6.19	2.68	9.53	2.23	
Settled forest	43	0.72	5.56	22.45	9.29	19.88	2.78	3.86	2.31	
		Black-th	roated	Am	erican	Ches	tnut-sided			
		warbl	CT.	reds	tart	Wa	rbler	BTA	AMCS	
	9	×	SC	×	se	×	Se	×	X	
Managed forest logged 1-5 years ago	46	30.07	11.2	24.89	11.42	8.07	6.34	-2.89	18.8	
Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago	55	124	10.2	77.32	10.44	41.67	5.8	4.99	17.2	
Managed forest logged >12 years ago	58	46.8	96.6	82	10.17	7.13	5.64	-42.3	16.8	
Managed forest second growth-unlogged	d 42	50.2	11.7	55.72	11.95	15.16	6.63	-20.7	19.7	
Managed forest older growth	25	54.43	15.2	19.63	15.49	4.24	8.6	30.56	25.5	
Primary forest (landscape)	46	28.28	11.2	15.32	11.42	6	6.34	3.97	18.8	
Settled forest	43	8.34	11.6	53.25	11.81	39.97	6.55	-84.9	19.5	

Mean density of 10 bird species, and mean value of the derived variable BTAMCS¹ in different northern hardwood forest strata Table D11.

(continued)
_:
\equiv
D
e
P
a
F

				<u>۹</u>	ast	Red-e	/ed	
Forest Disturbance Period		Over	nbird	Ilyc	atcher	vir	0	
	4	×	se	*	se	×	se	
Managed forest logged 1-5 years ago	46	85.53	T.T	150.6	46.16	122.5	7.13	
Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago	55	102.6	7.04	180.1	42.22	<u>99.69</u>	6.52	
Managed forest logged >12 years ago	58	94.74	6.86	146.8	41.11	88.2	6.35	
Managed forest second growth-unlogged	42	111.6	8.06	163.6	48.31	96.67	7.46	
Managed forest older growth	25	75.26	10.4	182.8	62.62	87.35	9.67	
Primary forest (landscape)	46	87.27	7.T	117.2	46.16	114.4	7.128	
Settled forest	43	100.2	7.96	505.7	47.75	92.25	7.37	

¹BTAMCS = density difference of (black-throated blue warbler - (American redstart + Chestnut-sided warbler)). ^{2}n = number of bird census stations.

Table D12.F and p values in Anovas undertaken to test the statistical significance of
differences in means of bird density (Table D3) among 7 strata of northern
hardwood forest representing landuse and forest distribution period. Bird
censuses were undertaken in 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of
Michigan.

	F	р
Blackburnian warbler	6.28	<0.001
Black-throated green warbler	6.49	<0.001
Black-throated blue warbler	10.36	<0.001
American redstart	5.15	<0.001
Chestnut-sided warbler	5.69	<0.001
Ovenbird	2.4	0.021
Red-eyed vireo	3.13	0.003
Least flycatcher	6.92	<0.001
Veery	7.82	<0.001
Scarlet Tanager	3.78	0.001
BTAMCS	3.27	0.002

¹BTAMCS = density difference of: (Black-throated blue warbler) - (American redstart + chestnut-sided warbler).

	Primar n=	y Forest 25	Managed n=12	Forest 5	Settled For n=2.	orest 5	Primary vs Managed	Managed vs.Settled	Primary vs Settled
	x ²	se ^j	x	S	×	Sc	о С	d	d
Blackburnian warbler	45.21	14.47	15.21	7.15	1.23	1.23	0.003	0.157	0.001
Black-throated green warbler	76.39	12.61	66.37	7.43	25.46	7.58	0.423	0.002	0.003
Black-throated blue warbler	30.21	6.58	67.83	10.29	10.77	7.89	0.023	100.0	0.359
American redstart	10.07	5.19	59.49	9.87	59.39	15.56	0.006	966:0	0.034
Chestnut-sided warbler	9.76	4.97	16.04	4.58	41.59	14.84	0.522	0.010	0.013
Ovenbird	95.36	8.96	92.03	6.36	104.99	7.89	0.746	0.312	0.594
Least flycatcher	90.71	32.27	159.04	40.93	492.29	107.96	0.307	<0.001	<0.001
Red-eyed vireo	121.28	12.26	100.07	6.22	86.28	5.44	0.040	0.180	0.009
Vœry	5.56	2.08	14.33	4.07	19.41	4.41	0.030	0.319	0.014
Scarlet Tanager	8.46	2.61	12.57	4.24	2.42	1.43	0.196	0.002	0.141

Mean densities of 10 bird species and p values of Anovas of differences in bird density means landuse strata of a hypothetical

Table D13.

 1 n = number of samples which is 25 in each stratum.

 $^{2}x = mean density/km2.$

 3 se = standard error of the mean. For managed forest se was calculated using the following formula for the variance of the mean bird density in managed forest V(Y_{n})= $\sum(n_{h})S_{h}^{2}(1/n_{h})$ s² is the variance of bird species species density in each of the 5 strata of forest disturbance period; n_{h} is the number of samples (25) and n is the total samples in managed forest (125).

Table D14.	P values of Anova planu landuse strata of a hypothe period within managed for of Michigan.	ned apriori contrasts undertaken to test the statistice etical northern hardwood forest in which strata of prin rest are equally represented. Bird density data are from	al significance mary forest, se i bird censuses	e of differenc ttled forest a s taken in 199	es in bird der nd 5 strata of 92-1994 in th	sity means among forest disturbance e Upper Peninsula
Bird species	Strata Contrasted		DF	Ľ4	٩.	Justification for Contrast ²
Blackburnian w	urbler	Managed forest-older growth vs primary forest	1&168	0.30	0.58	æ
Blackburnian w	urbler	Managed forest-older growth vs all other strata in managed forest	1&168	8.23	0.01	Ą
Black-throated b	lue warbler	Managed Forest Logged 6-12 years ago vs all other strata in managed forest	1&168	43.33	<0.001	υ
American redsta	ť	Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago vs all other strata in managed forest	1&168	2.28	0.13	υ
American redsta	ť	Managed forest logged >12-15 years vs all other strata in managed forest	1&168	10.03	<0.001	υ
Chestnut-sided v	varbler	Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago vs all other strata in managed forest	1&168	8.58	<0.001	υ
Chestnut-sided v	varbler	Managed forest logged >12-15 years ago vs all other strata in managed forest	1&168	2.34	0.13	υ

					ب
Bird species Strata Contrasted		DF	ĹĿ,	ď	Justification for Contrast ²
Veery	Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago vs all other strata in managed forest	1&168	8.82	<0.001	υ
	Managed forest logged >12-15 years ago vs all other strata in managed forest	1& 168	0.05	0.82	υ
Scarlet tanager	Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago vs all other strata in managed forest	1&168	3.68	0.06	J
	Managed forest logged > 12 years ago vs all other strata in managed forest	1 & 168	2.83	60.0	υ
¹ The 7 strata of northern hardwood fore	est were each represented by 25 samples				

(continued)

Table D14.

²Justification for apriori contrasts:

a = presence of late maturity conifers in the older growth within managed forest and in primary forest b = low availability of late maturity conifers (hemlock-white pine) in all managed forest strata except in older growth stratum c = significantly higher levels of deciduous woody stems <0.5" (1.27 cm) in the strata of managed forest logged 6-12 years ago, and logged >12-15 years ago.

Table D15.	Bonferroni adjusted p values of AN and (BTARCS) ¹ means in pairwise 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula	IOVA post tests under comparisons of north of Michigan.	taken to test the sta nern hardwood fores	tistical significance o t strata. Bird data ar	f differences in e from bird cens	oird density means uses undertaken
Strata	Compared	Blackburnian warbler	Black-throated green warbler	Black-throated blue warbler	American redstart	Chestnut-sided warbler
Primary forest vs Managed	forest logged 1-5 years ago	_	-	-	-	-
Primary forest vs Managed	forest logged 6-12 years ago	0.001	0.92	100.0>	0.002	0.005
Primary forest vs Managed	forest logged >12-15 years ago	00.0⊳	-	1	<0.001	_
Primary forest vs Managed	forest unlogged second growth	0.006	Ι	-	0.42	_
Primary forest vs Managed	forest - older growth	-	Π	Π	_	_
Primary forest vs Settled for	test	<0.001	0.001	г	0.6	0.02
Managed fores vs Managed	tt logged 1-5 years ago forest logged 6-12 years ago	_	0.048	<0.001	0.02	0.003
Managed Fore vs Managed	st logged 1-5 years ago forest logged >12-15 years ago	1	-	-	0.006	Ι

Table D15 (continued)					
Strata Compared	Blackburnian warbler	Black-throated green warbler	Black-throated blue warbler	American redstart	Chestnut-sided warbler
Managed Forest logged 1-5 years ago vs Managed forest unlogged second growth	I	_	-	-	_
Managed forest logged 1-5 years ago vs Managed forest older growth	0.85	_	-	-	_
Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago vs Managed forest logged >12-15 years ago	I	-	100.0>	_	0.001
Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago vs Managed forest unlogged second growth	Π	0.007	<0.001	_	0.079
Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago vs Managed forest older growth	0.013	μ	0.005	90.0	0.01
Managed forest logged >12-15 years ago vs Managed forest unlogged second growth	I	0.27	-	-	_
Managed forest logged >12-15 years ago vs Managed forest older growth	0.004	-	I	0.024	_
Managed forest unlogged second growth vs Managed forest older growth	0.03	66.0	_	I	_
Settled forest vs Managed forest logged 1-5 years ago	0.61	<0.01	_	_	0.01

Table D15. (continued)						
Strata Compared	Blackburnian warbl er	Black-throated green warbler	Black-thro blue war	ated bler	American redstart	Chestnut-sided warbler
Settled forest vs Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago	-	0.825	00.0>	10	_	_
Settled forest vs Managed forest logged >12-15 years ago	_	0.024	0.3	4	_	0.005
Settled forest vs Managed forest unlogged second growth	-	<0.001	0.3	7	_	0.23
Settled forest vs Managed forest older growth	0.002	0.23	0.40	Ś	-	0.03
Strata Compared	Ovenbird	Least flycatcher	Red-cyed vireo	Vœry	Scarlet Tanager	BTARCS
Primary forest vs Managed forest logged 1-5 years ago	I	I	1	-	I	-
Primary forest vs Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago	Ι	-	-	0.002	-	_
Primary forest vs Managed forest logged >12-15 years ago1	_	_	0.18	0.04	-	Н
Primary forest vs Managed forest unlogged second growth	0.83	-	-	-	_	_

Strata Compared	Ovenbird	Least flycatcher	Red-eyed vireo	Vœry	Scarlet tanager	BTARCS
Primary forest vs Managed forest older growth	Ч	-	0.7	-	I	-
Primary forest vs Settled forest	_	1 00.0>	0	0.013	-	0.03
Managed forest logged 1-5 years ago vs Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago	-	-	0.522	60.0	0.74	_
Managed forest logged 1-5 years ago vs Managed forest logged >12-15 years ago	-	-	0.01	0.97	-	_
Managed forest logged 1-5 years ago vs Managed forest unlogged second growth	0.55	-	0.36	-	-	-
Managed forest logged 1-5 years ago vs Managed forest older growth	Π	-	0.1	_	-	_
Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago vs Managed forest logged >12-15 years ago	μ	l	-	-	-	_
Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago vs Managed forest unlogged second growth	Π	-	-	0.023	0.16	-
Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago vs Managed forest older growth	0.85	-	1	-	-	_

 Table D15.
 (continued)

Table D15. (continued)						
Strata Compared	Ovenbird	Least flycatcher	Red-eyed vireo	Vœry	Scarlet tanager	BTARCS
Managed forest logged >12-15 years ago vs Managed forest unlogged second growth	_	I	-	0.3	0.77	Н
Managed forest logged >12-15 years ago vs Managed forest older growth	_	1	_	_	-	0.49
Managed forest unlogged second growth vs Managed forest older growth	0.17	Ι	_	-	-	_
Settled forest vs Managed forest logged 1-5 years ago	_	100.0>	0.09	0.33	_	0.07
Settled forest vs Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago	_	100.0>	L	_	0.01	0.17
Settled forest vs Managed forest logged >12-15 years ago	_	100.0>	I	-	0.08	_
Settled forest vs Managed forest unlogged second growth	_	<0.001	I	0.1	-	0.59
Settled forest vs Managed forest older growth	-	0.001	-	-	0.67	0.01

¹BTARCS is the density of (Black-throated blue warbler) - (American redstart + Chestnut-sided warbler).

•

	Huron Mou n=14	intains	McCorn n=15	nick	Sylvar n=13	nia 7
	×	se	×	se	×	se
Blackburnian warbler	51.38	15.8	35.62	15.27	27.2	14.35
Black-throated green warbler	77.3	16.63	70.73	16.06	78.64	15.09
Black-throated blue warbler	12.82	7.36	56.83	6.89	15.83	6.47
American redstart	30.56	7.2	3.35	6.96	13.32	6.58
Chestnut-sided warbler	15.15	5.84	4.95	5.65	7.49	5.3
Ovenbird	94.69	9.68	120.45	9.35	51.88	8.78
Least flycatcher	221.4	45.66	13.67	44.11	122.67	41.43
Red-eyed vireo	145.01	13.97	121.99	13.5	82.49	12.68
Scarlet tanager	10.07	3.25	11.75	3.15	7.11	2.95
Veery	9.69	2.71	7.92	2.62	1.8	2.46

Mean density /km2 of 10 bird species in 3 landscapes (land type associations) replicating primary forest landscapes. Table D16.

		Forest disturt	ance period =	: 6-12 vears af	ter logging	
	Chatta n ¹ =1	u o	Trens n=1	ary 7	Stonir n=	ngton 16
	x ²	se ³	×	se	×	s
Blackburnian	3.03	1.46	0	0	0	0
Black-throated green warbler	16.98	10.67	31.83	8.18	15.91	8.43
Black-throated blue warbler	17.94	10.5	5.28	8.05	5.61	8.3
American redstart	62.91	22.42	19.98	17.19	82.57	17.72
Chestnut-sided warbler	41.38	21.07	5.62	16.16	75.6	16.65
Ovenbird	130.97	10.56	106.6	8.1	74.17	8.35
Least flycatcher	369.22	167.12	635.47	128.17	452.97	132.12
Red-eyed vireo	100.17	13.17	90.74	10.1	88.9	10.41
Scarlet tanager	1.51	2.54	2.67	1.95	6.6	2.01
Veery	29.52	6.67	11.97	5.12	22.2	5.28
¹ n = nimber of compline units (hird concine stations)						

Mean density (birds/km2) of 10 bird species in 3 land type associations that are replicates of 'settled forest landscapes'. Table D17.

220

¹n = number of sampling units (bird census stations). ²x = mean density. ³se = standard error of the mean.

1 aure 1/10.	Mean density (on device of 10 on a specie strata in managed northern hardwood fore: Michigan.	st landscapes.	Birds were ce	unat are replic nsused 1992-1	ates of lorest of 1994 in the Upl	uisturoance pe per Peninsula	of
		I	forest disturba	nce period = 1	-5 years after l	ogging	
		Munising n ¹ =12	50	Manistiqu	e	Rapid Riv	er
		x ²	se	×	se ³	×	s
Blackburnian		12.84	11.97	22.97	10.05	20.55	10.70
Black-throate	d green warbler	84.88	18.44	52.43	15.49	137.23	16.49
Black-throate	d blue warbler	61.06	11.45	15.39	9.62	17.95	10.24
American reds	start	33.55	12.08	31.82	10.15	13.42	10.81
Chestnut-side	d warbler	21.22	5.52	4.37	4.63	2.83	4.93
Ovenbird		58.35	11.04	100.94	9.28	69.85	9.88
Least flycatch	er	107.31	60.47	146.81	50.80	209.68	54.08
Red-eyed vire	Q	107.41	14.16	147.31	11.90	106.85	12.66
Scarlet tanage		5.46	3.63	4.44	3.05	15.45	3.25
Veery		23.75	4.11	5.79	3.45	4.52	3.67

hoire 1 4 of forest distu . -11004 tho. Mean density (hirds/km2) of 10 hird snecies in 3 land ty Table D18

		Forest distur	bance period =	6-12 vears a	fter logging	
	Munis n=1	sing 12	Manist n=1	ique 4	Rapid n=	River 22
	x ²	ŝ	×	sej	×	se
Blackburnian	0	0	13.21	4.92	5.61	3.92
Black-throated green warbler	49.51	15.25	37.89	14.11	49.67	11.26
Black-throated blue warbler	97.83	36.20	70.49	33.51	208.00	26.73
American redstart	153.08	16.83	144.69	15.58	17.73	12.43
Chestnut-sided warbler	79.58	18.60	65.97	17.22	16.88	13.73
Ovenbird	89.98	13.09	95.46	12.12	76.29	49.44
Least flycatcher	102.56	71.40	124.54	66.10	292.19	52.73
Red-eyed vireo	65.11	12.48	107.80	11.56	112.31	9.22
Scarlet tanager	11.33	6.35	11.87	5.88	19.46	4.69
Veery	29.97	33.64	34.65	6.70	11.29	4.95

Table D18. (continued)

		Forest disturba	nce period lo	2ged >12-15 ve	cars ago	
	Munisir n=11	81	Manistic n=24	Ine	Rapid Ri n=21	ver
	×	se	×	se	×	se
Blackburnian	2.80	2.94	2.57	1.99	4.4	2.13
Black-throated green warbler	60.77	18.97	50.40	12.85	74.27	13.74
Black-throated blue warbler	108.08	17.89	33.65	12.11	34.18	12.95
American redstart	133.83	27.25	121.10	18.45	17.97	19.72
Chestnut-sided warbler	20.26	5.81	6.63	3.94	1.52	4.21
Ovenbird	65.60	12.19	120.94	8.25	65.67	8.82
Least flycatcher	68.37	90.49	55.55	61.26	306.06	65.49
Red-eyed vireo	83.78	10.25	104.35	6.94	67.73	34.97
Scarlet tanager	8.24	5.42	11.33	3.67	18.71	3.92
Veery	21.28	4.80	25.44	3.25	8.72	3.47

É

Table D18. (continued)

		orest disturban	ce neriod = u	nlogged secon	d erowth	
	Munisin n=18	20	Manistic	ine	Rapid R n=20	iver
	×	se	×	se	×	se
Blackburnian	0	0	not repre	sented	16.95	44.14
Black-throated green warbler	76.04	18.51			113.53	17.56
Black-throated blue warbler	12.46	17.78			58.32	16.87
American redstart	92.27	25.87			24.54	24.54
Chestnut-sided warbler	33.60	8.30			0	
Ovenbird	135.42	11.22			100.50	10.64
Least flycatcher	77.87	59.01			252.97	55.98
Red-eyed vireo	94.61	53.58			24.53	59.92
Scarlet tanager	5.88	10.54			7.81	13.62
Veery	7.92	12.37			9.67	14.61
		Forest disturba	nce period =	older growth fo	rest	
------------------------------	------------------	-----------------	-------------------	-----------------	-----------------	
	Munising n=14	8	Manistiqu n=11	e	Rapid River	
	×	se	x	se	x se	
Blackburnian	39.63	19.47	36.43	21.97	not represented	
Black-throated green warbler	60.63	12.25	66.55	13.82		
Black-throated blue warbler	39.52	13.05	73.41	14.72		
American redstart	29.66	8.92	6.86	10.07		
Chestnut-sided warbler	5.30	3.22	2.89	3.63		
Ovenbird	82.86	11.88	65.60	13.41		
Least flycatcher	62.68	101.03	335.65	113.98		
Red-eyed vireo	78.71	41.02	98.35	13.29		
Scarlet tanager	12.59	4.16	12.36	4.70		
Veery	17.21	4.63	11.10	12.43		

 1 n = number of sampling units (bird census stations). ^{2}x = mean density. ^{3}se = standard error of the mean.

(continued)

Table D18.

1 able D19. P values in Anovas undertaken for comparison of the second seco	omparing bird densities d historical divergence	among land type as in landuse.	sociations replicatin	g forest disturbar	ice periods
	Blackburnian warbler	Black-throated green warbler	Black-throated warbler	American redstart	Veery
Among land type associations within the strata of:					
Primary forest landscapes	0.527	0.93	<0.001	0.031	0.083
Settled forest landscapes	0.195	0.34	0.584	0.046	0.11
Logged 1-5 years ago	0.804	0.002	0.008	0.364	0.002
Logged 6-12 years ago1	0.193	0.78	0.005	<0.001	0.01
Forest logged >12 years ago	0.807	0.45	0.002	<0.001	0.003
Unmanaged second growth forest	0.112	0.16	0.07	0.066	0.694
Older growth forest	0.914	0.75	860.0	0.104	0.677
	Chestnut-sided warbler	Scarlet tanager	Red-eyed vireo	Ovenbird	Least Flycatcher
Among land type associations within the strata of:					
Primary forest landscapes	0.43	0.554	0.006	0.001	0.008
Settled forest landscapes	0.017	0.224	0.785	<0.001	0.405
Logged 1-5 years ago	0.033	0.039	0.039	0.012	0.442
Logged 6-12 years ago	0.016	0.474	0.011	0.435	0.055
Forest logged >12 years ago	0.039	0.227	0.003	<0.001	0.017
Unmanaged second growth forest	0.007	0.631	0.677	0.03	0.038
Older growth forest	0.624	0.971	0.28	0.346	0.346

ŧ,

1 C 6

1992-1994 in the Upper Pe	minsula, Mic	higan.							
		TWC	NO	TOT	CON	CANC	DPEN	GAP	>100
	Ľ	×	se	×	S	×	sc	×	sc
Black-throated green warbler	241	3.11	0.43	4.22	0.51	14.10	0.88	0.43	0.06
Blackburnian warbler	60	6.08	0.85	8.03	1.03	16.52	1.77	0.42	0.12
Managed forest logged 1-5 years ago	46	2.13	0.97	3.09	1.17	22.55	2.02	0.44	0.14
Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago	55	2.06	0.89	2.38	1.07	19.70	1.85	0.40	0.13
Managed forest logged >12>15 ago	57	1.67	0.87	2.46	1.05	13.56	1.81	0.44	0.13
Managed forest unlogged second growth	40	2.17	1.04	2.90	1.26	5.89	2.17	0.23	0.15
Managed forest older growth	25	4.68	1.32	5.84	1.59	8.41	2.74	0.12	0.19
Primary forest	46	5.19	0.97	7.57	1.17	12.49	2.02	0.63	0.14
Settled forest	43	2.62	1.01	2.88	1.21	20.29	2.09	1.32	0.14

Mean LMCON, TOTCON, CANOPEN, and GAP>100 of microhabitat sites selected by the blackburnian warbler and the black-Table D20.

¹LMCON = number of late maturity conifer trees (Hemlock and white pine). ²TOTCON = total number of coniferous trees.

 3 CANOPEN = % canopy opening.

⁴GAP>100 = number of canopy gaps >100m2.

All vegetation variables were quantified in 1200m2 vegetation plots located at bird census stations.

Table D21.	P values in ANOVAs repres between each of the blackbu Data are from vegetation sar Michigan.	senting the sta umian warble mpling and b	atistical signif r and the blac ird censusing	Tcance of differ k-throated gree at 321 bird cen	ences in LMC in warbler and sus stations u	ON, TOTCO individual st ndertaken in	DN, CANOP trata of north 1992-1994 i	EN, and GAP ern hardwood n the Upper P	>100 forest. eninsula of
Northern hardw	wood forest strata		Blackburn	iian warbler			lack-throated	green warble	
for comparis	uo	LMCON	TOTCON ²	CANOPEN ³	GAP>100 ⁴	LMCON	TOTCON	CANOPEN	GAP>100
Managed forest	logged 1-5 years ago	0.002	0.002	0.025	0.922	0.356	0.375	<0.001	0.961
Managed forest	logged 6-12 years ago	0.001	<0.001	0.215	0.925	0.284	0.122	<0.001	0.846
Managed forest	logged >12>15 years ago	<0.001	<0.001	0.242	0.9	0.137	0.132	0.789	0.936
Managed forest	unlogged second growth	0.004	0.002	<0.001	0.32	0.406	0.33	<0.001	0.21
Managed forest	older growth	0.372	0.247	0.013	0.187	0.258	0.334	0.048	0.122
Primary forest		0.49	0.764	0.133	0.248	0.05	0.009	0.464	0.182
Settled forest		0.009	0.001	0.169	<0.001	0.658	0.309	0.22	<0.001
Black-throated	green warbler	0.002	0.001	0.937	0.22				
¹ LMCON = nui ² TOTCON = to ³ CANOPEN = ⁴ 4GAP>100 = nu All vegetation v	mber of late maturity conifer t tal number of coniferous tree: % canopy opening. umber of canopy gaps >100m ariables were quantified in 1.	trees (Hemloo s. .2. 200m2 veget.	ck and white r ation plots loc	oine). ated at bird cer	stations.				

			L	LOTCON	-					I MCON		
	Blackb	urnian bler		Black-tl green y	hroated varbler			Blackb	urnian bler	Black-ti green w	uroated (arbler	1
	x ²	se ³	- e	×	x	۲	٩	×	x	×	sc	ď
Managed forest excluding older growth	5.07	1	31	3.01	0.45	156	0.06	4	0.93	2.192	0.41	0.076
Older growth within managed forest landscapes	10.86	3.16	٢	4.91	1.83	21	0.12	8.286	2.77	3.857	1.6	0.177
Primary forest landscapes	11.57	3.01	21	8.21	2.12	42	0.37	8.43	2.28	5.62	1.61	0.318
Settled forest landscapes	0	uly one ca	sc	5.27	2.09	19				4.74	2.03	

Mean TOTCON and LMCON of microhabitats selected by the blackburnian warbler and the black-throated green warbler in different 'forest Table D22.

 $^{1}n = number of sampling units.$ ²x = mean number of trees.

³se = standard error of the mean. ⁴TOTCON = total number of coniferous trees. ⁵LMCON = total number of late maturity conifers.

divergence in landuse' strata. I undertaken in 1992-1994 in the L	Bird densities and veget	ation data were from igan.	bird censusing and	vegetation sampling
			Woody Stems <0.5	-
Forest disturbance period	c	BTBW	AMRE	CSWA
Managed forest logged 1-5 years ago	46	0.54	0.12	<0.001
Managed forest logged 6-12 years ago	55	<0.001	0.676	0.239
Managed forest logged >12 years ago	57	0.323	<0.001	0.98
Managed forest second growth forest	40	0.549	0.623	0.015
Managed forest older growth forest	25	0.142	0.864	0.43
Primary forest landscapes	46	0.01	0.676	0.385
Settled forest landscapes	43	0.613	0.018	0.018

P values of regression coefficients in separate regressions of black-throated blue warbler (BTBW), American redstart Table D23.

Table D24.	Means of canopy and shrub la chestnut-sided warbler. Charact bird census stations at which th censuses and vegetation samp Michigan.	tyer variables in teristics of habita he density of the pling undertake	habitat selected t selected by a s e respective birc n in 321 bird ce	I by the black-thr pecies were identif species was >80 ensus stations dur	oated blue warbl fied by the charac birds/km2. Dat ring 1992-1994	ler, American reds cteristics of habita a were obtained fi in the Upper Peni in the Upper Peni	ttart and t around om bird nsula of
		BTBW n=85		AMRE n=66		CSWA n=27	
		x	se	x	se	x	se
WSDC<0.5	Q	9.51	6.61	75.76	8.56	73.44	8.25
WSDC>0.5	2	12.63	2.43	30.4	3.74	2.11	4.38
CANOPEN	1	6.81	1.73	23.37	1.97	28.90	3.08
GAP50		1.27	0.14	1.12	0.14	1.11	0.29
GAP100		0.6	60.0	0.59	0.11	0.78	0.216
GAP>100		0.42	0.42	0.77	0.16	1.29	0.4

Table D24.

 $^{1}x = mean.$

 $^{4}WSDC>0.5 = number of woody stems >0.5"-1.5".$ 5 CANOPEN = % of forest canopy that is open. ³WSDC<0.5 = number of woody stems <0.5". 6 GAP50 = number of gaps of size class 50m2. 2 se = standard error of the mean.

^aGAP>100 = number of gaps of size class >100m2.

 $^{7}GAP100 = number of gaps of size class 100m2.$

Groups compared	CANOPEN	GAp50 ²	GAP _{100³}	GAP>100 ⁴	wsdc _{<0.5} ⁵
Dverall ANOVA	0.001	0.732	0.645	0.006	0.825
fest BTBW vs AMRE	0.013	SU	SU	0.087	su
Fest BTBW vs CSWA	0.001	SU	SU	0.002	us
Fest AMRE vs CSWA	0.132	Su	SU	0.066	SU

P values of ANOVAs in planned tests undertaken to compare canopy opening, shrub layer development, and canopy gaps Table D25.

 1 CANOPEN = % of forest canopy that is open.

 2 GAP50 = number of gaps of size class 50m2.

⁴GAP>100 = number of gaps of size class >100m2. ⁵WSDC<0.5 = number of woody stems <0.5". 3 GAP100 = number of gaps of size class 100m2.

Table D26.	P values of ANOVAs undertaken to compare canopy opening an American redstart, and chestnut-sided warbler in 3 forest disturbance were obtained from bird censuses and vegetation sampling underta	canopy gaps among the blacl strata representing current log en in 1992-1994 in the Upper	k-throated blue warbler, gging disturbance. Data r Peninsula of Michigan.
	Comparison	CANOPEN	GAP>100m2
Between BT	BW & AMRE in forest logged 1-5 years ago	0.742	0.324
Among BTB	W, AMRE & CSWA in forest logged 6-12 years ago	0.522	0.915
Between BT	BW & AMRE in forest logged >12 years ago	0.716	0.693

 1 CANOPEN = % open canopy. 2 GAP>100 = number of canopy gaps >100m2.

Northern hardwood		CAN	DPEN	GA	P100	GAF	►100	WSD	C<0.5
forest strata n	x	Sc	x	ş	x	Sc	x	SC	
Logged 1-5 years ago							-		
BTBW	6	27.68	2.52	0.33	0.24	0.89	0.39	39.67	19.62
AMRE	4	31.63	17.57	0	0	0.25	0.25	80.75	30.13
CSWA	•	not represent	q						
Logged 6-12 years ago									
BTBW	30	22.39	2.11	0.53	0.14	0.47	0.14	98.6	10.9
AMRE	26	24.26	2.58	0.35	0.09	0.38	0.15	67.85	8.6
CSWA	13	27.16	3.85	0.54	0.24	0.46	0.21	84.2	12.49
Logged >12 years ago									
BTBW	16	16.56	3.54	1.33	0.33	0.53	0.19	90.8	19.7
AMRE	18	21.91	5.27	0.78	0.28	0.72	0.23	117.78	24.16
CSWA	2	18.81	1.43	3.5	0.5	-	0	83	31

) B density of the chestnut-sided warbler was >80 birds/km2.

 ^{1}n = number of bird census stations at which the density of the species was >80 birds/km2. ^{2}x = mean value of variable.

 3 se = standard error of the mean.

⁴CANOPEN = % open canopy.

⁵GAP100 = number of canopy gaps in size class 100m2. ⁶GAP>100 = number of canopy gaps >100m2. ⁷WSDC<0.5 = number of woody stems <0.5"

Table D28.Contribution of different land type associations and forest disturbance periods to
different groups of bird census stations aggregated based on forest cover within 1 mile
(FC1MIL), length of forest edge EDGE, and shrub layer development, WSDC<0.5".
Data were derived from vegetation sampling in 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of
Michigan and GIS coverage of study areas current for 1992.

				Land to	vne asso	ciation		_
Groups	#BCS	HUM	MCC	SYL	DUK	MUN	MAN	RAP
Forest Cover 1; Edge 1; Shrub 1	26	3	4	4	1	11	0	3
Forest Cover 1; Edge 1; Shrub 2	27	2	5	1	3	13	0	3
Forest Cover 1; Edge 2; Shrub 1	12	3	0	0	4	5	0	0
Forest Cover 1; Edge 2; Shrub 2	9	1	1	1	2	3	0	2
Forest Cover 2; Edge 1; Shrub 1	21	0	0	5	1	0	3	12
Forest Cover 2; Edge 1; Shrub 2	15	0	0	0	0	0	6	8
Forest Cover 2; Edge 2; Shrub 1	14	0	0	0	2	3	4	5
Forest Cover 2; Edge 2; Shrub 2	18	0	0	0	0	0	15	3
Forest Cover 3; Edge 1; Shrub 1	8	0	0	0	0	0	5	3
Forest Cover 3; Edge 1; Shrub 2	11	0	0	0	0	1	6	4
Forest Cover 3; Edge 2; Shrub 1	9	0	0	0	0	0	5	3
Forest Cover 3; Edge 2; Shrub 2	11	0	0	0	0	2	6	3

Table D28.(continued)

			For	est Distu	rbance	Period	
	#BCS	Lg PF	Lg 1-5y	Lg 6-12y	Unl >12y	Older SG	G
Forest Cover 1; Edge 1; Shrub 1	26	12	6	0	0	3	5
Forest Cover 1; Edge 1; Shrub 2	27	11	2	0	9	0	5
Forest Cover 1; Edge 2; Shrub 1	12	3	5	0	2	0	2
Forest Cover 1; Edge 2; Shrub 2	9	5	0	0	2	0	2
Forest Cover 2; Edge 1; Shrub 1	21	5	5	3	0	7	0
Forest Cover 2; Edge 1; Shrub 2	15	0	2	8	0	1	4
Forest Cover 2; Edge 2; Shrub 1	14	0	2	3	3	5	1
Forest Cover 2; Edge 2; Shrub 2	18	0	0	6	9	0	3
Forest Cover 3; Edge 1; Shrub 1	8	0	5	0	0	3	0
Forest Cover 3; Edge 1; Shrub 2	11	0	1	1	4	3	2
Forest Cover 3; Edge 2; Shrub 1	9	0	5	0	3	0	0
Forest Cover 3; Edge 2; Shrub 2	11	0	1	2	5	3	0

¹Forest Cover 1 FC1MIL = >90%. Forest Cover 2 FC1MIL = >80-90%. Forest Cover 3 FC1MIL = >70-80%.

- ²EDGE 1 EDGE <2000m. EDGE 2 EDGE >2000m.
- 3 SHRUB 1 WSDC<0.05 = <50. SHRUB 1 WSDC<0.5 = >50.
- ⁴HUM = Huron Mountains.
- ⁵MCC = McCormick Wilderness Area.
- ⁶SYL = Sylvania Recreational Area.
- ⁷DUK = Dukes Experimental Forest.
- ⁸MUN = Munising.
- ⁹MAN = Manistique.
- 10 RAP = Rapid River.
- ¹¹PF = primary forest.
- 12 Lg 1-5y = managed forest logged 1-5 years ago.
- 13 Lg 6-12y = managed forest logged 6-12 years ago.
- $^{14}Lg > 12y = managed$ forest logged >12 years ago.
- ¹⁵Unl SG = managed forest unlogged second growth.
- ¹⁶Older G = managed forest older growth.

Table D29. P values in a 3-way ANOVA, indicating the statistical significance of effects of FC1MIL¹, EDGE² and WSDC<0.5³ on densities of black-throated blue warbler (BTBW), American redstart (AMRE) and the variable BTARCS⁴. Bird densities and vegetation were sampled in 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan.

Effect	BTBW	AMRE	BTARCS
FC1MIL	0.028	0	0.001
EDGE	0.101	0	0
WSDC<0.5	0.003	0.001	0.98
FC1MIL X EDGE	0.056	0.001	0.001
FC1MIL X WSDC<0.5	0.025	0.97	0.237
EDGE X WSDC<0.5	0.627	0.012	0.089
FC1MIL X EDGE X WSDC<0.5	0.022	0.64	0.023

State of the subsection of the

¹FC1MIL = group based on forest cover within 1 mile: >90%; <90->80%; >70-<80%. ²EDGE = effect of group based on length of edge within a 500m radius: >2000m; <2000m. ³WSDC<0.5 = effect of group based on number of deciduous woody stems: <50; >50. ⁴BTARCS = difference between the density of the black-throated blue warbler and the combined densities of the American redstart and chestnut-sided warbler.

			BT	BW	AN	IRE	BIA	RCS
	Groups	#BCS	×	જ્ર	×	se	×	Se
FC1MIL = >90%		74	53.9	11.1	29.3	8.6	18.6	15.0
FC1MIL = >80-90%		68	89.5	10.5	34.2	8.1	41.8	14.2
FC1MIL = >70-80%		39	51.5	13.8	81.4	10.7	-45.0	18.7
EDGE = <2000m		108	76.2	9.1	22.7	7.0	44.5	12.3
EDGE = >2000m		73	53.7	10.3	74.0	8.0	-34.2	13.9
MSDC < 0.5 = <50		6	44.6	9.8	31.0	7.6	5.3	13.3
WSDC<0.5 = >50		16	85.3	9.6	65.6	7.4	5.0	12.9
FC1MIL = $>90\%$;	EDGE <2000m	53	42.5	11.7	25.9	9.1	10.0	15.9
FC1MIL = $>90\%$;	EDGE >2000m	21	65.2	18.8	32.7	14.6	27.2	25.5
FC1MIL = >80-90%;	EDGE <2000m	36	109.7	14.4	15.8	11.2	85.1	19.5
FC1MIL = >80-90%;	EDGE >2000m	32	69.3	15.2	52.6	11.8	-1.4	20.6
FC1MIL = >70-80%;	EDGE <2000m	19	76.5	19.8	26.3	15.4	38.3	26.8
FC1MIL = >70-80%;	EDGE >2000m	20	26.5	19.2	136.6	14.9	-128.4	26.0
FC1MIL = $>90\%$;	WSDC<0.5 <50	38	30.9	14.9	12.7	11.6	11.0	20.2
FC1MIL = $>90\%$;	WSDC<0.5 >50	36	76.8	16.4	45.9	12.8	26.2	22.2
FC1MIL = >80-90%;	WSDC<0.5 <50	35	46.7	14.7	18.1	11.4	26.3	19.9
FC1MIL = >80-90%;	WSDC<0.5 >50	33	132.2	14.9	50.3	11.6	57.3	20.2
FC1MIL = >70-80%;	WSDC<0.5 <50	17	56.1	20.7	62.2	16.1	-21.4	28.1
FC1MIL = >70-80%;	WSDC<0.5 >50	22	46.9	18.2	100.7	14.1	-68.7	24.6

f Mean densities of black-throated blue warbler (BTBW), and American redstart (AMRE), and mean values of B different Table D30.

	Groups		#BCS	A BT	BW se	AM	RE se	BTA ×	RCS se
EDGE <2000m;	WSDC<0.5 <50		55	52.5	13.1	18.9	10.2	28.8	17.7
EDGE <2000m;	WSDC<0.5 >50		53	99.9	12.5	26.4	9.8	60.1	17.0
EDGE >2000m;	WSDC<0.5 <50		35	36.6	14.7	43.1	11.4	-18.1	19.8
EDGE >2000m;	WSDC<0.5 >50		38	70.7	14.4	104.8	11.2	-50.2	19.5
FC1MIL = 90%;	EDGE <2000m;	WS<0.5 <50	26	29.3	16.7	16.0	13.0	9.7	22.6
FC1MIL = $>90\%$;	EDGE < 2000m;	WS<0.5 >50	27	55.7	16.4	35.9	12.8	10.3	22.2
FC1MIL = $>90\%$;	EDGE > 2000m;	WS<0.5 <50	12	32.4	24.6	9.4	19.1	12.4	33.3
FC1MIL = $>90\%$;	EDGE >2000m;	WS<0.5 >50	6	98.0	28.4	55.9	22.1	42.1	38.5
FC1MIL = $>80-90\%$;	EDGE <2000m;	WS<0.5 <50	21	38.5	18.6	15.6	14.5	21.4	25.2
FC1MIL = >80-90%;	EDGE <2000m;	WS<0.5 >50	15	180.9	22.0	15.9	17.1	148.7	29.8
FC1MIL = >80-90%;	EDGE > 2000m;	WS<0.5 <50	14	55.0	22.8	20.7	17.7	31.3	30.9
FC1MIL = >80-90%;	EDGE $>2000m;$	WS<0.5 >50	18	83.5	20.1	84.6	15.6	-34.1	27.2
FC1MIL = >70-80%;	EDGE <2000m;	WS<0.5 <50	œ	89.7	30.1	25.2	23.5	55.3	40.8
FC1MIL = >70-80%;	EDGE < 2000m;	WS<0.5 >50	11	63.2	25.7	27.5	20.0	21.3	34.8
FC1MIL = >70-80%;	EDGE > 2000m;	WS<0.5 <50	6	22.4	28.4	99.3	22.1	-98.0	38.5
FC1MIL = >70-80%;	EDGE >2000m;	WS<0.5 >50	11	30.6	25.7	173.9	20.0	-158.7	34.8
¹ BTARCS = difference	between the density of	the black-throated blu	e warbler and th	le combin	ned dens	ities of th	le Amer	ican reds	tart and

(continued)

Table D30.

chestnut-sided warbler.

²FC1MIL = group based on forest cover within 1 mile. ³EDGE = group based on length of edge within a 500m-radius from bird census station. ⁴WSDC<0.5 = group based on deciduous woody stems. ⁵#BCS = number of bird census stations.

 $^{6}x = mean density.$ ⁷se = standard error of the mean.

4

	Factor	BTBW	AMRE	BTARCS
NHWDIMIL		0.69	0.185	0.513
EDGE		0.816	0.157	0.438
CANOPEN		0.006	0.114	0.226
WSDC<0.5		<0.001	0.018	0.092
NHWDIMIL x	t EDGE	0.621	0.076	0.166
NHWD1MIL x	c CANOPEN	0.127	0.114	0.026
C TIIWI GMHN	K WSDC<0.5	0.021	0.129	0.006
EDGE x CAN(OPEN	0.31	0.927	0.477
EDGE x WSD	C<0.5	0.749	0.113	0.68
CANOPEN x V	WSDC<0.5	0.02	0.354	0.433
NHWDIMIL x	EDGE X CANOPEN	0.059	0.129	0.005
NHWD1MIL x	t EDGE x WSDC<0.5	0.225	0.408	0.059
NHWD1MIL x	c CANOPEN x WSDC<0.5	0.005	0.373	0.011
EDGE x CAN	DPEN x WSDC<0.5	0.335	0.672	0.963
NHWD1MIL x	EDGE x CANOPEN x WSDC<0.5	0.253	0.932	0.355

¹BTARCS = difference between the density of the black-throated blue warbler and the combined densities of the American redstart and chestnut-sided warbler.

main eff level of samplin	fects of factors are presented but only means of groups significance and that comprised more than 10 bird c g during 1992-1994 in the Upper Peninsula of Michig	that represent in ensus stations. in.	nteractions Data pres	among f	actors that	t were sig	mificant and ve	t the 0.1 getation
	Grouns	*RCS	, BT	BW	Å	IRE °	, BTA	RCS
NHWDIMIL ² ≪30 NHWDIMIL ² ≪30		37 105	77.1 68.47	19.71 9.34	24.12 39.45	10.40 4.93	34.03 17.45	22.86 10.83
EDGE ³ <2000m EDGE >2000m		89 53	70.253 75.33	11.43 18.58	23.58 39.98	6.03 9.8	35.58 15.90	13.25 21.55
CANOPEN4<15% CANOPEN>15%		88 54	42.02 103.56	13.03 17.49	22.61 40.95	6.88 9.23	10.36 41.12	15.11 20.29
WSDC ⁵ <0.5 <50 WSDC<0.5 >50		73 69	29.97 115.61	15.65 15.20	17.96 45.61	8.26 8.02	4.27 47.21	18.15 17.62
NHWDIMIL≪30; NHWDIMIL≪30; NHWDIMIL>30; NHWDIMIL>30;	WSDC<0.5 <50 WSDC<0.5 >50 WSDC<0.5 <50 WSDC<0.5 <50 WSDC<0.5 >50	25 12 57	8.85 145.37 51.09 85.85	28.03 27.73 13.92 12.45	19.08 29.15 16.84 62.06	14.79 14.63 7.35 6.57	19.08 29.15 16.84 62.06	14.79 14.63 7.35 6.57

Least squares means of black-throated blue warbler and American redstart densities, and of (BTARCS)¹ in 4-way ANOVAs used to test the effects of NHWD1MIL, EDGE, CANOPEN, and WSDC<0.5. Least squares means of all groups of bird census stations that represent Table D32.

			BT	BW	AN	IRE	BTA	RCS
	Groups	#BCS	×	se	×	se	×	sc
CANOPEN<15%;	WSDC<0.5 <50	49	24.65	16.29	14.14	8.59	-1.16	18.89
CANOPEN<15%;	WSDC<0.5 >50	39	59.39	20.34	31.08	10.73	21.87	23.59
CANOPEN>15%;	WSDC<0.5<50	24	35.29	26.72	21.78	14.01	9.69	30.99
CANOPEN>15%;	WSDC<0.5 >50	30	171.83	22.58	60.13	11.92	72.54	26.19
EDGE <2000;	WSDC<0.5 <50	47	30.93	13.99	18.95	7.39	8.87	16.24
EDGE <2000;	WSDC<0.5 >50	42	109.58	18.06	28.22	9.53	62.29	20.95
EDGE >2000;	WSDC<0.5 <50	26	29.01	27.99	16.97	14.77	-0.34	32.46
EDGE >2000;	WSDC<0.5 >50	27	121.64	24.44	62.99	12.90	32.13	28.35
NHWDIMIL≪30%;	CANOPEN<15%	25	29.58	23.48	24.11	12.39	06 ⁻ 6-	27.23
NHWDIMIL≪30%	CANOPEN>15%	12	124.62	31.66	24.12	16.71	77.96	36.72
NHWDIMIL>30%;	CANOPEN<15%	63	54.44	11.30	21.11	5.96	30.62	13.10
NHWD1MIL>30%;	CANOPEN>15%	42	82.50	14.88	57.79	7.85	4.28	17.25
NHWD1MIL≪30%;	WSDC<0.5 <50	25	8.85	28.02	19.08	14.79	-22.70	32.50
NHWDIMIL<30%;	WSDC<0.5 >50	12	145.37	27.72	29.14	14.63	90.76	32.15
NHWD1MIL>30%;	WSDC<0.5 <50	48	51.09	13.92	16.84	7.34	31.23	16.15
NHWD1MIL>30%;	WSDC<0.5 >50	57	85.85	12.45	29.14	14.63	3.66	14.44

Table D32. (continued)

				BT	BW	AM	IRE	BTA	RCS
	Groups		#BCS	×	Sc	×	sc	×	sc
NHWD1MIL<30%;	EDGE <2000;	CANOPEN<15%	20	53.58	23.12	16.78	12.20	27.26	26.82
NHWD1MIL>30%;	EDGE <2000;	CANOPEN<15%	32	47.62	15.86	11.00	8.37	31.19	18.40
NHWDIMIL>30%;	EDGE <2000;	CANOPEN>15%	28	95.06	17.28	30.92	9.14	58.64	20.10
NHWDIMIL>30%;	EDGE >2000;	CANOPEN<15%	31	61.27	16.09	31.22	8.49	30.05	18.67
NHWD1MIL>30%;	EDGE >2000;	CANOPEN>15%	14	69.94	24.18	84.67	12.76	-50.09	28.05
NHWD1MIL30:	CANOPEN<15%:	WS<0.5 <50	18	17.70	28.32	19.29	14.95	-23.88	32.85
NHWDIMIL>30;	CANOPEN<15%;	WS<0.5 <50	31	31.61	16.09	8.99	8.49	21.56	18.67
NHWDIMIL>30;	CANOPEN<15%;	WS<0.5 >50	32	77.28	15.86	33.23	8.37	39.68	18.40
NHWDIMIL>30;	CANOPEN>15%;	WS<0.5 <50	17	70.58	22.73	24.69	11.99	40.91	26.36
NHWDIMIL>30;	CANOPEN>15%;	WS<0.5 >50	25	94.43	19.20	90.90	10.13	-32.36	22.27

(continued)

Table D32.

BTARCS = density of black-throated blue warbler - (density of American redstart + chestnut-sided warbler).

²NHWD1MIL = group based on % of northern hardwood forest within 1 mile radius

 3 EDGE = group based on length of edge within a 500m-radius from bird census station.

⁴ CANOPEN = group based on canopy opening ⁵WSDC<0.5 = group based on deciduous woody stems

LITERATURE CITED

Agee, J.K., and D.R. Johnson. 1988. Ecosystem management for parks and wilderness. University of Washington Press, Seattle.

Ahlgren C.E., and I.F. Ahlgren. 1983. The human impact on northern forest ecosystems. Pages 33-51 in S.L. Flader (editor): the Great Lakes forest an environmental and social history. 336 pp.

Albert, D.A., S.R. Denton, and B.V. Barnes. 1986. Regional landscape ecosystems of Michigan. School of Natural Resources. University of Michigan 48109-1115.

Allen, T.F.H., and T.B. Starr. 1982. Hierarchy perspectives for ecological complexity. The University of Chicago Press. Chicago.

Allen, T.F.H. and T.W. Hoekstra. 1990. The confusion between scale-defined levels and conventional levels of organization in ecology. Journal of Vegetation Science 1: 5-12.

Allison, T.D. 1990. The influence of deer browsing on the reproductive biology of Canada yew. Direct effect on pollen, ovules, and seed production. Oecologia 83: 523-529.

Alverson, W., D. Waller, and S. Solheim. 1988. Forests too deer: edge effects in northern Wisconsin. Conservation Biology 2: 348-358.

Ambuel, B., and S.A. Temple. 1982. Songbird populations in southern Wisconsin forests: 1954 and 1979. J. Field Ornith. 53: 149-158.

Ambuel, B., and S.A. Temple. 1983. Area-dependant changes in the bird communities and vegetation of southern Wisconsin forests. Ecology 64: 1057-1068.

Anderson, S.H. 1981. Correlating habitat variables and birds. Pages 538-542 in C.J. Ralph and J.M. Scott (editors). Estimating numbers of terrestrial birds. Studies in Avian Biology No 6. Allen Press. Lawrence, Kansas.

Anderson, S.H., and H.H. Shugart, Jr. 1974. Habitat selection of breeding birds in East Tennessee deciduous forest. Ecology 55: 828-837.

The second s

Anderson, R.C., and O.L. Loucks. 1979. White-tailed deer (*Odocoileus virginianus*) influence on the structure and composition of *Tsuga canadensis* forests. Journal of Applied Ecology 16: 855-861.

Arcese, P. and A.R.E. Sinclair. 1997. The role of protected areas as ecological baselines. J. Wildlife Management 61(3):587-602.

Askins, R.A., M.J. Philbrick, and D.S. Sugeno. 1987. Relationship between the regional forest abundance and the decline and recovery of forest bird communities. Biological Conservation 39: 129-152.

Askins, R.A., and M.J. Philbrick. 1987. Effect of changes in regional forest abundance on the decline and recovery of a forest bird community. Wilson Bulletin 99: 7-21

Askins R.A., J.F. Lynch, and R. Greenberg. 1990. Population declines in migratory birds in eastern North America. Pages 1-57 in D.M. Power, editor. Current ornithology. Plenum Press. New York.

Baichich, P.J. 1997. A guide to the nests, eggs, and nestlings of North American Birds. Academic Press. New York. 347pp.

Bailey, R.G., R.D. Fister, and J.A. Henderson. 1978. Nature of land and resource classification-a review. J. For. 76:650-655.

Bailey, R.G. 1985. The factor of scale in ecosystem mapping. Env. Management 9: 271-276.

Barnes, B.V., K.S. Pregitzer, T.A. Spies, and V.H. Spooner. 1982. Ecological forest site classification. Journal of Forestry 80 (8): 493-498.

Bent, A. C. 1963. Life histories of North American wood warblers. Part 1. Dover Publications. New York. 367pp.

Binford, L.C. 1991. Black-throated blue warbler (Dendroica caerulescens). Pp 402-403 in R. Brewer, G.A. McPeak, and R.J. Adams: The atlas of breeding birds of Michigan. Michigan State University Press. East Lansing, Michigan. 594pp.

Blake, J.G., and J.R. Karr 1984. Species composition of bird communities and the conservation benefit of large vs small forests. Biological Conservation 30: 173-187.

Block, W.M., D.B. Finch, and L.A. Brennan. 1995. Single species versus multiple species for management. Pages 461-476 in T.E. Martin, and D.B. Finch (editors). Ecology and management of neotropical migratory birds: a synthesis and review of critical issues. Oxford University Press. New York.

Bond, R.R. 1957. Ecological distribution of breeding birds in the upland forests of southern Wisconsin. Ecological Monograghs 27:351-384.

Bormann, F.H., and G.E. Likens. 1979a. Patterns and processes in a forest ecosystem. Springer-Verlag, New York. 253pp.

Bormann, F.H., and G.E. Likens. 1979b. Catastrophic disturbance and the steady state in northern hardwood forests. American Scientist 67: 660-669.

Bourdo, E.A. 1983. The forest the settlers saw. Pp 3-16. in S.L. Flader editor. The Great Lakes forest: an environmental and social history. University of Minnesota Press. Minneapolis. 336pp

Braun, E.L. 1950. Deciduous forests of Eastern North America. The Blakiston Co., Philadelphia. 594pp.

Brewer, R. 1991. Original fauna and postsettlement changes. Pages 33-58 in R. Brewer, G.A. McPeak, and R.J. Adams. The atlas of breeding birds of Michigan. Michigan State University Press. East Lansing, Michigan. 594pp.

Brewer, R., G.A. McPeak, and R.J. Adams. 1991. The atlas of breeding birds of Michigan. Michigan State University Press. East Lansing, Michigan. 594pp.

Brittingham, M.C., and S.A. Temple. 1983. Have cowbirds caused forest songbirds to decline? Bioscience 33: 31-35.

Brubaker, L.B. 1975. Postglacial forest patterns associated with till and outwash in Northcentral Upper Michigan. Quaternary Res. 5: 499-527.

Buckland, S.T., D.R. Anderson, K.P. Burnham and J.L. Laake. 1993. Distance sampling. Chapman and Hall. New York. 446 pp.

Canfield, R.H. 1941. Application of the line interception method in sampling range vegetation. J. For. 39 (4): 388-394.

Canham, C.D., and O. L. Loucks. 1984. Catastrophic windthrow in the presettlement forests of Wisconsin. Ecology 65 (3):793-809.

Cody, M.L. 1981. Habitat selection in birds: the roles of vegetation structure, competitors, and productivity. BioScience 31(2): 107-113.

Cody, M.L. 1978. Habitat selection and interspecific territoriality among the sylviid warblers of England and Sweden. Ecological Monographs 48: 351-396.

Cody, M.L. 1974. Competition and the structure of bird communities. Princeton University Press.

Collar N.J., and P. Andrew. 1988. Birds to watch: the ICBP world checklist of threatened birds. ICBP Technical Publication No.8 Smithsonian Institution Press. Washington, D.C. 288pp.

Cook, W.W. 1904. Distribution and migration of North American warblers. U.S. Dept. Of Agric. Division of Biological Survey. Bulletin N_0 18. 139pp.

Crow, T. R., A. Handy and D.M. Waller. 1994. Report on the scientific round table on biological diversity convened by the Chequamegon and Nicolet National Forests. USDA-Forest Service, NC-166. 55pp.

Crow, T.R. 1995. The social, economic and ecological significance of hemlock in the lake states. Pages 11-17 in G.Mroz and J. Martin (editors). Hemlock ecology and management. Proceedings of a regional conference on ecology and management of eastern hemlock held in Iron Mountain, Michigan Sept 27-28, 1995. Published by the Department of Forestry, University of Wisconsin, Madison. 200pp.

Cunningham, R.W. and H.G. White. 1941. Forest resources of the Upper Peninsula of Michigan. U.S. Dept. Age. M.C. Pub. 429.

Curtis, J.T. 1959. The vegetation of Wisconsin. Univ. Wisc. Press. Madison. 659pp.

Dawson, D.K. 1979. Bird communities associated with succession and management of lowland conifer forests. Pages 120-127 in R.M. DeGraaf, and K.E. Evans, compilers. 1979. Workshop Proceedings. Management of north-central and north-eastern forests for nongame birds. U.S. Dep. Agric., For. Serv. GTR NC-51.

Davis, M.B. 1981. Quaternary history and the stability of forest communities. Pages 132-153 in D.C. West, H.H. Shugart, and D.B. Botkin (editors). Forest succession, concepts and application. Springer-Verlag. New York.

Davis, M.B., S. Sugita, R.R. Calcote, T.E. Parshall, and J.B. Ferrari. 1995. 3000 years of abundant hemlock in Upper Michigan. Pages 19-27 in G. Mroz and J. Martin (editors). Hemlock ecology and management. Proceedings of a regional conference on ecology and management of eastern hemlock. Department of Forestry, University of Wisconsin. Madison.

DeGraaf, R.M., and K.E. Evans, compilers. 1979. Workshop Proceedings. Management of north-central and north-eastern forests for nongame birds. U.S. Dep. Agric., For. Serv. GTR NC-51.

DeGraaf, R.M., M. Yamasaki, and W. B. Leak. 1992. Management of New England northern hardwoods, spruce-fir, and eastern white pine for neotropical migratory birds. Pp. 363-373, in D. Finch and P.W.A. Stangel (editors). Status and management of neotropical migratory birds. USDA-Forest Service General Technical Report RM-229. Delcourt, H.R., P.A. Delcourt, and T. Webb III. 1983. Dynamic plant ecology: the spectrum of vegetational change in space and time. Quaternary Science Revue.1: 153-175.

Donovan, T.M., F.R. Thompson, J. Faaborg and J. Probst. 1995. Reproductive success of migratory birds in habitat sources and sinks. Conservation Biology 9 (6): 1380-1395.

Doepker, R.V., D.E. Byer Jr., and M. Donovan. 1995. Deer population trends in Michigan's Upper Peninsula. Pages 99-108 in G. Mroz, and J. Martin (editors). Hemlock ecology and management. Proceedings of a regional conference on ecology and management of eastern hemlock. University of Wisconsin-Madison.

Dunning, J.B., B.J. Danielson, and H.R. Pulliam. 1992. Ecological processes that affect populations in complex landscapes. Oikos 65: 169-175.

Erlich, P.R., and A.H. Erlich. 1981. Extinction: the causes and consequences of the disappearance of species. Random House. New York. 305p.

Erlich, P.R. and E.O. Wilson. 1991. Biodiversity studies: science and policy. Science 253: 758-762.

Farrand, W.R., and D.L. Bell. 1982. Quaternary geology of northern Michigan. Map. Michigan Department of Natural Resources, Geological Survey Division.

Faaborg J., M. Brittingham, T. Donovan, and J. Blake. 1995. Habitat fragmentation in the temperate zone. Pages 357-380 in D. M. Finch, and P.W.A. Stangel, editors. Status and management of neotropical migratory birds. USDA Forest Service Gen. Tech. Rep. RM-229.

Finch, D.M. 1991. Population ecology, habitat requirements, and conservation of neotropical migratory birds. USDA Forest Serv. Gen. Tech. Rep. RM-205, Fort Collins, CO.

Fahrig, L. 1997. Relative effects of habitat loss and fragmentation on population extinction. J. Wildlife Management 61(3): 603-610.

Forman, R.T.T., and M. Godron. 1986. Landscape ecology. Wiley and Sons. New York.

Franklin, J.F. 1993. Preserving biodiversity: species, ecosystems, or landscapes. Ecological Applications 3 (2): 202-205.

Franzreb, K.E. 1977. Bird population changes after timber harvesting of a mixed conifer forest in Arizona. USDA Forest Service. Research Paper RM-184. 26pp.

Freemark, K.E., and H.G. Merriam. 1986. Importance of area and habitat heterogeneity to bird assemblages in temperate forest fragments. Biological Conservation 36: 115-141.

Freemark, K.E., J.R. Probst, J.B. Dunning, and S.J. Hejl. 1992. Adding a landscape perspective to conservation and management planning. In D.M. Finch and P.W.A. Stangel editors: Status and management of neotropical migratory birds. USDA Forest Service, General Technical Report- RM 229.

Freemark, K.E., J.R. Probst, J.B. Dunning, and S.J. Hejl. 1995. A landscape ecology perspective for research, conservation, and management. In T.E. Martin and D.M. Finch (editors). Ecology and management of neotropical migratory birds. Oxford University Press, New York.

A NetWorkships

Frelich, L.E., and C.G. Lorimer. 1991. Natural disturbance regimes in hemlock-hardwood forests of the Upper Great Lakes region. Ecological Monographs 61 (2):145-164.

Gates, J.E., and L.W. Gysel. 1978. Avian nest dispersion and fledgling success in field-forest ecotones. Ecology 59: 871-883.

Gentry, A.H. 1996. Species expirations and current extinction rates: a review of the evidence. Pages 17-26 in R.C. Szaro, and D.W. Johnson (editors). Biodiversity in managed landscapes. Oxford University Press. New York. 778pp.

Godfrey, W.E. 1986. The birds of Canada. Natural Museum of Natural Sciences. National Museums of Canada

Godron, M., and R.T.T. Forman. 1983. Landscape modification and changing ecological characteristics. pages 12-28 in Mooney H.A., and M. Godron (editors). Disturbance and ecosystems components of response. Ecological Studies 44. Springer Verlag. New York.

Golley, F.B. 1989. A proper scale; editor's comment. Landscape Ecology 2 (2): 71-72.

Graham, S.A. 1941. Climax forests of the Upper Peninsula of Michigan. Ecology 22(4):355-362.

Grumbine, R.E. 1990. Protecting biological diversity through the greater ecosystem concept. Natural Areas J. 10:114-120.

Grumbine, R.E. 1994. What is ecosystem management? Conserv. Biol. 8:27-38.

Gutzwiller, K.J., and S.H. Anderson. 1987. Multiscale associations between cavitynesting birds and features of Wyoming streamside woodlands. The Condor 89:534-548.

Haila, Y. 1986. North European landbirds in forest fragments: evidence for area effects. Pp 315-319 in J. Verner, M.L. Morrison and C.J. Ralph (editors). Wildlife 2000;

modeling habitat relationships of terrestrial vertebrates. The University of Wisconsin Press. Madison, Wisconsin.

Hamady, M. 1983. Bird communities along a forest maturity gradient of northern hardwoods in Upper Michigan. Unpublished M.S. thesis. Colorado State University. 144pp.

Hansen, A.J., and D.L. Urban. 1992. Avian response to landscape pattern: The role of species' life histories. Landscape Ecology 7(3): 163-180.

Harris, L. D., and G. Silva-Lopez. 1992. Forest fragmentation and the conservation of biological diversity. Pages 197-237 in P.L. Fiedler, and S.K. Jain (editors). Conservation biology the theory and practice of nature conservation and management. Chapman and Hall, New York. 507pp.

Harrison, H.H. 1975. A field guide to bird's nests in the United States east of the Mississippi River. Houghton Mifflin Company. Boston. 257pp.

Harper, J. 1992. Foreword. Pages xii to xviii in P.L. Fiedler and S.K. Jain (editors). Conservation biology the theory and practice of nature conservation preservation and management. Chapman and Hall. New York. 507pp.

Hart, J.H. 1990. Nothing is permanent except change. Pages 2-17 in J.M. Sweeney (editor). Management of dynamic ecosystems. Proc. 51st Midwest Fish and Wildlife Conference. Springfield, Illinois. 180pp.

Haufler, J.B. 1990. Static management of forest ecosystems. Pages 124-130 in J.M. Sweeney (editor). Management of dynamic ecosystems. Proc. 51st Midwest Fish and Wildlife Conference. Springfield, Illinois. 180pp.

Heinselman, M.L. 1973. Fire in the virgin forests of the Boundary Water Canoe Area, Minnesota. Quaternary Research 3: 329-382.

Hilden, O. 1965. Habitat selection in birds. Ann. Zool. Fennica 2:53-75.

Hill N.P., and J.M. Hagan. 1991. Population trends of some northeastern north American landbirds: a half century of data. Wilson Bulletin 103 (2): 165-338.

Holmes, R.T. and S. Robinson. 1981. Tree species preferences of foraging insectivorous birds in a northern hardwoods forest. Oecologia 48:31-35.

Holmes, R.T., and T.W. Sherry. 1985. Assessing population trends of New Hampshire forest birds: local vs regional patterns. Auk 105: 786-768.

Hutto, R.L., S. Reel, and P.B. Landers. 1987. A critical evaluation of the species approach to biological conservation. End. Sp. Update 4 (12): 1-4.

Irland, L.C. 1982. Wildlands and woodlots: the story of New England's forests. University Press of New England. Hanover, New Hampshire. 217 pp.

James, F.C. 1971. Ordination of habitat relationships among breeding birds. Wilson Bulletin 83: 215-236.

James F.C., and C.E. McCulloch. 1995. The strength of inferences about causes of trends in populations. Pages 40-51 in T.E. Martin, and D.B. Finch (editors). Ecology and management of neotropical migratory birds: a synthesis and review of critical issues. Oxford University Press. New York.

Karr, J.R. 1982. Avian extinction on Barro Colorado Island, Panama: a reassessment. Amer. Natur. 119:220-239.

Kepler, C.B., and J.M. Scott. 1981. Reducing bird count variability by training observers. Pages 366-371 in C.J. Ralph and J.M. Scott (editors). Estimating numbers of terrestrial birds; Studies in Avian Biology No 6. Allen Press. Lawrence. Kansas. 630pp.

Koford, R.R., J. B. Dunning JR., C.A. Ribic, and D.M. Finch. 1994. A glossary for avian conservation biology. Wilson Bull. 106 (1): 121-137.

Kotliar, N.B., and J.A. Wiens. 1990. Multiple scales of patchiness and patch structure: a hierarchical framework for the study of heterogeneity. Oikos 59:253-260.

Krummel, J.R., R.H. Gerdner, G. Sugihara, R.V. O'Neill, and P.R. Coleman. 1987. Landscape patterns in a disturbed environment. Oikos 48: 321-324.

Laake, J. L., S.T. Buckland, D.R. Anderson, and K.P. Burnham. 1994. DISTANCE User's Guide. Version 2.1. Colorado Cooperative Fish and Wildlife Research Unit Colorado State University, Fort Collins, CO.84 pp.

Large, E.T. 1993. Implementation of an ecosystem approach to endangered species conservation. U.S. Endangered species Tech Rep. Bull. 10: 3-6.

Lord, J.M., and D.A. Norton. 1990. Scale and the spatial concept of fragmentation. Conserv. Biol. 4: 197-202.

Lorimer, C.G. 1977. The presettlement forest and natural disturbance cycle of northeastern Maine. Ecology 58:139-148.

Lavage, T.E. 1979. Foreword. Pages ix-x in M.E. Soulé and B. A. Wilcox (editors). Conservation biology-an evolutionary-ecological perspective. Sinauer Associates, Inc. Sunderland, Massachusetts. 395pp.

Lynch, J.F., and R.F. Whitcomb. 1978. Effects of the insularization of the eastern deciduous forest on avifaunal diversity and turnover. Pages 461-490 in A. Marmelstein

(editor). Classification, inventory, and analysis of fish and wildlife habitat. FWS/OBS-78-76. U.S. Department of the Interior, Fish and Wildlife Service, Office of Biological Services, Washington D.C.

Lynch J.F., and D.F. Whigham. 1984. Effect of forest fragmentation on breeding bird communities in Maryland, USA. Biological Conservation 28: 287-324.

MacArthur, R.H. and E.O. Wilson. 1967. The theory of island biogeography. Princeton Univ. Press. Princeton N.J.

MacArthur, R.H. 1958. Population ecology of some warblers of northeastern coniferous forests. Ecology 39: 599-619.

Marcot, B.G., and D.D. Murphy. 1996. Population viability analysis and management. Pages 58-76 in R. Szaro, editor. Biodiversity in managed landscapes: Theory and Practice. Proceedings of a conference 13-17 July. Sacramento, CA. Oxford University Press. New York 778pp.

Martin T.E., and D.M. Finch. 1995. Introduction: importance of knowledge and its application in neotropical migratory birds. Pages XIII - XV in T.E. Martin and D.B. Finch, (editors). Ecology and management of neotropical migratory birds: a synthesis and review of critical issues. Oxford University Press. New York.

McCann, M.T. 1991. Land, climate and vegetation of Michigan. Pages 15-31 in R. Brewer, G.A. McPeek and R.J. Adams (editors). The atlas of breeding birds of Michigan. Michigan State University Press. East Lansing. 594pp.

Meentemeyer V. and E.O. Box. 1987. Scale effects in landscape studies. Pages 15-34 in M.G. Turner (editor). Landscape heterogeneity and disturbance. Ecological Studies 64. Springer-Verlag. New York. 239pp.

Meffe, G.K. 1996. Conserving genetic diversity in natural systems. Pages 41-57 in R.C. Szaro and D. W. Johnston (editors). Biodiversity in managed landscapes theory and practice. Oxford University Press. New York. 778pp

Milne, B.T. 1991. Heterogeneity as a multiscale characteristic of landscapes. Pages 69-84 in J. Kolasa, and S.T.A. Pickett (editors). Ecological Heterogeneity. Springer-Verlag. New York.

Miller, S.G., S.P. Bratton, and J. Hadidian. 1992. Impacts of white-tailed deer on endangered and threatened vascular plants. Natural Areas Journal 12 (2): 67-74.

Mladenoff, D.J., and F. Stearns. 1993. Eastern hemlock regeneration and deer browsing in the northern Great Lakes Region: A re-examination and model simulation. Conservation Biology 7: 889-900. Mladenoff, D.J., M.A. White, J. Pastor, and T. R. Crow. 1993. Comparing spatial pattern in unaltered old-growth and disturbed forest landscapes. Ecological Applications 3 (2): 294-306.

Mladenoff, D. J. 1995. The role of eastern hemlock across scales in the northern lake states. Pages 29-42 in G. Mroz, and J. Martin (editors). Hemlock ecology and management. Proceedings of a regional conference on ecology and management of eastern hemlock held in Iron Mountain, Michigan Sept 27-28, 1995. Published by the Department of Forestry, University of Wisconsin, Madison.

Mooney, H.A. and M. Godron (editors). 1983. Disturbance and ecosystems; components of response. Ecological Studies 44. Springer Verlag. New York. 292pp.

Morrison, M.L., R.W. Mannan, and G.L. Dorsey. 1981. Effects of number of circular plots on estimates of avian density and species richness. Pages 405-408 in C.J. Ralph, and J.M. Scott, editors. Estimating numbers of terrestrial birds. Studies in Avian Biology No 6. Allen Press. Lawrence, Kansas. 630pp.

Morse, D.H. 1976. Variables affecting the density and territory size of breeding sprucewoods warblers. Ecology 57: 290-301.

National Fish and Wildlife Foundation 1993. 1993 Annual Report. NFWF 4 (1). 87pp.

National Fish and Wildlife Foundation 1994. Neotropical migratory bird conservation initiative. Washington D.C.

Naveh, Z. and A. Lieberman. 1994. Landscape ecology, theory and application. Second edition. Springer Verlag. New York

Nichols, G.E. 1935. The hemlock-white pine-northern hardwood region of North America. Ecology 16 (3): 403-422.

Niemi, G.J., and J.R. Probst. 1990. Wildlife and fire in the Upper Midwest. Pages 32-46 in J.M. Sweeney (editor). Management of dynamic ecosystems. Proceedings of a symposium held at the 51st Midwest Fish and Wildlife Conference, Springfield, Illinois. 180pp.

Niles, L.J. 1992. Protection of neotropical migrants as major focus of wildlife management. Pages 392-395 in D. M. Finch and P. W. Stangel (editors). Status and management of neotropical migratory birds. USDA- Forest Service, General Technical Report RM-229.

Noon, B.R., V. P. Bingman, and J.P. Noon. 1979. The effects of changes in habitat on northern hardwood forest bird communities. Pages 33-48 in R.M. DeGraaf, and K. E. Evans (editors). Management of North Central and Northeastern forests for nongame birds. USDA Forest Service. GTR NC-51. Minneapolis, MN. 268pp.

Noon, B.R., D.K. Dawson, D.B. Inkley, C.S. Robbins, and S.H. Anderson. 1980. Consistency in habitat preference of forest bird species. Transactions of the North American Wildlife Conference 45: 226-244.

Noss, R.F. 1983. A regional landscape approach to maintain diversity. BioScience 33: 700-706.

Noss, R.F. 1987. From plant communities to landscapes in conservation inventories: a look at The Nature Conservancy (USA). Biol. Conserv. 41:11-37.

Noss, R.F. 1992. Issues of scale in conservation biology. Pages 240-250 in P.L. Fiedler, and S.K. Jain (editors). Conservation biology the theory and practice of nature conservation and management. Chapman and Hall. New York.

Ohmann, L.F. 1979. Northeastern and North Central forest types and their management. Pages 22-31 in R.M. DeGraaf and K. E. Evans (editors). Management of North Central and Northeastern forests for nongame birds. USDA Forest Service. GTR NC-51. Minneapolis, MN. 268pp.

Opdam P. 1991. Metapopulation theory and habitat fragmentation: a review of holarctic breeding bird studies. Landscape Ecology 5 (2): 93-106.

Pastor, J., and M. Brochart. 1990. The spatial pattern of a northern hardwood -conifer landscape. Landscape Ecology 4: 55-68.

Pastor, J. and D.J. Mladenoff. 1992. The southern boreal-northern hardwood forest. Pages 216-240 in Shugart H.H., R. Leemans, and G. B. Bonan (editors). A systems analysis of the global boreal forest. Cambridge University Press. 565p.

Pearson, T.G. 1936. Birds of America. Doubleday and Company, Inc.Garden City, New York. 289pp.

Pearson, S.M., M.G. Turner, R.H. Gardner, and R.V. O'Neill. 1996. An organism-based perspective of habitat fragmentation. Pages 76-93 in R.C. Szaro and D.W. Johnson (editors). Biodiversity in managed landscapes. Oxford University Press. New York. 778pp.

Peterjohn, B.C., J. Sauer, and C.S. Robbins. 1995. Population trends from the North American Bird Survey. Pages 3-39 in T.E. Martin and D.B. Finch (editors). Ecology and management of neotropical migratory birds: a synthesis and review of critical issues. Oxford University Press. New York.

Peterson, R.T. 1980. A field guide to the birds of Eastern and Central North America. Houghton Mifflin Company. Boston.

Petit, L.J., D.R. Petit, and T.E. Martin. 1995. Landscape-level management of migratory birds: looking past the trees to see the forest. Wildlife Society Bulletin 23 (4): 420-429.

Pickett, S.T. A., and P. S. White. 1985. Patch dynamics: a synthesis, pages 371-384 in Pickett, S.T. A., and P. S. White (editors). The ecology of natural disturbance and patch dynamics. Academic Press, New York.

Pickett, S.T. A., V. T. Parker and P.L. Fiedler. 1992. The new paradigm in ecology: implications for conservation biology above the species level. Pages 66-88 in P.L. Fiedler and S.K. Jain (editors). Conservation biology the theory and practice of nature conservation and management. Chapman and Hall. New York.

Pielou, E.C. 1991. After the ice age, the return of life to glaciated North America. The University of Chicago Press. Chicago. 366pp.

Pregitzer, K.S. 1981. Relationships among physiography, soils and vegetation in the McCormick Experimental Forest, Upper Michigan. Ph.D. Dissertation, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI.

Pregitzer, K.S., and B.V. Barnes. 1982. The use of ground flora to indicate edaphic factors in upland ecosystems of the McCormick Experiment Forest, Upper Michigan. Can. J. For. Res. 12 (3): 661-672.

Pregitzer, K.S., and B.V. Barnes. 1984. Classification and comparison of upland hardwood and conifer ecosystems of the Cyrus H. McCormick Experimental Forest, Upper Michigan. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 14 (3): 362-375.

Probst, J.R., and T.R. Crow. 1991. Integrating biological diversity and resource management. Journal of forestry 89:12-17.

Probst, J.R., D.S. Rakstad, and D. J. Rug. 1992. Breeding bird communities in regenerating and mature broadleaf forests in the USA Lake States. Forest ecology and management 49: 43-60.

Probst, J.R., and F.R. Thompson. 1994. A comprehensive, regional strategy for integrating wildlife and timber management into ecosystem management. 56th Midwest Fish and Wildlife Conference. Indianapolis, IN.

Pulliam, H.R. 1988. Sources, sinks, and population regulation. Am. Nat. 132 (5): 652-661.

Ralph, C. J., and J. M. Scott (editors). 1981. Estimating numbers of terrestrial birds. Studies in Avian Biology No. 6. Cooper Ornithological Society. Allen Press. Lawrence, Kansas. 630pp.

Ralph, C.J., G.R. Geupel, and P. Pyle. 1991. Handbook for population monitoring of landbirds (Draft). U.S.D.A. Forest Service, Redwood Sciences laboratory. Arcata, CA.

Reiners, W.A. 1983. Disturbance and basic properties of ecosystem energetics. Pages 83-98 in H.A. Mooney and M.Godron (editors). Disturbance and ecosystems, components of response. Springer-Verlag, New York. 292 pp.

Reinoehl, J. 1991. American redstart (*Setophaga uticilla*) pp 428 in R. Brewer, and G.A. McPeak, and R.J. Adams: the atlas of breeding birds of Michigan. Michigan State University Press. East Lansing, Michigan.

Reynolds, R.T., J.M. Scott, and R.A. Nussbaum. 1980. A variable- circular plot method for estimating bird numbers. Condor 82: 309-313.

Riddle, B.R., and K.B. Jones. 1996. Relating phylogeographic population structure to issues in conservation biology. Pages 108-109 in R.C. Szaro, and D.W. Johnston (editors). Biodiversity in managed landscapes; theory and practice. Oxford University Press. New York.

Risser, P.G. 1985. Toward a holistic management perspective. BioSci. 35: 414-418.

Robbins, C.S. 1979. Effect of forest fragmentation on bird populations. In Degraaf and Evans, editors: Management of northcentral and northeastern forests for nongame species. USDA. Forest Service. GTR NC-51.

Robbins, C.S., D. Bystrak, and P.H. Geissler. 1986. The Breeding Bird Survey: its first fifteen years, 1965-1979. U.S. Fish Wildl. Serv., Resour. Pub.. 157. 196 pp.

Robbins, C.S., J.R. Sauer, R. Greenberg, and S. Droege. 1989a. Population declines in North American birds that migrate to the Neotropics. Proc. Nat. Acad. of Sci. 86: 7658-7662.

Robbins, C.S., Dawson D.K., and B.A. Dowell. 1989b. Habitat-area requirements of breeding forest birds of the Middle Atlantic States. Wildlife Monograph 103. Washington D.C. The Wildlife Society.

Robinson, S.K. 1988. Reappraisal of the costs and benefits of habitat heterogeneity for nongame wildlife. Trans. 53rd N.A. Wildl. and Nat. Res. Conf.

Robinson, S.K. 1992. Population dynamics of breeding Neotropical migrants in a fragmented Illinois landscape. Pages 408-418 in J.M. Hagan III and D.W. Johnston (editors). Ecology and conservation of Neotropical migrant landbirds. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington, DC.

Rosenberg, K.V., and M.G. Raphael. 1986. Effects of forest fragmentation on vertebrates in Douglas-fir forests. Pages 263-272 in J.Verner, M.L. Morrison and C.J. Ralph.

(editors). Wildlife 2000, modeling habitat relationships of terrestrial vertebrates. The University of Wisconsin Press. Madison, Wisconsin.

Roth, R.R. 1976. Spatial heterogeneity and bird species diversity. Ecology 57: 773-782.

Rotenberry, J. T., and J.A. Wiens. 1980. Habitat structure, patchiness, and avian communities in North American steppe vegetation: a multivariate analysis. Ecology 61:1228-1250.

Runkle, J.R. 1982. Patterns of disturbance in some old-growth forests of eastern North America. Ecology 63(5): 1533-1546.

Ruggiero, L.F., G.D. Hayward, and J. R. Squires. 1994. Viability analysis in biological evaluations: concepts of population viability analysis, biological population, and ecological scale. Conservation Biology 8 (2): 364-372.

Samson, F.B. 1992. Conserving biological diversity in sustainable ecological systems. Trans. 57th N.A. Wildl. & Nat. Res. Conf. (308-320).

Sauer, J.R., and S. Droege. 1990. Survey designs and statistical methods for the estimation of avian population trends. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Biological Report 90 (1). Patuxent Wildlife Research Center and Office of Migratory Bird Management. Laurel, Maryland. 166pp.

Schoener, T.W. 1966. Sizes of feeding territories among birds. Ecology 49 (1): 123-141.

Scott, J.M., F. Davis, B. Csuti, R. Noss, B. Butterfield, C. Groves, H. Anderson, S. Caicco, F. D'erchia, T.C. Edwards, Jr., J. Ulliman, and R.G. Wright. 1993. Gap analysis: a geographic approach to protection of biological diversity. Wildlife Monographs. No 123. 41pp.

Senner, S.E. 1988. Saving birds while they are still common. U.S. Endangered species Tech Rep. Bull. 5(6):1-4.

Small, M.F., and M.L. Hunter. 1988. Forest fragmentation and avian nest predation in forested landscapes. Oecologia 76: 62-64.

Smith, K.G. 1977. Distribution of summer birds along a forest moisture gradient in an Ozark watershed. Ecology 58; 810-819.

Simpson, T.B., P.E. Stuart, and B.V. Barnes. 1989. Cover types at the Huron Mountain Club, Marquette County, Michigan. Huron Mountain Wildlife Foundation, Big Bay, Michigan.

Simpson, T.B., P.E. Stuart, and B.V. Barnes. 1990. Landscape ecosystems and cover types of the reserve area and adjacent lands of the Huron Mountain Club. Occasional Papers of the Huron Mountain Wildlife Foundation No 4.

Spies, T.A., and B.V. Barnes. 1985. A multi-factor ecological classification of the northern hardwood and conifer ecosystems of Sylvania Recreation Area, Upper Peninsula, Michigan. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 15: 949-960.

Soulé. M.E. 1991. Conservation: tactics for a constant crisis. Science 253: 744-50.

Stanley, T. R. Jr. 1994. Ecosystem management and the arrogance of humanism. Conservation biology 9(2): 255-262.

Stearns, F. 1990. Forest history and management in the northern Midwest. Pages 109-122 in J.M. Sweeney. Management of dynamic ecosystems. Proc. 51st Midwest Fish and Wildlife Conference. Springfield, Illinois. 180pp. Steele, B.J. 1992. Habitat selection by breeding black-throated blue warblers at two spatial scales. Ornis Scandinavica 23:33-42.

Swanson, F.J., T.K. Kratz, N. Cain, and R.G. Woodman see. 1988. Landform effects on ecosystem patterns and processes. Bioscience 38 (2): 92-98.

Tansley, A.G. 1935. The use and abuse of vegetational concepts and terms. Ecology, 16, 284-307.

Temple, S.A., M.J. Mossman, and B. Ambuel. 1979. The ecology and management of avian communities in mixed hardwood-coniferous forest. Pages 132-151 in R.M. DeGraaf and K. E. Evans (editors). Management of North Central and Northeastern forests for nongame birds. USDA Forest Service. GTR NC-51. Minneapolis, MN. 268pp.

Terborgh, J.W. 1992. Why American songbirds have vanished. Scientific American. May 1992.

Terborgh, J.W. 1989. Where have all the birds gone? Princeton University Press. Princeton, N.J.

Tubbs, C.H. 1977. Manager's handbook for northern hardwoods in the north-central States. USDA- Forest Service. GTR NC-39. St. Paul. MN.

Tubbs, C.H., and R.M. Goodman. 1983. North Central types. Pages 55-66 in USDA-Forest Service: Silvicultural systems for the major forest types of the United States. USDA, Agricultural Handbook N^o 445.

Turner, M.G. 1989. Landscape ecology: the effect of pattern on process. Annu. Rev.Ecol. Syst. 20: 171-197.

Turner, M.G. (editor). 1987. Landscape heterogeneity and disturbance. Ecological studies 64. Springer-Verlag. New York. 239pp.

Tyrrell, L.E. and T.R. Crow. 1993. Analysis of structural characteristics of old-growth hemlock-hardwood forests along a temporal gradient. Pages 237-246 in J.F. Farlich, R.P. McIntosh, O.L. Loucks (editors). J.T. Curtis- 50 years of Wisconsin plants. Wisconsin Academy of Sciences, Arts and Letters. 339pp.

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. 1994. Defining our future: an ecosystem approach to fish and wildlife conservation. Fish and Wildlife News. April, 2-3.

U.S.D.A. Forest Service. 1993. National Hierarchical Framework of Ecological Units. Ecomap, USDA Forest Service, Washington, D.C. 20pp.

U.S.D.A. Forest Service. 1986. Hiawatha National Forest Plan. Escanaba, MI.

Webb, W.L., R.T. King, and E.F. Patrick. 1956. Effect of white-tailed deer on a mature northern hardwood forest. Journal of forestry 54: 391-398.

Whitcomb R.F., C.S. Robbins, J.F. Lynch, B.L. Whitcomb, M.K. Klimkiewicz, and D. Bystrak. 1981. Effects of forest fragmentation on avifauna of the eastern deciduous forest. Pages 125-205 in R.L. Burgess, and D.M. Sharpe (editors). Forest island dynamics in man-dominated landscapes. Springer-Verlag. New York.

Whitcomb, B.L., R.F. Whitcomb, and D. Bystrak. 1977. Island biogeography and habitat islands of eastern forest. III. Long-term turnover and effects of selective logging on the avifauna of forest fragments. American Birds 31: 17-23.

White, M.A., and D.J. Mladenoff. 1994. Old-growth forest landscape transitions from pre-European settlement to present. Landscape Ecology 9(3):191-205.

Whitney, G.G., 1987. An ecological history of the Great Lakes forest of Michigan. J. Ecol. 75:667-684.

Whitney, G.G., and W.J., Somerlot. 1985. A case study of woodland continuity and change in the American Midwest. Ecol. Conserv. 31:265-287.

Whitmore, R.C. 1977. Habitat partitioning in a community of passerine birds. Wilson Bull. 89 (2):253-265.

Wiens, J.A. 1989. Spatial scaling in ecology. Functional Ecology 3: 385-397.

Wiens, J.A., J.F. Addicott, T.J. Case, and J. Diamond. 1986a. Overview: the importance of spatial and temporal scale in ecological investigations. Pages 145-153 in J. Diamond and T.J. Case (Editors). Community ecology. Harper and Row. New York.
Wiens, J.A., J.T. Rotenberry, and B. Van Horne. 1986b. Habitat occupancy patterns of North American shrubsteppe birds: the effects of spatial scale.-Oikos 48:132-147.

Wiens, J.A. 1981. Scale problems in avian censusing. Pages 513-521 in C.J. Ralph, and J. Michael Scott (editors): Estimating numbers of terrestrial birds. Studies in Avian Biology No. 6. Cooper Ornithological Society

Wiens, J.A., and J.T. Rotenberry. 1981. Avian habitat occupancy. Pages 522-532 in C.J. Ralph, and J. Michael Scott (editors): Estimating numbers of terrestrial birds. Studies in Avian Biology No. 6. Allen Press. Lawrence, Kansas.

Wiens, J.A. 1976. Population responses to patchy environments. Ann. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 7: 81-120.

Wienstein, D.A., and H.H. Shugart. 1983. Ecological modeling of landscape dynamics. Pages 29-45 in H.A. Mooney, and M. Godron (editors): disturbance and ecosystems. Ecological Studies 44. Springer- Verlag. New York. 292pp.

Wilcove, D.S., and R.F. Whitcomb. 1983. Gone with the trees. Natural History 92: 82-91.

Wilcove, D. 1985. Nest predation in forest tracts and the decline of migratory songbirds. Ecology 66: 1211-1214.

Wilcove, D. 1987. From fragmentation to extinction. Natural Areas Journal 7 (1): 29

Wilcove, D.S. 1988. Forest fragmentation as a wildlife issue in the eastern United States. Pages 1-5 in R.M. DeGraaf and W.M. Healy (editors). Is Fragmentation a management issue in the Northeast?. USDA-Forest Service, General Technical Report NE-140.

Wilcox, B.A. and D.D. Murphy. 1985. Conservation strategy: the effects of fragmentation on extinction. American Naturalist 125: 879-887.

Wilson, E.O. 1988. The current state of biological diversity. Pages 3-18 in E.O. Wilson (editor). Biodiversity. National Academy Press. Washington DC.

Wilson, E.O. 1992. The diversity of life. Belknap Press. Harvard University. Cambridge, MA. 429pp.

Van Deelen, T. R. 1995. Seasonal migrations and mortality of white-tailed deer in Michigan's Upper Peninsula. Unpublished Ph.D. dissertation. Michigan State University. East Lansing.

Van Horn, B. 1983. Density as a misleading indicator of habitat quality. J. Wildl. Manag. 47: 893-901.

Yahner, R.H., and D.P. Scott. 1988. Effects of forest fragmentation on depredation of artificial nests. Journal of Wildlife Management 52: 158-161.